# A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY ON THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF CREATOR-PRACTITIONERS OF OPEN EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES AND PRACTICES IN THE UNITED STATES

by

Alex Henry Wanstrath

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2023

# A PHENOMENOLOGICAL STUDY ON THE LIVED EXPERIENCES OF CREATOR-PRACTITIONERS OF OPEN EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES AND PRACTICES IN THE UNITED STATES

by Alex Henry Wanstrath

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2023

APPROVED BY:

Susan Stanley, Ed.D., Committee Chair

Matthew Ozolnieks, Ed.D., Committee Member

#### Abstract

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to describe the lived experience of creator-practitioners of open educational resources (OER) and open educational practices (OEP) in United States (U.S.) higher education institutions. The theory guiding this study is Vygotsky and Bruner's constructivist theories, as they describe both the cognitive and social aspects of content creation. Eleven current instructors from colleges and universities across the U.S. participated in this study. These participants had used OER for at least one academic term, were current instructors at their institution, created their own OER, and engaged in OEP in at least one of their courses. This study followed a hermeneutical phenomenological research design, collecting qualitative data through journal entries, artifact analysis, and semi-structured interviews. The journal entries and semi-structured interviews were analyzed through van Manen's (2014) data analysis framework and the artifacts were analyzed through Cox and Trotter's (2017) OER Adoption Pyramid. The three themes that were revealed were the participants' desires for (a) improvement of the student experience, (b) improvement of the creator-practitioner's craft, and (c) community and contributions. The findings of this study include the alignment and emphasis of the learner-centered approach that creator-practitioners implement, the paradigm shift of power and control pertaining to the roles of instructors and learners, and the importance of cooperation between creator-practitioners and other stakeholders.

*Keywords:* open education, open educational resources, open educational practices, higher education, pedagogy, learner-centered

Copyright © 2023, Alex Henry Wanstrath, Some Rights Reserved

In the spirit of open education, this dissertation is licensed under a Creative Commons

Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative 4.0 international license (<u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>).



#### Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my family and to the Open Education community. Without these critical elements, I would not have been inspired to create or have been able to complete this work. To my amazing wife, Lindsey, you have been the support and teammate I needed to complete this dream. During each difficult and critical part of this journey you kept me focused on the purpose of why I started this journey: to support, inspire, and spread the love and hope of education. I will never be able to fully thank you for this support. No one does this journey alone, and I could not have picked a better teammate to help in this journey than you. To my children, Mackenzie and Camden, this dissertation and work is inspired to make our world better for you and your future. I want to work to support Mac and Cam's world to be open, connected, engaging, and growth driven. I hope when they are old enough to view this work, that they can understand that they have inspired me to make a difference in our world. I love you both.

To the Open Education community, you have both welcomed and inspired me to do better and more ambitious work. Thank you to those who were willing to lend their time and expertise in official and unofficial capacities throughout my doctoral journey. In kind, I dedicate this work to the community to continue the research and work in Open Education. I hope the community takes this opportunity to engage, discuss, critique, and improve this work as one of the bricks that builds a stronger Open Education community of the future. I am excited to see where others can support this work and where I can return the favor and support others.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my Liberty University instructors who inspired me to continue to challenge and refine my understanding and application of instructional design, technology, and learning theory. I would like to acknowledge Dr. Mark Beadle who began this dissertation journey with me. His guidance, challenge, and encouragement elevated my dissertation goals from mundane to purposeful. I would like to acknowledge Dr. Susan Stanley and Dr. Matthew Ozolnieks who were instrumental in guiding and mentoring me to the finish of this dissertation. I appreciate all three of you and your hard work in helping me create a work of which I am extremely proud.

I would like to acknowledge the people of the Open Education communities, who generously opened their work, their expertise, and their networks to me. I have had the opportunity to connect with over 100 individuals in various capacities from across the globe, each graciously giving me their time. I was welcomed into groups, message boards, calls, and discussions that were inspiring, informative, and exciting. Your kindness has inspired me to share my own work, build relationships, and seek new opportunities to be involved in the Open Education community.

I would also like to acknowledge my professional teaching colleagues who pushed me to be my best as an educator. Thank you to my teammates in the Social Studies department at Loveland High School, who challenged me, collaborated with me, and lent their expertise to help me grow and create better experiences for our students. To those many educators who served on committees and teams with me throughout my decade as a public school educator, thank you for pushing me to keep growing professional and personally. Your professional encouragement continues to inspire me to engage in challenging and valuable work.

### **Table of Contents**

Abstract
Dedication5
Acknowledgments
List of Tables11
List of Abbreviations12
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION13
Overview
Background14
Historical Context
Social Context
Theoretical Context
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Significance of the Study
Research Questions
Central Research Question
Sub-Question One
Sub-Question Two
Sub-Question Three
Sub-Question Four
Definitions
Summary

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Overview	
Theoretical Framework	
Related Literature	
Summary	
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	58
Overview	
Research Design	
Research Questions	
Central Research Question	
Sub-Question One	
Sub-Question Two	
Sub-Question Three	
Sub-Question Four	
Setting and Participants	
Setting	
Participants	
Researcher Positionality	
Interpretive Framework	
Philosophical Assumptions	
Researcher's Role	
Procedures	
Permissions	

Recruitment Plan	
Data Collection Plan	71
Journal Prompts	71
Artifact Analysis	
Semi-Structured Interviews	74
Data Synthesis	
Trustworthiness	
Credibility	
Transferability	
Dependability	
Confirmability	
Ethical Considerations	
Summary	
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	
Overview	
Participants	
Participant Profiles	
Results	
Improvement of the Student Experience	
Improvement of the Creator-Practitioner Craft	
Community and Contributions	
Outlier Data and Findings	
Research Question Responses	

Central Research Question	
Sub-Question One	
Sub-Question Two	
Sub-Question Three	
Sub-Question Four	
Summary	
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	
Overview	
Discussion	
Interpretation of Findings	
Implications for Practice and Policy	
Theoretical and Empirical Implications	
Limitations and Delimitations	
Recommendations for Future Research	
Conclusion	
References	
Appendix A	159
Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval	
Appendix B	161
Consent Form	
Appendix C	164
Journal Prompts	

Table 1. Creator-Practitioner Participants	91
Table 2. Creator-Practitioner Use of Higher-Level Engagement Examples	109

### List of Abbreviations

Open Educational Resources (OER)

Open Educational Practices (OEP)

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to describe the lived experience of creator-practitioners of open educational resources (OER) and open educational practices (OEP) in United States (U.S.) higher education institutions. The lived experience description of the use of OER and OEP used by creator-practitioners in U.S. higher education institutions was identified as a current gap in the broader OER and OEP research. Despite the growth of awareness of OER in U.S. higher education over time (Seaman & Seaman, 2022), few educators are adopting and using the principles and pedagogy championed by OER and OEP. Despite identified cultural and institutional challenges and barriers (Lantrip & Ray, 2020; Werth & Williams, 2021), these creator-practitioners have persisted and decidedly taken actionable steps to evolve from awareness to use. This introductory chapter serves as the contextual setup for this study, including background and critical information to provide a broader scope of understanding of the still evolving landscape of OER and OEP in U.S. higher education. The purposeful historical, social, and theoretical contextual background for OER and OEP in U.S. higher education serve as the major categories to examine the background for this study.

After the background of this study is examined, both the problem and purpose statements of this study are reviewed. This first chapter further investigates the issue, purpose, and associated research questions of this study, providing a scope and focus to produce further research into OER and OEP. The justifications for the significance of the study and the research question are detailed following these sections. Next, this chapter concludes with a list of critical definitions provided to further the understanding of pertinent items of this study to the audience. The chapter ends with a summary to provide a pointed review of the information provided in this first chapter.

#### Background

Creator-practitioners are at least three decades in the making, emerging in the open education landscape at the crossroads of digital accessibility and pedagogical approach of the learner-centered environment. This background section brought the historical, social, and theoretical contexts to creator-practitioners, involving relevant information pulled from OER and OEP. First, the historical background examined an overview of the evolution of pedagogical approaches enhanced by technology overlapped onto the use of OER. This section detailed how creator-practitioners have evolved from a multitude of pedagogical backgrounds that were enhanced and empowered by contributory communities. Next, the social background examined the issues of availability, use, and cost in the OER realm and the contrasting pedagogical approaches of the learner-centered environment. Lastly, the theoretical background examined the foundational concepts that have both defined OER and OEP, as well as creating a wide distribution of pathways due to a lack of governance. This background was intended to provide an overview of the pertinent landscape of OER and OEP relevant to creator-practitioners, as research into this particular focus is still emerging.

#### **Historical Context**

The history of OER and OEP can be viewed as rooted in the growing access and desire for education in the second half of the 20th century. Educational access and opportunity across the globe emerged between 1950 and 1970, driving a desire to expand access to education and grow educational technology (Meyer et al., 1977). This period of growth in the U.S. would be greatly aided by educational technology, leading to the use of computer-assisted instruction in schools made possible by advances such as fiber optics (Gagne, 1985). New technology and innovations in training and educational design in the 1970s and early 1980s furthered constructivist ideas, experimenting with new ideas of instruction and breaking from the traditional molds of the teacher-centered environment (Reiser, 2001b). However, educational technology's effectiveness on student outcomes slowed and became stagnant in the 1980s and 1990s due to simple substitution of classroom technology as opposed to expansion of opportunity or expression. Emergent technologies as tools were increasingly available but continued to yield no significant difference in learning outcomes (Reeves & Oh, 2017). Technology was increasingly present in the physical spaces of schools and universities, but the lack of instructional creativity plagued its yet untapped potential to improve student learning (Reiser, 2001a). However, this general lack of innovation was not absolute, and the open movement began to emerge as an instructional- and tool-driven solution to the general apathetic state of technology use in education, but especially higher education, throughout the U.S.

The technology infrastructure present in schools and universities in the 1990s would lay the groundwork for the foundational delivery system of OER and OEP that would exponentially grow in the 21st century. The first major opportunity for the growth and use of OER came with the widespread use of the internet, allowing for a user-friendly infrastructure that is less costly than physical materials, as well as easily disseminated and reproduced (OECD, 2007). Former Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) president, Charles Vest, commented that MIT's answer to using the internet for education was to "use it to provide free access to the primary materials for virtually all our courses" (Vest, 2011, p. 213). MIT's application of the internet came in the form of their OpenCourseWare (OCW), which released open instructional materials and disrupted the classical norm of protected materials in higher education (Johnstone & Pouline, 2002). MIT's OCW was a legitimizing movement to allow other higher education institutions and organizations to pursue open education (Hilton, 2016). Several universities and organizations that included "open" materials would emerge, or dramatically increase their growth due to the legitimacy of the open format and movement that MIT established with its name and brand (Hilton, 2016). The expanded potential of the internet would see higher education launch or improve OCW from various universities, openly licensed textbooks, massively open online courses (MOOCs), and OER hosted in various formats (Bliss et al., 2013; Hilton, 2016; Kimmons, 2015; Wiley et al., 2014). Putting the open movement expansion into perspective by numbers, MIT's (2020) OCW Report noted that there are 2,550+ OCW courses and supplemental resources, 210 million individuals who have accessed OCW materials, and 1.3 billion page views since the OCW launch in 2002.

The internet provided the infrastructure needed for OER, but the definition, international recognition, and work of researchers, universities, and organizations propelled OER to grow. Trying to define the movement of freely accessible and distributed course content and resources that accelerated from the launch of MIT's OCW, the term *open educational resources* was first used in 2002 from UNESCO's Forum on the Impact of Open Courseware for Higher Education in Developing Countries (Hilton, 2016; Wiley et al., 2014). UNESCO defined these open educational resources as follows: "The open provision of educational resources, enabled by information and communication technologies, for consultation, use and adaptation by a community of users for non-commercial purposes" (UNESCO, 2002, p. 24). The continued global interest in developing and growing OER led to the Cape Town Open Education Declaration in 2007, which committed to expanding awareness and progress for educators and learners, OER, and open education policy (CTOED, 2008). The open movement continued to be

advocated in international circles, such as the 2009 Dakar Declaration on Open Educational Resources and the 2012 Paris Open Educational Resources Declaration, leading to the recent 2019 UNESCO Recommendations on OER (UNESCO, 2019b). These 2019 recommendations addressed five objectives of the expansion of access, awareness, and growth of educational technology seen in the 1950s to 1970s.

The growing international recognition of OER led to further awareness and use of OER in institutions of higher education in the U.S. Whereas some pathways to OER use can be seen in courseware, resources, commentary, and community exchange, the history of OER in higher education over the past 15 years has placed a major focus on open textbook initiatives (Grimaldi et al., 2019; Tlili et al., 2020). The consideration of cost-saving for students, especially due to cost barriers for course success, was a major driver in the open education movement in higher education (Bliss et al., 2013; Fischer et al., 2015; Wiley et al., 2014). In open textbook efficacy studies between 2002 and 2018, no significant learning deficits were reported in studies between open textbooks at zero cost and commercial textbooks at market prices (Hilton, 2016, 2020). The perceptions of higher education faculty of the use of OER continue to be reported as good or better than that of commercial textbooks (Jung et al., 2017; Seaman & Seaman, 2021). Despite reported perceptions as good or better than commercial textbooks for higher education faculty, there continue to be many faculty members in higher education in the U.S. who remain unfamiliar with OER (Spilovoy et al., 2020). Although studies have shown that zero cost textbooks can provide financial relief to college students (Fischer et al., 2017, 2020; Valentino & Hopkins, 2020), there is much research that continues to be needed to better understand the pedagogical impact of OER and OEP and the discrepancy between perception and implementation (Hilton et al., 2020; Kimmons, 2021; Spilovoy et al., 2020). The growth of OER

in U.S. higher education has been dependent upon its cost consideration, and although many open textbook repositories such as MERLOT, OpenStax, and OER Commons, as well as individual institution's own repositories, such as the University of Minnesota's Open Textbook Library, exist, there continues to be a need for instruction on how to use these OERs in a transformative pedagogical way.

Despite more research and implementation initiatives being needed to bridge the gap between perception and use of OEP, the result of growing international interest, efforts, and some initiatives have spurred real, practical change in U.S. higher education institutions. In the U.S., OER use has been growing in higher education, with the percentage of instructors using an OER as a required material in at least one course they teach growing between the 2015-2016 and 2019-20 academic years (Seaman & Seaman, 2021). In 2021, 24 states and the U.S. federal government had policies aimed at leveraging OER as a "solution to higher education challenge" (SPARC, 2021, p. 2). According to SPARC (2021), the U.S. Department of Education had approximately \$7 million available in OER-related grants in 2021, providing real opportunities for organizations and states to create and execute OER initiatives. However, sustainability remains an ever-present issue with OER (Tlili et al., 2020). How to continue to sustain those individuals, groups, and initiatives that curate, create, and adopt OER remains a looming issue for institutions of higher education in the U.S.

#### **Social Context**

The social context of OER and OEP may be generalized into two areas: collaboration and cost. The field of education has a history of change and evolution, and Littlejohn and Hood (2017) have commented that educators are both simultaneously teachers and learners. Brons (2017) described the relationship between mentor and mentee learner as a transfer of knowledge

that was freely given and for the benefit of the community. However, all rights reserved copyright has created barriers that Wiley and Hilton (2018) criticized, "If students learn by doing, and copyright makes it illegal to engage in certain kinds of doing without a license, then copyright necessarily functions to limit the ways in which students can learn" (p. 135). Blomgren (2018) commented that K-12 teachers are inherent collaborators, sharing lessons and what they can, especially for new teachers, as an informal collaborative community. Blomgren (2018) further acknowledged, "[Higher ed and K-12] have begun to acknowledge that open educational resources have the potential to revitalize and guide all levels of education toward substantially participatory and inclusive possibilities" (p. 65). The desire for inclusiveness has been and will continue to be a foundational element of education, and OER and OEP can be critical elements of that foundation.

Life-long learning is a journey that has been described by Bruner (1960) as a continuous spiral, by Wiley and Hilton (2018) as participatory, and by Reigeluth et al. (2017) as a masterapprentice co-educational journey. OER and OEP continue education's tradition of collaboration of change, evolution, and development free of some of the cost barriers that exist with all rights reserved copyright in K-12 (Blomgren, 2018) and in higher education (Littlejohn & Hood, 2017). Although a large emphasis has been placed on the cost-effectiveness of OER materials (Fischer et al., 2015), the benefit of OER and OEP exist in allowing users to participate in Wiley's 5 R's - retain, reuse, revise, remix, and redistribute (Wiley & Hilton, 2018). This study aims to further investigate the social and cultural context aspects of the understanding (or lack thereof) of the awareness, adoption, and use of OER and OEP in the classroom and what solutions may come to light to help combat these challenges.

#### **Theoretical Context**

OER is built around the notion of a collaborative, contributory community, where those who engage in the community benefit from the expertise of one another. OER aims to crowdsource and assist others in their community by lending their expertise (Wiley, 2010). This notion of shared progress follows Vygotsky's (1978) zone of proximal development (ZPD) concept, where each learner benefits from the skills of the others in the group to advance further in their learning process than they would have individually. Wiley's notion of renewable resources (Wiley & Hilton, 2018) is akin to Bruner's (1960) constructivist notion of the spiral curriculum, where students revisit, edit, and collaborate with instructors to continue improvement of concepts to further advance their journey to mastery. Wiley and Hilton (2018) further advocated that open licensing and the ability to use Wiley's 5 R's further allowed instructors and learners to engage in the content and resources in a way that is not allowed by all rights reserved copyright.

The engagement of OER and OEP is further supported by Sweller's (1988) notion of cognitive load. OEP is predicated on the engagement of content through various means of content manipulation and experimentation. Sweller's (1988) concept of the building of schema through problem-solving and discovery to mastery is built around struggle and the individual learner processing challenges effectively in order to build structures in their long-term memory. This challenge will further help the learner process similar concepts more quickly while continuing to build on their schema to mastery (Sweller, 1988). OER and OEP engage learners in diverse, unique situations, where learners can collaborate and engage in material that is "live" and unique, furthering their exposure, use, and curiosity of learning.

It is important to note that more research will need to be conducted when OER and OEP are implemented on a larger scale, but the connection to constructivist best practices can be made

more readily available through continued research and studies on the topic of OER and OEP. One aspect of this study is to provide guidance or solutions to challenges facing the awareness, adoption, and use of OER and OEP in the educational setting and to have research-based best practice connections to further the open education cause as a reputable solution.

#### **Problem Statement**

The problem is that there is no knowledge of the lived experiences of creatorpractitioners in creating and using OER and OEP in U.S. higher education (Atenas et al., 2019; Bodily et al., 2017; Cox & Trotter, 2017; Elder et al., 2020; Koseoglu et al., 2020; Marin et al., 2020; Martin & Kimmons, 2020; Tur et al., 2020; Werth & Williams, 2021). Seaman and Seaman (2022) showed that higher education faculty favored OER adoption and OEP use over the past decade; however, there is a reported discrepancy between faculty awareness of OER versus actual usage in the classroom, which is not present in the larger research body and thus begs further investigation. Researchers have identified some barriers and challenges as reasons for this gap, but the research continues to lack the lived experience of the creator-practitioners who persist to OER creation and OEP usage despite these identified challenges. Bodily et al. (2017) and Coleman-Prisco (2017) have shown that the time necessary to create OER, in addition to teaching and research responsibilities, was identified as an obstacle expressed by higher education faculty as a barrier to OER production and use. This barrier to creation is compounded by an identified lack of support from institutional administration, as well as challenges to traditional tenure track promotions around publishing practices (Martin & Kimmons, 2020; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019). While Seaman and Seaman (2021) identified lack of time and support as the most frequent reasons noted by higher education faculty, , over time, issues associated with the status of the copyright holder and who can distribute have also

created barriers for engaging in the creation of OER and use of OEP (Atenas et al., 2019; Cox & Trotter, 2017; Werth & Williams, 2021).

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of OER and OEP in U.S. higher education institutions. Individual practitioner-creators are faculty and/or support staff that create and implement OER and OEP in their individual roles in higher education in the U.S. Generally, OER may be defined as resources and materials that are openly licensed to be curated and adapted by other users (UNESCO, 2019; Wiley & Hilton, 2018), and OEP may be generally defined as learner-centered teaching and learning that occurs through the principles of OER (Joint Research Centre of the European Commission, through Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019; Wiley & Hilton, 2018).

#### Significance of the Study

This phenomenological study was significant to investigate the description of creatorpractitioners to gain insight into the emerging population that uses adaptable best practices to empower 21st-century learners in higher education in the United States. As emerging technologies and continual importance are levied on soft and hard skills in the 21st century (Partnership for 21st Century Learning, 2019), it is important to bring tools and resources to the classroom in order to develop students with transferable skills and processes. The significance of this study may be approached from an empirical perspective, a theoretical perspective, and a practical perspective, all of which are detailed in the following paragraph.

This phenomenological study was necessary to help further build the foundation of understanding of the open education movement from an empirical perspective. Studies that have examined OER and OEP have focused mainly on questions that do not show significant differences, and also lack a rigorous examination of both resources and pedagogy (Grimaldi et al., 2019; Kimmons, 2016). In their study, Grimaldi et al. (2019) described the state of OER research and called for further exploration of student learning, as large numbers of null effects do not provide benefits to student learning due to the lack of an actual intervention where textbooks were already available. This led to the conclusion that the question of whether OER impacts student learning is still unanswered. Hilton (2016) questioned the presupposition that textbooks are effective learning interventions when he commented, "Is this in fact the case? Does the amount of time or way students engage with the learning resource influence outcomes?" (pp. 587-588). Conclusions regarding the limitations of research designs in several studies that examined OER textbook efficacy (Fischer et al., 2015; Grimaldi et al., 2019; Hilton, 2016; Hodge et al., 2019) lead to Grimaldi et al.'s (2019) call for investigating OER's impact on student learning as an appropriate target of research. Because there is currently limited use of OER and OEP in K-16 classrooms in the U.S., it is difficult to ascertain the effect of OER and OEP on student learning, thus a gap exists in the current literature on this topic. This study aims to bridge, or at least partly bridge, that gap as a justification for the awareness, adoption, and use of OER and OEP in the educational classroom.

#### **Research Questions**

This phenomenological study included purposefully broad questions. These broad questions followed the social constructivist paradigm of allowing subjective, complex views of the phenomenon to be examined as least restrictive as possible to gather the full extent of the expressions of the participants (Creswell & Poth, 2018). As identified in the Significance of the Study section, a more pointed understanding of the phenomenon of open education, and (specifically, OER and OEP in combination), and how it can be implemented in the classroom needs to be understood. The following questions probed both the understanding of the

phenomenon as it is and how it could be implemented in the classroom.

#### **Central Research Question**

How do creator-practitioners in higher education in the United States perceive their use of OER and OEP?

#### **Sub-Question One**

What challenges/benefits do creator-practitioners encounter from OER creation?

#### **Sub-Question Two**

What challenges/benefits do creator-practitioners encounter from OEP usage?

#### **Sub-Question Three**

How do creator-practitioners make decisions on what OERs to create?

#### **Sub-Question Four**

How do creator-practitioners make decisions on how to incorporate OEP?

#### Definitions

- OER-Enabled Pedagogy "the set of teaching and learning practices that are only possible or practical in the context of the 5R permissions which are characteristic of OER" (Wiley & Hilton, 2018, p. 135).
- Open Education Practices (OEP) "teaching and learning practices that not only use OER but are also open to change, adaptations, and collaboration, making the range of different teaching and learning approaches more transparent, shareable, and visible" (Joint Research Centre of the European Commission, through Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019, p. 8).

- 3. *Open Education Resources* (OER) (A) "teaching, learning or research materials that are in the public domain or released with intellectual property licenses that facilitate the free use, adaptation and distribution of resources" (UNESCO, 2019, para. 1).
- 4. Open Education Resources (OER) (B) "The open in open educational resources indicates that these materials are licensed with copyright licenses that provide permission for everyone to participate in the 5R activities retain, reuse, revise, remix, and redistribute" (Wiley & Hilton, 2018, p. 134).
- 5. Open Teaching "Open teaching is about encouraging learners to access available online content, fostering co-creation of knowledge by students in collaboration with peers within and outside the university, and encouraging students to contribute to public knowledge resources" (Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019, p. 2).

#### Summary

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of OER and OEP in U.S. higher education institutions. Research in open education has focused on cost savings of open textbooks, with some attention paid to the pedagogical impact of open practices and approaches. According to Seaman and Seaman (2022), a majority of faculty in higher education indicated a willingness to use OER. Barriers in the creation of OER and using OEP in higher education have been identified as decentralization, lack of understanding, barriers to tenure and promotion, and copyright issues. Despite these barriers, there are individual practitioner-creators who are creating, adopting, remixing, and using OER and OEP in their courses. The central research question for this study is: How do creator-practitioners in higher education in the United States perceive their use of OER and OEP?

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### Overview

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of open educational resources (OER) and open educational practices (OEP) in United States (U.S.) higher education institutions. This chapter reflects the appropriate theoretical framework and literature related to both the purpose and content of this study. A thorough literature review was conducted to engage scholarship of past, current, and future practices, concepts, and initiatives of creator-practitioners, OER, and OEP. The first section of this literature review examines the social constructivist approach as the theoretical framework for this study. The next section of the chapter includes the literature review, which consists of the current literature related to open education, OER, OEP, and the key points of this study. Each of the sections of the literature review specifically targeted the beliefs, theories, and practices, or lack thereof, of creator-practitioners, OER, and OEP throughout its development. This chapter concludes with a summary, bringing together the major themes and concepts identified in the literature review, and ends with the justification of the identified literature gap and the foundation for this study.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

This section details the theoretical framework for this hermeneutic phenomenological study. The selection of social constructivism was chosen as the theoretical framework to best describe the individual, community, and pedagogical perceptions and considerations of this study as a comprehensive approach to teaching and learning. Social constructivism has a substantial history and evolution with multiple branches (Harlow et al., 2006, as cited in Schunk, 2020). This approach, in contrast to the conditioning theories and information processing model,

emphasizes the interaction of learners and the environment in the building and refining of knowledge and skills (O'Donnell, 2012, as cited in Schunk, 2020). Jerome Bruner's work in cognitive constructivism in the 1940s through the 1980s placed an emphasis on the cognitive processing aspect of the constructivist approach (Stapleton & Stefaniak, 2019). Some of Bruner's seminal constructivist concepts included the spiral curriculum (Bruner, 1960), discovery learning (Bruner, 1961), and instructional learning cycles (Bruner, 1966). Bruner's instructional theory was founded on the idea that learners can engage in any content at a level appropriate to the learner and continually revisit it, building upon their experiences and engagements, discovering new knowledge, and cycling this construction until mastery of content is achieved (Bruner, 1960; Stapleton & Stefaniak, 2019). The motivation of student-selected content and engagement are part of Bruner's (1960) spiral curriculum but have been advocated in numerous ways by previous educational thinkers such as John Dewey. The emphasis on the learner has evolved in the second half of the 20th century and into the 21st century, producing ideas such as the learner-centered environment, inquiry-based learning, personalized learning, and collaborative learning. The constructivist approach has bred the notion of a learner-centered environment as a model for the 21st-century classroom where greater emphasis is placed on the learner's critical thinking and problem-solving skills as opposed to the increasingly accessible wealth of information available online.

Vygotsky's zone of proximal development (ZPD) can be enacted in a digital group, network, or supportive educational technology tool instead of in the physical peer(s) setting (Kivunja, 2014b; Mattar, 2018). Kivunja (2014b) commented, "Learning is no longer a lonely, DIOYO experience, but an interactive activity within dynamic communities that comprise Peer Learning Networks" (p. 90), showcasing how the digital space has provided opportunities for constructivism to reach and support individuals and groups through Vygotsky's (1978) ZPD. Reigeluth et al.'s (2017) assertion of the learner-centered environment is founded in the idea of collaborative instructor-learner relationships, which can be enhanced by Kivunja's (2014b) and Mattar's (2018) assertions of digital ZPD.

#### **Related Literature**

With the usage of open educational resources (OER) and open educational practices (OEP), students, institutions, and faculty in higher education in the United States continue to show a growing awareness of open education; however, still continue to lack larger implementation across all course levels (Seaman & Seaman, 2022). The progress of awareness was a good forerunner to further adoption, but the questions investigated about OER and OEP continued to focus on delivery, cost, and resource adoption. Two decades ago, questions about whether students, institutions, and faculty in higher education would embrace digital learning were being researched (Allen & Seaman, 2003). A decade ago, those questions transformed into whether students, institutions, and faculty in higher education would view open and online-only learning as quality learning experiences (Allen et al., 2012). Recently, researchers looking into OER and OEP use in higher education have identified patterns of growing awareness of OER, growing acceptance of digital materials, and an awareness and sensitivity to the cost of textbooks (Seaman & Seaman, 2022). The COVID-19 pandemic's conscription of education to go into the digital, remote space has accelerated the awareness, perceptions, and engagement of digital learning of those involved in higher education (Seaman & Seaman, 2022); however, *digital* does not necessarily mean open.

The *open* in OER and OEP continues to be a difficult movement to fully define in unison, giving rise to branches of research that inspect information or viewpoints that do not necessarily

build linear progress of research over the past two decades. In this literature review, the variety of *open* OER and OEP was examined, taking particular interest in what the current literature discussed relevant to the historical and current use of both the resources and pedagogy in higher education. The lived experiences of creator-practitioners in higher education highlighted an interesting intersection of the adoption of dynamic course resources in OER and the use of dynamic, cooperative learning experiences in OEP in their courses.

#### **Open in Education**

There have been varying definitions and contextual uses of OER and OEP over time. The variance that these terms express has created challenges for creator-practitioners in implementation (Kaatrakoski et al., 2016) as well as difficulties in researching the quality of OEP (Baran & Al Zoubi, 2020). The variance can partly be blamed on the different contextual uses of the term *open* and its increasing multitudes of meanings (Pomerantz & Peek, 2016). Despite the growing common usage of *open*, the specific phrases of OER and OEP continue to grow in research breadth and awareness while continuing to face challenges in universal definitions. OER has been present and growing for two decades, but without a commissioning body or association to support standardization, OER lacks a codified series of universally agreedupon definitions (Ko & Rossen, 2017). The Cape Town Open Education Declaration (2008) was the first major effort to specifically recognize the importance of and further the cause of OER (whereas the 2002 UNESCO forum was to understand and begin developing OER). This declaration initially spread some degree of awareness of OER and its work, but OER did not get its first global definition until UNESCO declared its 2014 definition of OER to be "teaching, learning or research materials that are in the public domain or released with intellectual property licenses that facilitate the free use, adaptation and distribution of resources" (UNESCO, 2019a,

para. 1). The lack of unified indexing has led some researchers to create their own definitions (Wiley & Hilton, 2018), or some have built upon a specific definition of another researcher (Blomgren, 2018).

Comparatively, OEP has not garnered as much research focus as OER over the past two decades. Similar to struggles dealing with OER, researchers have also struggled to create a universal definition of OEP (Witt, 2020). Some researchers support Wiley and Hilton's (2018) OER-Enabled pedagogy concept and definition of OEP, while other researchers subscribe to the concept that OEP resists definitions and codification (DeRose & Jhangiani, 2017). Baran and AlZoubi (2020) have researched emerging OEP, concluding that open pedagogy in action reflects a scaffolding of reflection, development, content curation, peer feedback, and community engagement. In addition to efforts to create a strict definition of OEP, Jhangiani and Green (2018) commented that at the heart of OEP are the concepts of learner-empowerment through the use of some kind of open manipulation. These variances support a larger history and issue of what *open* means in education.

Education has seen several different iterations of *open*, varying in context and meanings from specific classroom space to digital resources to shared resources (Kimmons, 2016; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). This general use of the common phrase *open* has presented challenges in solidifying a central definition of how the term should be used when describing the *open movement* in education. The difficulty of general and scattered use of *open* has also presented issues in trying to define phrases that combine other common usage terms such as open educational practices (OEP) or open educational resources (OER; Brons, 2017; Cronin, 2017; Kimmons, 2016; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). Instead of agreeing upon a centralized set of definitions, *open*, as it applies to phrases such as OEP, OER, open access, open scholarship, and open data, among others, has either been defined by a team of researchers to frame their scope of work or have referenced another team's specific definition. The decentralized nature of OER and OEP has produced attempts to create a core definition of each term more recently; however, refinement of the definitions is an ongoing process as the research evolves.

Not all share the sentiment to establish a centralized version of *open*. For example, Kimmons (2016) expressed a troubling conundrum with the term, commenting that it does not just present a lack of commonality spread between professional communities, "but it is exacerbated by the fact that open is a common, colloquial term [rather than a specialized, technical term]" (p. 3). This notion of commonality is further complicated by the usage of the word itself, sometimes expressed as a verb and sometimes as an adjective depending upon the interpretation of the user. Weller (2014) asserted that the challenge to define *open* as a standardized term in education is not worthwhile and, instead should be accepted as a general term. Witt (2020) commented that the more researchers tried to define and set boundaries on open pedagogy, the more confusion and decentralization were created. Zawacki-Richter et al. (2020) explored the many topics of open education with invitations to the micro-, meso-, and macro-levels, showing the still evolving and multiple opportunities to explore this vast and growing topic.

While these frustrations have created challenges in the cohesive chain of research, other researchers have taken the approach of framing *open* in general bounds or guidelines that encompass a variety of definitions under umbrellas. Cronin (2017) detailed the four interpretations of openness in education: (a) open admission, (b) open as free, (c) OER, and (d) OEP. Of the four interpretations examined by Cronin, content creators are behind each

interpretation, but only the OER and OEP interpretations engage the audience in a community of purposeful engagement through open licensing and Wiley's 5Rs. The difference between these four interpretations lay within what Winn (2012) described as open as *gratis*, free to access, and open as *libre*, or legal reuse. Although open admission and open-as-free interpretations provide further access to those who would otherwise not be able to access the content, the beginnings of the modern open movement in education began with the legal movement of open licensing (Winn, 2015).

Despite the lack of cohesion in defining *open*, there have been reports of the growth of awareness and use of open educational resources (OER) and OEP among higher education faculty. Seaman and Seaman (2021) reported that the higher education faculty in the United States have shown an increase in awareness of open educational resources (OER) each year since the 2014-15 academic year. Further, the use of OER as supplemental (22%) and required (15%) materials has grown by a factor of three between the 2015-16 and the 2019-20 academic years (Seaman & Seaman, 2021). However, reports of barriers and challenges associated with implementing OER or OEP into courses in higher education have tempered some of the enthusiasm surrounding this general growth trend (Baas et al., 2019; Kaatrakoski et al., 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019; Otto, 2019). Specifically, the difficulty of moving higher education faculty from awareness to implementation has been a serious challenge plaguing the OER and OEP movement (Luo et al., 2019). Luo et al. further commented that implementation of OER and OEP is composed of multiple actions, combining an advanced understanding and usage of curation, adoption, and use, time to access and remix OER, and sustained adoption practices through institutional support. OER has continued to grow in its curation, adoption, and

production since the early 2000s despite these challenges. This growth implies a continued need and desire for OER despite the ongoing challenges and barriers to adoption.

#### **Open Content Creation**

The awareness and understanding of what constitutes *open* in education is an important step before taking action to implement OER and OEP into the classroom. The growth of higher education faculty awareness of OER has risen over the past decade, but the use of OER in the classroom as a required material remains comparatively small (Seaman & Seaman, 2022). Higher education faculty are making decisions on the use of resources based on pedagogical needs under the constraints of time. The curation, creation, and implementation of OER takes time that many educators do not want to spend (Baas et al., 2019). The time constraint continues to be an issue for faculty, but advocacy of equity and access to course materials as well as key partnerships (e.g., instructional designers, media specialists) in higher education continues to grow stronger (Luo et al., 2019; Morgan, 2019; Ren, 2019). As more advocacy for the creation and partnerships of OER grows, it is also important to note that OER efficacy studies have shown no significant difference between OER textbooks and closed textbooks in over 95% of OER studies (Hilton, 2020). This growth of OER, despite continued obstacles, is encouraging for more creators, more learner engagement, and a growing digital community for more individuals to engage in open education.

The creator-practitioner incorporates both open materials and instruction in their classroom, bringing together the characteristics of openly licensed materials (e.g., Creative Commons) and open teaching and learning pedagogy (e.g., Baran and AlZoubi's (2020) open pedagogy in action). Baran and AlZoubi's open pedagogy in action model pushes the boundaries of traditional pedagogy, describing the use of reflection, development, content curation, peer

feedback, and community engagement in teaching and learning practices. The concentration on learner growth is both a hallmark of OEP (Cronin, 2017; Cronin & MacLaren, 2018) and the learner-centered environment (Reigeluth et al., 2017).

OEP offers a special opportunity for learners to engage in an open community to further their learning, growth, and contributions. Ehlers (2011) advocated for a focus on the sustainability of OER, putting an emphasis on the continued engagement and growth of OER contrary to the reported focus on access to OER during the time of Ehler's publication. Supporting Ehler's assertion, access alone has not been shown to successfully lead to the adoption and use of OER in higher education (Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018). Advocacy of an open ecosystem, where learners, OER, OEP, institutional support, and other systems support the system, has been introduced by Mays (2017). Mays' advocacy of open and distance learning as a system has yet to be realized, despite its relevance during the COVID-19 pandemic, due to ongoing obstacles in higher education (Werth & Williams, 2021). Despite a full OEP ecosystem yet to be fully created, the support and advocacy of OEP expanding into digital communities outside of the classroom (e.g., social media, blog posts, open internet communities) is apparent in the growing OEP literature (Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018). The advocacy, support, and concepts of OEP as a contributory community are present but require more advocates to build the community collaboratively to see a future impact.

#### Content Creation through Open Licensing

In the context of open content, the confusion between open and accessible is one that has plagued the digital world since the internet's massive expansion. The open movement of the late 1990s developed into the larger, modern version it is today with the expanse of awareness and sharing (Bliss & Smith, 2017). This expansion was slowed by the decentralization of OER content, which limited the ability to connect to other databases or caches, both to the creator community and to the users (Otto, 2019). The accessibility that individuals enjoy in closed systems, such as radio, television, and live speech, is not the same as the accessibility that can be easily captured, recorded, and otherwise retained and distributed in the digital environment. The ability for individuals to access information does not necessarily make the information open.

The term open content was conceived by David Wiley to describe how copyright licensing can allow for access, reuse, and further development of content and resources in the educational field in the late 1990s (Tuomi, 2013). In support of efforts to share and distribute open content creations, such as Massachusetts Institute of Technology's (MIT) OpenCourseWare (OCW) courses, Creative Commons was founded by Stanford professor Lawrence Lessig, along with Hal Abelson and Eric Eldred, to support Wiley's efforts for an effective open license (Bliss & Smith, 2017). Lessig, Abelson, and Eldred's organization, Creative Commons, has a suite of licensing that guarantees users the ability for free access and to engage in the content through practices such as remixing and reuse (Bliss & Smith, 2017; Wiley et al., 2014; Williams & Werth, 2021). Wiley's notion of how to interact with openly licensed materials has evolved from his 4Rs (Wiley et al., 2014) into the 5R's (Baas et al., 2019; Otto, 2019) when retain was added: (a) reuse, (b) revise, (c) remix, (d) redistribute, and (e) retain (Heck et al. 2020; Wiley & Hilton, 2018; Wiley et al., 2014; Witt, 2020). These 5Rs encapsulate the basics of open education as it pertains to authentic user interaction and a shared contribution to the community of learners (Allen & Katz, 2019; Blomgren, 2018; Brons, 2017; Ko & Rossen, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgo, 2016, 2019; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). The 5Rs describe open content, and the expansion of open content lies within its ability to be accessed. Essentially, open content creates a vehicle for

creator-practitioners to contribute to larger, collaborative communities and involve their learnercentered pedagogy to expand.

The open licensing of OER makes certain engagement activities permissible that are traditionally non-permissible for all rights reserved copyright (Clinton-Lisell, 2021). Open licensing, developed further by organizations such as Creative Commons, has a full suite of open licensing options and education on licensing use (Williams & Werth, 2021). The Creative Commons licensing suite includes options to credit the author, share adaptations under the same licensing, permit non-commercial use only, and prohibit derivatives of the work, including a creator's dedication to releasing their work into the public domain (Creative Commons, 2019). These licensing options may be combined and placed on the content creator's work to notify users what their interaction permissions are. These permissions are the basis for the agreement between the creator and user to interact with the content. Open licensing allows for resources to engage at some level of Wiley's 5 Rs, which are the basis for OEP. Licensing allows creator-practitioners to license their creations, as well as educate students about how to openly license their own contributory creations.

Despite the ability to open content by creators and engage created content by the users, the understanding of and comfort of using open licenses, either as a creator or as a user, is not widespread (Elder et al., 2020; Williams & Werth, 2021). The knowledge of how to decide which license to use, the proper application of that license to create work, and the ability to share the content online have all been reported as challenges in engaging in open content (Belikov & Bodily, 2016). Furthermore, the social and cultural barriers present in higher education institutions on copyrighted materials and the pressures of tenure have kept OER and OEP from the acceptance and use that is seen more often at the community college level (Hood & Littlejohn, 2017). While challenges and hesitation exist in institutions of higher education, there remain those who persist in creating content, sharing content online, and engaging in OEP in their courses (Lantrip & Ray, 2020; Werth & Williams, 2021).

The complexity of indexing and choosing OER as a resource in the higher education classroom is further complicated by the licensing rights of the OER. Due to the availability of digital material, there is uncertainty about what can be adopted and remixed within a classroom under traditional copyright. Copyright restricts the availability and educational uses for resources, or what Wiley and Hilton (2018) contrasted as closed resources compared to the open resources that utilize the 5Rs. Discerning closed and open resources as they pertain to copyright has proven difficult for educators. Seaman and Seaman (2022) reported that individual understanding of awareness of OER and awareness of Creative Commons licensing was increasing among higher education faculty, but that those who had an awareness of both comprised a much lower percentage. Williams and Worth (2021) commented that the lack of understanding of how OER is combined with licensing can account for misunderstandings or a lack of empowerment of OEP in courses that use OER or open licensing. Moreover, copyright is complicated and varies by country. Creative Commons is more standardized across the globe with its various levels of licensing, incorporates the 5Rs (Clinton-Lisell, 2021), and is the preferred licensing tool of OER, as advocated by the Hewlett Foundation (Bliss & Smith, 2017). In a literature review of OEP studies, Clinton-Lisell found that studies in which open pedagogy was explored shared similar characteristics, in that OEP involved student-created artifacts that had value beyond learning (e.g., "renewable"), and were open or shared publicly. Several studies commented that open licensing was a critical element of OEP; however, Clinton-Lisell noted stark differences for whether the focus was on the open license or student artifact creation.

Despite the lack of continuity of research definitions for the open community, the open community has an underlying commitment to the concept of knowledge as a common good, which may be shared in the digital space over the internet (Wiley et al., 2014). The principles of openly licensed sharing usually have been dispersed through Creative Commons licensing, where content creators can license their works based on different levels of use by others (Wiley et al., 2014). Sandanayake (2019) has examined the different levels of use through a research-based blended model in which OER was used in undergraduate distance learning courses with positive results. The ability to interact with authentic materials and data empowers learners to build competencies that diverge from sterile, terminal examples into authentic development of possible scenarios that they would encounter in real life (Atenas et al., 2015). Open content engages both the creator and the audience. OER is able to be shared under Wiley's 5Rs within proper licensing. This properly licensed OER can be leveraged by OEP-driven creator-practitioners in the learner-centered environment. However, the bridge between licensing, curation/creation, usage, and pedagogy is yet to exist in the literature.

# Content Creation Tension: Open versus Closed

The frustration about the definition and use of *open* has not slowed the distribution and access to openly licensed content. The ability to widely access, distribute, and otherwise build upon created content through digital access has presented a unique opportunity to creators and users of educational content. Openly licensed content comes with legal definitions that provide the scope of use at the point of access. This growth may be credited, at least in part, to the internet, a robust vehicle to widely distribute openly licensed information (Cronin, 2017; Luo et al., 2019; Williams & Werth, 2021).

The development of open licensing has been a recent development in the larger tension between open and closed contexts. These historic tensions have centered around who owns the intellectual property created and who, and to what extent, should have access to the intellectual property (Williams & Werth, 2021). History has favored closed, where intellectual property is seen as a commodity and not as a resource (Brons, 2017). This tension has further been increased as OEP developments have not only shared more openly licensed production of learners and facilitators but have also encouraged Wiley's 5Rs (Wiley & Hilton, 2018). The creation of open content has been limited by the permissions allowed by copyright. Wiley and Hilton (2018) described this sentiment: "The open in open educational resources indicates that these materials are licensed with copyright licenses that provide permission for everyone to participate in the 5R activities - retain, reuse, revise, remix, and redistribute" (p. 134).

The tension between open and closed pedagogies has steadily evolved since the 1970s when pedagogical approaches between the degree and function of student creation and pursuit of interest have come into conflict with copyright (Wiley & Hilton, 2018). In this context, open pedagogy is comprised of OER material usage, the implementation of open principles (e.g., Wiley's 5Rs), and its products openly available to others (Cronin, 2017; OPAL, 2011; Weller, 2014). In contrast, closed pedagogy uses copyright-restricted materials (e.g., all rights reserved textbooks) to instruct learners (Wiley & Hilton, 2018). This tension between open and closed became more apparent as the growth of the internet allowed for faster and easier distribution of materials, where digital materials could be shared instantly (Cronin & MacLaren, 2018). The desire to create, index, and distribute open materials now had a robust vehicle in which to employ open principles. These desires began to manifest themselves in the late 1990s in open index caches, open digital licensing, and Open Access digital data (Bliss & Smith, 2017).

# **Content Creation Communities**

Support for those engaged in OER and OEP comes from contributory communities. These communities can appear as online communities (e.g., Creative Commons) or organizations (e.g., SPARC, UNESCO). These communities work to produce support for various target audiences, whether at the institutional, regional, national, or international level. Creatorpractitioners, however, have small communities that are yet realized through these larger, more general communities. As the United States and other nations work to understand the implications of OER and OEP in higher education, some funding is available to support open efforts in education, but these mostly fall under (a) reduction of the cost of textbooks to students, or (b) labor hours for faculty and staff to produce institutional OER (Belikov & Bodily, 2016).

Despite more research and implementation initiatives being needed to bridge the gap between perception and use of OEP, the result of growing international interest, efforts, and some initiatives have spurred real, practical change in U.S. higher education institutions. In the U.S., OER use has been growing in higher education, with the percentage of instructors using an OER as a required material in at least one course they teach increasing between the 2015-2016 and 2019-20 academic years (Seaman & Seaman, 2021). In 2021, 24 states and the U.S. federal government had policies aimed at leveraging OER as a "solution to higher education challenge" (SPARC, 2021, p. 2). According to SPARC, the U.S. Department of Education had approximately \$7 million available in OER-related grants in 2021, providing real opportunities for organizations and states to create and execute OER initiatives. However, sustainability remains an ever-present issue with OER (Tlili et al., 2020). How to continue to sustain those individuals, groups, and initiatives that curate, create, and adopt OER remains a looming issue for institutions of higher education in the U.S. The creation of OER is considered non-rivalrous, contributing to a public-good resource without diminishing the value of other OER (Tuomi, 2013). The concept of collaborative contribution emphasizes the notion of closed ownership and promotes the spirit of education, a relationship Wiley (2010) described as the asymmetry of expertise where a relationship is entered into for one to learn from another. Furthermore, Wiley explained, "Expertise (or whatever you want to call the source of the asymmetry) has the magical property of being non-rivalrous or non-competitive – meaning that a teacher can give of them without giving them away" (para. 19). The spirit of OER creation is non-profit, nor a race of concepts and ideas behind closed copyright, but rather the notion that expertise can be multiplied and contributions made to the learning community that benefits those who wish to enter into the educational relationship.

#### **OER Content Creation and Delivery**

The creation of OER is a complicated issue. Creation and creativity can be based on need, and OER must be created to serve a purpose in the open education movement. The growth of OER is partly based on the need to further engage in the digital community, create open resources for the public good, and to further engage OER creation as a suite of practices associated with OEP (Cronin, 2017; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). To aid in the growing adoption, adaptation, and creation of OER and OEP, Elder et al. (2020) commented that support staff at institutions of higher education (e.g., media specialists) should also work to understand these resources and practices in order to continue to provide support. The sentiment of a group of specialists supporting this practice is one that has been seen throughout the growth of innovative teaching and learning practices that have been made possible by technology.

During this time of experimentation, constructivism, and new pioneering ideas in the 1970s, the open in open education has continued to mean a variety of teaching and learning approaches. These approaches included concepts such as informal learning, personalized learning, cooperative learning, education through Web 2.0, and discovery learning (Wiley & Hilton, 2018). Part of this experimentation was due to the accelerated growth of instructional design, which continued to develop formative assessments from the 1960s and systems approaches in the 1970s to improve outcomes for the military, business, and education realms (Reiser, 2001b). However, the 1980s and the 1990s brought stagnation to educational innovation from an instructional design technology standpoint (Reiser, 2001b). Emergent technologies as tools were increasingly available but continued to yield no significant difference in learning outcomes (Reeves & Oh, 2017). The 1990s brought more technology to the physical spaces of schools and universities, but a lack of instructional creativity continued to lead to a lack of use and innovation (Reiser, 2001a). This general lack of innovation was not absolute, and the open movement began to emerge as an instructional- and tool-driven solution to the general apathetic state of technology use in education throughout the United States.

Content creation and delivery have focused on accessibility and cost. Recently, the use of OER via OEP has expanded the possibilities for practitioner-creators to have a more focused learner-centered experience. This experience is inherently digital, shared, and available at its optimal use. The phases of content creation and delivery may be summarized into three phases. The first phase includes resource cache availability, where content creation was curated, and delivery was user-driven in an unstructured environment. This first phase included the advent of massively open online courses (MOOCs), zero-cost open textbooks, and decentralized OER resources. The second phase targeted the life and feedback cycle speed of resource caches. This

phase continued to include MOOCs, open textbooks, and OER, but introduced open textbook companies such as Lumen and open textbook organizations such as OpenStax, both of which allow for quick edits, expansion, and management of resources. The third phase included resources that become interactive with the user and to the community at large. These are what Wiley & Hilton (2018) have described as renewable resources - interactive course materials that may be augmented by users, as well as community collaboration and sharing through the digital space.

### Static Delivery of Open Content

Access to OER resources, both static and dynamic, does not necessarily mean effective learning is happening (Grimaldi et al., 2019). The novelty of early open education was the availability of free content through higher education institutions' courses, such as MIT's OCW, or the next MOOC developed by other institutions (Hodge et al., 2019; Ko & Rossen, 2017). Stracke et al. (2019) commented that MOOCs, in regard to content, are not OER due to the difficulty of reusing them within the framework of Wiley's 5R's. However, MOOCs as an innovative teaching and learning vehicle may be viewed as a pedagogical approach more akin to OEP when compared with closed, traditional practices (Stracke et al., 2019). Content creation for MOOCs allows for asynchronous delivery of information that is free to access; however, some have criticized MOOCs for extending the digital divide due to the inequality of opportunity involved in the infrastructure of access (McGreal, 2017). There are others who have criticized MOOCs for their lack of learner support, as well as lack of local language support and access to differentiation (Marin et al., 2020; McGreal, 2017). The quality of MOOCs became an important criticism that shed light on the lack of best practices in distance and eLearning (Stracke et al., 2019). Quality frameworks for MOOCs have recently been developed to improve the

pedagogical delivery and quality of MOOC courses, focusing on the impact of the MOOC and not simply the availability, especially as it pertains to creators versus learner perspectives (Stacke et al., 2019).

The success of initiatives such as MIT's OCW in the early 2000s gave legitimacy to open courses and a vast amount of open material, but questions remained about how to use this new material and to what extent. This large cache of open material began to branch into the massive open online courses (MOOCs), where large amounts of information were available, but largely required the user to make sense of and engage them with limited dynamic instructional support (Stracke et al., 2019). This notion led to OER as the availability of course materials cached by MOOCs (Stracke et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2018), but OER is much more expansive than that, taking into consideration government documentation, subject matter expert data and resources, and creations of individuals (Otto, 2019). How individual educators choose to use OER has a profound effect on their teaching, as well as the environment in which the learner is growing (Littlejohn & Hood, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019; Stracke et al., 2019). Availability, and its subsequent use, has become both an awareness and indexing issue for many in education (Otto, 2019).

Each of these general descriptions of open content has required an evolution of open content by those who wished to create, index, and distribute to others. The creation of California State University's MERLOT index in the late 1990s was a practical way to index open content using the internet as a distribution database (Bliss & Smith, 2017). The choice and creation flexibility offered by the digital experience was further enhanced by Wiley's proposed open license, later developed and expanded by Creative Commons, and the Open Access movement of the late 1990s.. This movement allowed for a practical application to data share and expand research and also added key components and practical use to the creation of open content (Bliss & Smith, 2017). Stracke et al. (2019) commented that MOOCs can either be seen as a static resource that do not fulfill Wiley's 5R's of OER, or they can be seen as a limited innovation in OEP. In either case, the static delivery of early OER and OEP was an important step to later innovations that would develop creator-practitioners.

## Dynamic Delivery of Open Content

The static accessibility of MOOCs and other early OER become more personalized with open textbooks. These accessible resources are used to substitute for closed textbooks at zero cost for students (Fischer et al., 2020; Hilton, 2020). Seaman and Seaman (2022) noted that supplemental OER resources have grown in the past decade but have yet to reach large usage as required textbooks for those surveyed. Instead, the creation of open textbooks has been subjected to a great deal of examination for perceived quality (Hilton, 2020) and cost benefits (Fischer et al., 2020). The perceptions of the quality of OER textbooks for students and faculty have generally been positive (Bliss et al., 2013; Hilton, 2020), and the cost savings for students have been noted as a major benefit for students, but especially for lower socioeconomic students who struggle to pay for higher educational opportunities compared to those in higher socioeconomic brackets (Lantrip & Ray, 2020; Martin et al., 2017). Martin et al. commented that higher education faculty were willing to locate and implement OER alternatives, especially when driven by student cost.

The need for OER in cases like Martin et al. (2017) is a cost-saving need, not a pedagogical one. Instead of driving teaching and learning innovation through technology use and open practices, OER was examined as a resource that would not harm student progress and would save the extensive cost of college textbooks (Annand & Jensen, 2017; Grimaldi et al.,

2019; Hilton, 2020; Lantrip & Ray, 2020). A good deal of research conducted on OER between 2002 and 2018 focused on access to free textbook resources, mostly for higher education students (Hilton, 2016, 2020; Grimaldi et al., 2019). The cost of textbooks has led some institutions to promote OER textbooks for students; however, this process has been slow, inefficient, and complicated (Annand & Jensen, 2017; Bazeley et al., 2019). In researching the use of OER textbooks, Grimaldi et al. bemoaned that the so-called access hypothesis – (i.e., studies conducted on comparing courses that used traditional textbooks versus those that used OER textbooks), was not a true intervention when 95%+ of students already had access to traditional textbooks. As a result of this study, Grimaldi et al. (2019), as well as other researchers, began shifting the focus who were interested in shifting the focus of OER research from the question of textbook access to the question of pedagogical use and quality of resources (Bass et al., 2019; Grimaldi et al., 2019; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019).

Currently research on this topic is focused on the effectiveness of interventions, whereas there were no studies that targeted effectiveness earlier. Intervention due to zero cost does not correlate to the effectiveness of the content. The rising cost of textbooks affected student course success, courses taken, and debt incurred through high textbook costs (Fischer et al., 2020), which stimulated research on the access hypothesis (i.e., the notion that students in higher education would have better access to textbooks that were free versus costly textbooks; Fischer et al., 2019; Hodge et al., 2019). However, Grimaldi et al. (2019) criticized the access hypothesis studies, noting that they were fundamentally flawed, as they either reported the intervention of OER when there was not an identified gap, or showed a lack of evidence of isolating proper independent and dependent variables to prove an experimental framework. Essentially, OER

research and production in higher education has been focused on cost, not educational innovation.

### Interaction-Based Delivery of Open Content

Innovations over the past several decades have been enhanced by technology and technology-supported teaching and learning practices (Brown & Green, 2020; Schrum & Sumerfield, 2018). These innovations have begun to move past the focus on closed, individual learning (i.e., traditional textbooks), and have embraced the engagement of the digital communities, such as Wiley and Hilton's (2018) renewable assignments. Learner-centered instruction focuses on the growth of the learner as facilitated by an instructor (Reigeluth et al., 2017), but this facilitation is ongoing, creating opportunities for the learner to revise, reflect, and continue constructing their learning by leveraging technology. The ability to leverage technology and provide a learner-centered environment provides a structure beyond OER that encourages an interaction, in practice, between the learner and the instructor, which allows the learner to grow in a more dynamic way (Clark & Mayer, 2016; Reigeluth et al., 2017; Wilson et al., 2017).

In order to produce renewable assignments and continue to revisit, revise, and edit these products, some researchers have created frameworks or rubrics to examine the extent that OER is being used in the classroom to produce open products through use of the facilitator's OEP (Brons, 2017; Ko & Rossen, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2016, 2019; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). The goal of renewable assignments is to produce work that can be continued by the student and by others in a collaborative community (Wiley & Hilton, 2018). Empowerment and continuous works are part of the building blocks of an OER community, where facilitators, learners, and subject matter experts can collaborate, contribute, and critique the work and contributions of others in real-time over an authentic, digital network (Atenas et al., 2015). This model can either

be built within university courses (Atenas et al., 2015; Sandanyake, 2019), preservice teacher curricula (Allen & Katz, 2019; Kim, 2018), or teacher's professional development opportunities (Littlejohn & Hood, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019).

Although the intervention of OER has been well studied, much research still needs to be conducted that targets the pedagogical impact of open education on teaching approaches through the use of open and collaborative materials (Atenas et al., 2015; Brons, 2017; Hood & Littlejohn, 2017; Kaatrakoski et al., 2016; Littlejohn & Hood, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2016, 2019; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). The open education community has been recently moving past the research of OER adoption and towards "a broader understanding of the impact of open practices in support of innovative education" (Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019, p. 5367). As previously discussed, the lack of a governing body or association causes OEP similar challenges as OER in terms of its lack of a central, standardized definition.

#### **Open Content Practices**

Open content is a pedagogical decision made by those who involve themselves in the learner-centered environment, leveraging OER to guide and construct knowledge. In the context of the learner-centered environment, it is critical to take an instructional approach that emphasizes the growth of the learner. Bruner's (1960) spiral curriculum provides the groundwork and theory for learners to continuously engage openly in material with an emphasis on critical thinking and problem-solving. This constructivist approach involves the idea of reflective learning cycles, allowing the learner multiple opportunities throughout the learning process to learn, apply, and reflect as opposed to terminal outcomes, such as a test or the end of a unit without carryover. Bruner's learning theory involves a long-term approach to developing life-long and authentic learners that focuses on the learners themselves as the critical emphasis, as compared to an outcome emphasis (e.g., test scores). Similarly, Wiley and Hilton's (2018) renewable assignments take this approach. OER-enabled practices allow learners to engage and re-engage in a cyclical learning cycle, emphasizing reflective practices and learner growth.

The growth of the learner requires persistence and multiple advancing attempts at knowledge and skills. The learner-centered environment is comprised partly of multiple, cyclical attempts, emphasizing how the structure or process of learning should be built around these attempts. Sweller's (1988) cognitive load theory explored how learners should engage in open, or inquiry, learning to build schema, as opposed to terminal means-ends formulas that do not support long-term learning. In other words, the structure and emphasis on process allow the learner to design categories for where to place information in increasing complexity. Dirksen (2016) used the analogy of a closet to describe this concept: if a bit of information is like a shirt, a person with an organized closet will have a blue shirt in a certain place. If information is given to the learner without a structure, then the shirt in Dirksen's analogy gets thrown to the floor. In both instance of the organized and unorganized closets, the shirts are in the metaphorical closet, but when trying to retrieve and utilize that information, a structured closet allows the learner to know where the blue shirt is, retrieve it, and wear it. The unorganized closet will have the learner rummaging through the pile of shirts, not knowing where to look, or if they will successfully retrieve it at all. Building schema requires the ability to reflect and grow, a notion that Bruner (1964) further developed in his constructivist framework after his spiral curriculum as discovery learning. Leveraging OER and OEP to place an emphasis on growth, schema, and retrieval of information empowers students beyond the time they spend in a single course.

The attempts of persistence and the emphasis of building learner structure are major pieces of the learner-centered environment. Achieving both of these goals also takes a technological aspect as a vehicle to optimize OER and OEP. Mayer's (1997) CTML provides the avenue in which multimedia learning should be optimized for learners in the 21st century via digital and multimedia learning. Optimizing both audio and visual information provides a dual channel input, allowing learners to build schema with bits of information from both inputs. OER and OEP are both audio and visual, and Ren's (2019) advocacy for the use of instructional designers as support to faculty engaging in OER and OEP shows both the complexity and the necessity of collaboration that OER and OEP can leverage. Using, adopting, and constructing digital resources and learning experiences should be leveraged for learners in order for them to gain the most out of their learner-centered educational experiences.

Although these learning approaches as described by Bruner, Sweller, and Mayer have been around for decades, the collaboration between these approaches in the digital space to leverage OER and OEP is a fairly new concept. The groundbreaking Wiley and Hilton (2018) description of OER-enabled pedagogy was disseminated in the last five years, thus creatorpractitioners are still learning along with the students. Werth and Williams (2021) described how faculty in Pikeville, Kentucky experienced their own growth throughout the first and second iterations of using OER-enabled pedagogy in their courses. Tillinghast et al. (2020) explored OER-enabled pedagogy courses to find no significant difference between the OEP and non-OEP similar courses. Overall, there is a lack of research that addresses how learner-centered approaches show specific learning results in classrooms in open education research. The learning approaches and the research into how they impact open education provide a foundation for further attempts and research to be conducted.

# **Open Experience and Practice**

While researching the use of OER and targeting teaching and learning principles in the classroom, Cronin and MacLaren (2018) inadvertently discovered and described the evolution of OEP. Seaman and Seaman (2022) reported that both faculty and administrators commented that the COVID-19 pandemic improved their opinions of online learning and their acceptance of using digital materials. Clinton-Lisell (2021) noted that the various definitions of open pedagogy, as well as the different means of examining this pedagogy, has created challenges in synthesizing research findings. Despite this lack of cohesion, the growth of interest and research into OEP has grown since the mid-2000s (Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018). What has remained apparent in empirical research that focused on OEP is the alignment and definition of OEP to Wiley and Hilton's (2018) OER-enabled pedagogy characteristics (Clinton-Lisell, 2021).

Further, the use of OER materials in higher education classrooms saw a 7% increase between the 2019-20 and 2020-21 academic years as the COVID-19 pandemic continued to disrupt the normal classroom modality patterns (Seaman & Seaman, 2022). The learner-centered environment is inherent in OER and OEP, where both learners and instructors use open content to create, edit, and engage in authentic learning experiences targeting individual learner growth. According to Reigeluth et al. (2017), "The goal of student-centered pedagogies is to enable transformative learning experiences and produce creative, self-directed graduates" (p. 394). The creation process of instructors and learners engaging in OER products encourages a culture of participation and offers opportunities for innovation and creativity, as well as refinement of products (Allen & Katz, 2019). This process of open co-creation should use OER-enabled pedagogy, (i.e., OEP) through Wiley's 5R's to further the discovery learning of each individual learner (Wiley & Hilton, 2018). The learner-centered environment creates a peer-production contributory community through Creative Commons licensing and internet accessibility that was not available 20 years ago (Brons, 2017). The result is a dispersed marketplace, where OER and OEP "live in pockets", but have yet to receive standardized practice or adoption for the learnercentered environment (Baas et al., 2019; Hood & Littlejohn, 2017; Kaatrakoski et al., 2017; Littlejohn & Hood, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2016, 2019; Otto, 2019).

Critical to the learner-centered environment is individual growth in pursuit of mastery. The pursuit of mastery has been described as the construction of schemas, where masters have transferred critical information, structures, and algorithms to long-term memory that are available on demand (Sweller, 1988). Sweller's theory of cognitive load is based on the strain put on working memory, as problem-solving processes are undertaken in the greater framework of comparative schemas. In building these schemas, novices may fill their working memory (heavy cognitive load) using means-end processes, lacking the appropriate working memory, or cognitive space, to build schema to improve. As a result, novices have a disconnect between building schema in the respective subject/content/area to become experts or masters, as well as processing errors due to working memory being used in the process. This learning barrier can be reduced by using the nonspecific goal strategy to reduce cognitive load, allowing for more precise processing, and novices to construct schema to make progress toward mastery.

In application, this nonspecific goal strategy may be described under the umbrella of Bruner's (1964) discovery learning. This approach, also called inquiry-based learning, problemor project-based learning, presents an open-ended problem that allows the learner to choose the process and structures to use as an experiment. This experimental process has been described by Sweller (1988) as providing cognitive space for the construction of schema along with the content/topic, and by Bruner (1960) as part of the spiral curriculum, where learners engage in discovery learning to continuously build toward mastery.

The shift of OER research has brought a larger focus to the scattered field of OEP research. Koseoglu and Bozkurt's (2018) review of OEP peer-reviewed publications between 2007-2017 indicated that OEP had two major strands of study: the first being open educational principles through the use of OER, and the second being OEP in the context of open scholarship, open teaching and learning, open systems, and open-source software. As it relates to classroom education, the former OEP strand has further received attention in higher education (Hood & Littlejohn, 2017; Kaatrakoski et al., 2016; Littlejohn & Hood, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2016, 2019; Sandanayake, 2019), in preservice teacher education (Allen & Katz, 2019; Kim, 2018), and an emerging look into K-12 (Blomgren, 2018; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). Current OER and OEP research is trending towards targeting how OER and OEP affect the classroom; however, a lack of awareness, adoption, and usage are challenges preventing feasible quantitative analyses. Further qualitative research will need to be conducted to produce the justification and foundation for further implementation and understanding proof of the effectiveness of OER and OEP in the classroom.

Wiley and Hilton (2018) commented on the difficulty in connecting and building upon other research dealing with OEP, stating, "From a research perspective, the dearth of agreement on a common definition makes evaluating the impacts of open pedagogy on student learning, student engagement, and other metrics of interest essentially impossible since we cannot specify what we are evaluating" (p. 135). In a literature review of open education practices (OEP) from peer-reviewed publications between 2007-2017, Koseoglu and Bozkurt (2018) reported that OEP is complex, and the trend of further branching research into new endeavors and new ways to share data and information has grown by the scope and by numbers in the decade of 2007-2017. Koseoglu and Bozkurt further reported that although the evolution of the open community and OEP in particular, occurs in pockets around various institutions, OEP usually can categorize itself into two divisions: (a) OER-based curation, review, development, and community, and (b) open-courseware based, where MOOCs and open systems live.

# **Open Self-Regulatory Learning**

Heidari et al. (2021) contended that digital learning has become increasingly important in higher education, where digital competencies play a corresponding role in students' academic success. The major issue in the subject of OER and OEP is not the purpose, effort, or concept, but rather its cohesive definition and depth of research. Likewise, Koseoglu and Bozkurt (2018) reported that OEP have mostly been confined to either the curation, adoption, and use of OERs or the open systems market, neither of which have been formally defined across research literature.

In the learner-centered environment of the 21st-century learner, multimedia learning has had a significant impact. The delivery of OER and OEP in the learner-centered environment is made most efficient and effective as digital, where learners can interact with the vast amount of information online. Pursuant to multimedia learning is Mayer's (1997) work on the cognitive theory of multimedia learning. Referred to as the generative theory of multimedia learning, Mayer brought together the idea of generative learning theory and dual coding theory. The availability of multimedia platforms that were growing in the 1990s led Mayer to investigate how to optimize long-term storage and usage of information for the best outcomes of problem-solving due to the lack of transfer from single modal delivery systems (e.g., a reading passage). Mayer's theory proposed that using the dual processing channels of auditory and visual

information concurrently through multimedia in conjunction with purposeful selection of information to optimize and increase the learner's ability to select, organize, and integrate information from working memory to long-term learning will improve the transfer, and, by extension, provide the information necessary to use problem-solving more effectively as compared to a single modal delivery.

The learner-centered environment is native to OER and OEP, where both learners and instructors use open content to create, edit, and engage in authentic learning experiences targeting individual learner growth. According to Reigeluth et al. (2017), "The goal of studentcentered pedagogies is to enable transformative learning experiences and produce creative, selfdirected graduates" (p. 394). The creation process of instructors and learners engaging in OER products encourages a culture of participation and offers opportunities for innovation and creativity, as well as the refinement of products (Allen & Katz, 2019). This process of open, cocreation should use OER-enabled pedagogy, called OEP, through Wiley's 5Rs to further the discovery learning of each individual learner (Wiley & Hilton, 2018). The learner-centered environment creates a peer-production contributory community through Creative Commons licensing and internet accessibility that was not available twenty years ago (Brons, 2017). The result is a dispersed marketplace, where OER and OEP live in pockets, but have yet to receive standardized practice or adoption for the learner-centered environment (Baas et al., 2019; Hood & Littlejohn, 2017; Kaatrakoski et al., 2017; Littlejohn & Hood, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2016, 2019; Otto, 2019).

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the way that higher education faculty are thinking about digital resources, online learning, and OER and OEP. Stracke et al. (2022) reported that an unintended consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic was the exposure to the potential benefit of distance and eLearning presented to educators, stakeholders, students, and policymakers. Higher education being thrust into digital learning had many in higher education curating online resources, creating a surge in the use of OER, mixed collections, and collaborative and created materials by students and faculty (Seaman & Seaman, 2022). This acceleration of migration to digital learning has created an opportunity for new users and seasoned practitioner-creators in higher education to collaborate, share, and create (Bessette, 2020; Cavanaugh, C., & DeWees, 2020; Davidson et al., 2021). However, the contrast between the population of those higher education faculty who implement OER in the classroom compared with those who are only aware of OER is a meager 30% (Seaman & Seaman, 2022). The acceleration of higher education into the digital space due to the COVID-19 pandemic marks a significant way forward in the diffusion of OER and OEP, yet continues to remain a mere footnote in the larger pedagogical approach of faculty in the United States.

### Summary

Open education expanded in the 21st-century learning space but remained largely untapped and lacked full diffusion into higher education in the United States (Braddlee & VanScoy, 2019). Research proved the cost-saving of open textbooks to end-users, but the cost to fund these initiatives, as well as sustain them continued to raise issues despite millions of dollars in grant money from state governments (Elder et al., 2020; SPARC, 2021). A majority of faculty expressed favorable perceptions towards OER, but cultural and practical barriers, such as time to create, copyright concerns, and barriers to tenure, prevented creation and implementation at scale (Martin & Kimmons, 2020). A current trend in research has shifted from the investigation of openness in education as artifacts to openness as a process or practice (Tur et al., 2020). As such, investigations into the use of OEP and its effect on student learning outcomes emerged recently, but the theoretical support for OEP has been discussed and advocated previously (Tillinghast et al., 2020). This trend investigated the learning outcomes for students, but an examination into the perceptions of those who are creating and using OER and OEP, despite the challenges, still exists as a gap in the literature. The collaborative nature of education, especially the digital nature of open education over the internet, should examine the exemplary individuals who have persisted despite barriers as trailblazers to be replicated. The collaborative nature of OER and OEP could allow further development of distributed and delegated workload of rigorous education over the internet by investigating successful cases of OER creation and OEP implementation to discover what works, what does not work, and how to mitigate the barriers to OER and OEP in higher education.

### **CHAPTER THREE: METHODS**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this hermeneutic phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of open educational resources (OER) and open educational practices (OEP) in United States (U.S.) higher education institutions. This chapter examines various aspects of this hermeneutic phenomenological study, including support for the decision to use the phenomenological approach and its alignment to the research questions. The phenomenological research design is examined and a revisit of the research questions, a description of the general setting of this study, and the participants for this qualitative research study follow. Next, the detailing of procedures of this study are outlined and followed by the researcher positionality, including the researcher's role in a hermeneutic phenomenology study. Following these sections are the data collection and data analysis sections that are written for transparency and replication. A section of the methods and rationale of trustworthiness of this study, as well as ethical considerations, are detailed, with this chapter concluding with a summary.

### **Research Design**

Researchers noted that various obstacles have impeded higher education faculty to adopt, adapt, create, and otherwise implement OER and OEP (Annand & Jenson, 2017; Fischer et al., 2020; Hilton, 2020; Jung et al., 2017; Kaatrakoski et al., 2016; Kimmons, 2021; Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019; Wiley, 2021; Wiley et al., 2014). However, these obstacles have generally centered around required textbook costs (Fischer et al., 2020; Hilton, 2020; Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018; Spilovoy et al., 2020; Wiley, 2021), leaving gaps in the research, such as the pedagogical impact of OER and OEP (Clinton-Lisell, 2021; Grimaldi et al.,

2019; Kimmons, 2016). The identified awareness and growing adoption of OER among higher education faculty (Seaman & Seaman, 2022) created an interesting question of why higher education faculty are creating OER and using OEP despite the identified challenges or barriers. Creswell and Poth (2018) commented that qualitative research is conducted when a detailed understanding of the issue needs to be explored and report findings in a flexible style suited to describe the data. Exploration of the lived experience of creator-practitioners who implement OER and OEP fits this description of flexible style due to the lack of direct research for this topic. Moustakas (1994) and van Manen (2014) both asserted that the goal of phenomenological research is to determine the experience of those involved in the phenomenon and place special emphasis on deriving meaning from these experiences. Aligned with this definition of phenomenology, this study aimed to investigate the shared experience of the creation of OER and the use of OEP in higher education despite identified obstacles.

This study was designed to use the qualitative approach to explore the lived experiences of participants who have created OER and use OEP in their courses in U.S. higher education. A qualitative approach is an appropriate method to explore the lived experiences of creatorpractitioners because of its flexibility to explore a variety of data and uncover the emergent themes as described by those who are experiencing the phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Phenomenology is most appropriate for this study because of its investigatory nature of the common phenomenon, or theme, of persistence of creation and pedagogy despite a lack of diffusion and cultural obstacles in higher education. The niche and emergent nature of the identified literature and research gap lent itself to the hermeneutical phenomenology as an appropriate approach. This approach is designed to allow the participants to guide the data as well as allow the researcher the leeway to interpret the data using coding.

Phenomenology has been a term used as early as 1765 in philosophy but was formally defined and had technical meaning built with Hegel (Moustakas, 1994). In the transcendental approach of phenomenology, Husserl was influenced by Descartes to employ epoché and take a reductionist approach to produce empirical evidence before interpretive, intuitive, and essential knowledge was examined (Moustakas, 1994). With an emphasis on description, the method of phenomenology, especially transcendental phenomenology, was adopted by various disciplines throughout the sciences in the 20th century (van Manen, 2014). In recent times, phenomenology has become an umbrella term to describe the lived experience, but many times lacks the philosophical heart of describing the phenomenon itself (van Manen, 2017). In comparison to Husserl's ideas of descriptive, or transcendental, a phenomenology that emphasizes epoché and reductionism (Moustakas, 1994), Heidegger wanted the researcher and participants to use their perspective and history to give meaning and interpretation to the experienced phenomenon in an interpretive, or hermeneutical, phenomenological approach (Guignon, 2012; Neubauer et al., 2019). The hermeneutical approach spread from Heidegger to his student, Gadamer, in the 19th century and from Gadamer to contemporaries throughout the 20th century (Neubauer et al., 2019). Bynum and Varpio (2018) described the hermeneutical approach as purposefully embedding the researcher's past experiences and knowledge as a critical part of the interpretive process, openly reflecting upon their subjectivity during data collection and analysis. Still emphasizing the phenomenon of the lived, human experience, the hermeneutic approach to phenomenology embraces the *lifeworld* that each person's lived experience perspective brings to the phenomenon, placing an emphasis on each human experience as interpretive in contrast to the reduced origin of the phenomenon itself (Neubauer et al., 2019).

Despite the differences in data interpretation between hermeneutic and transcendental phenomenology (Eddles-Hirsch, 2015), both approaches to phenomenological research include four key characteristics: description, reduction and bracketing, imaginative variation, and essence (Moustakas, 1994; van Manen, 2014). The description, the recording, and data collection of the prereflective phenomenon, is both the most challenging and necessary part of the phenomenological study (Eddles-Hirsch, 2015; Moustakas, 1994). The interview is a key part of the description, used for understanding the prereflective experience of the phenomenon, but van Manen (2014) also noted that the phenomenon can be captured in several ways, such as art, video, and artifacts. Van Manen commented that the phenomenological interview is challenging, citing the need for the interviewee to describe the phenomenon in a prereflective manner and for the interviewer to keep the conversation towards that prereflective reporting. The interview, or other methods of data gathering, helps describe the phenomenon as best it can, but the researcher must bracket their own commentary when gathering data and coding. Although transcendental phenomenology studies will keep their bracketing, or epoché, through the writing stage, van Manen contended that bracketing serves the purpose of getting as close to the phenomenon in prereflection as possible. Once coded, the imaginative variation allows the hermeneutic researcher to use their interpretive skills to uncover the structural themes of the phenomenon reported (Eddles-Hirsch, 2015; van Manen, 2014). Lastly, the researcher develops the essence of the phenomenon to be described in the study report. Van Manen also commented that the researcher will need to develop a sense of wonder and shared experience through hermeneutic writing expressive of the reflective journey in which the researcher has engaged.

This study was the investigation of lived experiences of the use of OER and OEP in higher education in the United States, and collected the prereflective lived experiences of use that allowed or created obstacles that are ignored in the creation of OER and the use of OEP. Collecting prereflective lived experiences seems oxymoronic; however, this study was well suited for phenomenology because its focus was the use by those who engage in OER and OEP, and not the commentary or opinions of the product (i.e., the OER product itself or the OEP classroom impact). The exploration of the lived experiences of expertise is a complicated topic and the research design for this qualitative study was selected as hermeneutic phenomenology as prescribed by van Manen (2014).

## **Research Questions**

The research questions were designed to investigate the central phenomenon of the creation of OER materials and the use of OEP pedagogy despite identified obstacles in higher education in the United States. The questions were framed in the constructivist approach, aimed to understand how individual creator-practitioners use OER and OEP. The research questions were further justified and linked with the interview questions presented later in this chapter.

# **Central Research Question**

How do creator-practitioners in higher education in the United States perceive their use of OER and OEP?

## **Sub-Question One**

What challenges/benefits do creator-practitioners encounter from OER creation?

# **Sub-Question Two**

What challenges/benefits do creator-practitioners encounter from OEP usage?

# **Sub-Question Three**

How do creator-practitioners make decisions on what OER to create?

#### **Sub-Question Four**

How do creator-practitioners make decisions on how to incorporate OEP?

# **Setting and Participants**

For this study, digital video conference technology (e.g., Microsoft Teams) and the decentralized, digital nature of OER allowed for participants to be selected from multiple institutions from various locations in the U.S. Creswell and Poth (2018) commented that phenomenological studies do not necessarily need to be at a single site; instead, the articulation of the lived experience is more important for the selection of participants than a single site. The site and participant selection rationale and justifications for this hermeneutic phenomenological study are detailed in the following sections.

# Setting

Seaman and Seaman (2021) reported that between 2015-16 and 2019-20, the use of OER as a required material in higher education in the U.S. grew from 5% to 15%. However, Spilovoy et al. (2020) indicated that while awareness and acceptance of OER are growing, many individuals and institutions in higher education continue to be unfamiliar with them. Despite this lack of awareness of OER, the number of faculty in higher education teaching online doubled in the fall of 2020 due to COVID-19 (Seaman & Seaman, 2021). Opposed to studies that focus on particular sites, such as OEP through the use of OER of higher education sites (Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019), textbook affordability using OER at higher education sites (Bazeley et al., 2019) or national repository systems (Otto, 2019), the decentralized nature of this setting was appropriate for this study because those who used their expertise in the creation and use of OER are active online without particular or required connection to any exclusive institution or organization. The growing online presence of faculty in higher education, combined with the growth in the use of OER, provided an opportunity to connect with various participants from

multiple institutions around the U.S. who share in the lived experience of the combination of the creation OER and the use of OEP.

Creswell and Guetterman (2019) suggested that qualitative research should have a small number of participants to focus on each individual's experience. A single-institution site would have limited the ability of this study to be properly conducted due to the limited nature of OER creation, adoption, and use. Using the digital space setting to study the environment in which this phenomenon was occurring was most appropriate for insight into the phenomenon itself, as well as transferability to other groups of experts operating in this same space.

## **Participants**

Participants in this study included educators in higher education institutions in the U.S. who have created and used OER materials for their course(s) for at least one academic term. Participants for this study were not bound by age, ethnicity, gender, or other demographic metrics due to the digital nature and criteria related to experience and profession as opposed to demographic requirements. Maximum variation was targeted for this study as a means to represent multiple perspectives from diverse backgrounds (Creswell & Guetterman, 2019).

Creswell and Guetterman (2019) commented that purposeful sampling is intentionally chosen by the researcher to study the identified central phenomenon. Patton (2015) added that the standard in choosing sites for purposeful sampling is whether or not the site is information rich. As such, participants for this study who engage in OER were purposefully selected online for this study. In addition to the identification and recruitment of participants through purposeful sampling, the use of criterion sampling in this phenomenological study allowed for a level of quality control for those who speak to the phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Additionally, if participants for the study became problematic in the initial search by the researcher, Creswell and Poth contended that snowball, or chain, sampling can identify further individuals who are experts in the phenomenon. Snowball sampling aided in providing identification of peers and colleagues also engaged in this phenomenon to further the sampling pool and potential participants.

### **Researcher Positionality**

Transcendental phenomenology requires the researcher to maintain epoché throughout the study (Moustakas, 1994), but Heidegger's notion of hermeneutic phenomenology recognizes that the researcher's *lifeworld* is a valuable guide to inquiry (Neubauer et al., 2019). Neubauer et al. expanded upon the subjective nature of hermeneutic phenomenology by stating, "It is the researcher's education and knowledge base that led him/her to consider a phenomenon or experience worthy of investigation" (p. 95). As a former teacher and currently learning and development professional, I have been creating and using OER in my courses and workload for the past eight years. My passion for creating OER led me to pursue a doctoral degree in instructional design and technology with the goal of becoming more effective and purposeful in the design and development of learning materials, courses, and resources. In the following sections, I detail the interpretive framework, philosophical assumptions, and my role as a researcher in this phenomenological study.

### **Interpretive Framework**

The interpretive framework used for this study is social constructivism. Social constructivism is the idea that individuals seek an understanding of their world, subjectively constructing their views (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The *social* part of social constructivism is the historical and socio-cultural dimensions to the subjective construction of an individual's views through experiences such as shared understandings, practices, language, and experiences

(Schwandt, 2007). From the researcher's perspective, social constructivist research seeks to understand the participant's world in which they live and work, as well as interprets participants' construction of meaning in their account (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This framework aligned with the phenomenological method and this study in that the aim of this study was to understand the lived experiences of the participants and how they have constructed meaning of value through their interactions with OER and OEP.

### **Philosophical Assumptions**

The interpretive framework that guided this study was social constructivism, which influenced the philosophical assumptions of ontology, epistemology, and axiology. In social constructivism the meanings of the world are varied and multiple, subjectively constructed by individuals, and lead researchers to search for the complexity of views as opposed to categorized meanings that are narrow (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Related to this study, social constructivism provided the basis for examining the lived experiences of multiple participants to better understand the essence of the phenomenon. In the following sections, the ontological, epistemological, and axiological assumptions related to this study are explored.

# **Ontological Assumption**

According to Creswell and Poth (2018), the social constructivist view of ontological assumptions is such that "multiple realities are constructed through our lived experiences and interactions with others" (p. 35). This nature of reality asserts that individuals subjectively construct their own reality through their experiences, but especially through the lens of sociocultural interactions (Schwandt, 2007). This assumption was beneficial in this study, as it aligned with van Manen's (2014) view of phenomenological reduction. In van Manen's reduction, the researcher must use epoché to suspend natural attitudes and attitudes of science, as

well as use reduction to bracket the researcher's assumptions, essentially suspending the assumptions to objectively analyze the qualitative data. Essentially, the hermeneutic phenomenological researcher must suspend their own subjective constructed view of the world to get to the essence of the phenomenon. The ontological assumption in this study was that each individual experienced and viewed the phenomenon in their own, subjective perspective. These perspectives aided in the development of the essence of the phenomenon by reverse-engineering the subjective experiences of the participants.

#### **Epistemological Assumption**

Creswell and Poth (2018) summarized the social constructivist view of epistemological assumptions by stating, "Reality is constructed between the researcher and the researched and shaped by individual experiences" (p. 35). Similar to Schwandt's (2007) assertion that sociocultural influences affect the subjective worldview of participants, the epistemological assumption is a belief that the interaction between the researcher and participants of a qualitative study is an intimate one that affects this sociocultural influence of each side's worldview (Creswell & Poth, 2018). In hermeneutical phenomenology, this closeness of the relationship worked as both a positive aspect to build rapport and fully explore the phenomenon, and as a challenge to continuously work towards epoché and reduction (van Manen, 2014). In this study, it was important to build rapport with participants to fully explore their experiences as data and strive for epoché and reduction to justify the claims of the participants towards the descriptive essence.

## **Axiological Assumption**

Creswell and Poth (2018) noted, "Individual values are honored and are negotiated among individuals" (p. 35) when referring to the social constructivist view of axiological assumptions. In the context of social constructivism, the subjective worldviews of the researcher and participants are both valued and negotiated through interaction (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This assumption is critical in hermeneutic phenomenology, where the researcher must self-reflect to both identify their assumptions and to engage epoché and bracketing of those assumptions (van Manen, 2014).

# **Researcher's Role**

Van Manen (2014) described the differences in transcendental thought and hermeneutic thought between Husserl and Heidegger: "While Husserl steps out of the world to grasp the meaning from above, Heidegger stays in the world of beings to understand their modes of being from within the world" (p. 220). My role as a researcher was shaped by Heidegger's interpretation of having the perspective from the researcher's *lifeworld* to make sense of the studied phenomenon. As an educator and learning and development professional, I had created, adopted, remixed, and used OER and OEP in advanced placement, college prep, and elective courses, as well as corporate professional development and resources for the past eight years. I did not have experience in higher education, but my familiarity and passion for OER and OEP reflected a context from which to interpret the lived experiences of the participants. Hermeneutic phenomenology relies on the researcher's experiences to interpret what is being revealed through research (van Manen, 2014). I did not adhere to Husserl's interpretation, in trying to transcend the world and its viewpoints, but rather acknowledging and making sense contextually of the phenomenon while trying to bracket out biases and reducing the phenomenon to its essence (van Manen, 2014). Although my perspective played a key role in the interpretation of this hermeneutic phenomenological study, I did not have previous experience with any of the participants of this study in any capacity.

## Procedures

Prior to any procedure, recruitment, and data collection, the proposal was successfully defended and Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval was secured (Appendix A). After successfully defending the proposal and securing IRB approval, the recruitment of participants began. The 11 participants were recruited via criterion sampling, ensuring the use, familiarity, and expertise related to OER and OEP necessary to investigate the phenomenon of this study fully. The permissions and recruitment process are further detailed in the following sections.

After the return of the consent forms (Appendix B), participants were asked to fill out the journal prompts (Appendix C) and send an OER artifact via email. The journal prompts asked participants to express their lived experience of using OER and OEP. Both the journals and artifacts were collected before the semi-structured interview to provide more context to the researcher and maximize use of the 30-60 minutes of the interview. Lastly, after collecting journal entries and artifacts, interviews via Microsoft Teams were scheduled with the participants. Interviews were conducted via Microsoft Teams due to the geographical distances between U.S. participants that prohibited face-to-face interviews. These semi-structured interviews were conducted for 30-60 minutes in an informal setting to build rapport and use conversational style language. Using a conversational approach allowed the interviewee to express their experience of the phenomenon while trying to avoid steering the conversation (van Manen, 2014). Data analysis was ongoing throughout this process, following van Manen's (1990, 2014) prescription of hermeneutic phenomenology data analysis.

### Permissions

Liberty University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval to conduct this phenomenological study may be found in Appendix A. No site permissions were necessary due

69

to the digital, decentralized nature of this study. Participants voluntarily completed a screening survey at which time they were provided study requirements and time commitment estimates. After completing the screening survey and being identified as a prospect for the study, the prospect was emailed the study consent form, journal entries, and artifact submission instructions to review the study fully. If the prospect elected to continue with the study, they signed the consent form (Appendix B) and returned it to the researcher. Participants were instructed to begin the journal entries and artifact submission process after they sent in their consent form to begin the process immediately. Confirming prospect willingness and commitment, after explanations and expectations were provided and any questions were answered was crucial to securing full consent and building rapport with participants.

# **Recruitment Plan**

After IRB approval, participants were identified through snowball networking, connecting with faculty engaged in OER and OEP research, through networking in OER and OEP social media (e.g. LinkedIn, Facebook, and Twitter) and professional groups (e.g. the Global OER Graduate Network (GO-GN) and Creative Commons Certification Alumni), and targeted searches for faculty who use OER and OEP through social media communities dedicated to professional growth around open education. Recruitment for this study also included advertising on social media and via snowball sampling from recommendations of those who engage in OER and/or OEP. Identified participants who met the criteria were contacted through readily available contact avenues which will include social media messaging. Each participant was informed of the nature of the study formally through a screening survey, email explanation, full review of the consent form, journal entries, and artifact submission instructions. After participants signed and returned the informed consent form agreeing to participate in this study, participants began journal entries, identified artifacts to submit, and were informed of the timeline in which the semi-structured interviews were scheduled, which was approximately two weeks from the return of their consent form. Additional email communications were used as necessary to follow up on questions related to the journal entries, artifact submissions, and the interview process.

# **Data Collection Plan**

This qualitative study collected data to explore the phenomenon of the lived experiences of OER and OEP in U.S. higher education institutions. For the purposes of triangulation, three data collection methods were employed: participant journaling, artifact analysis, and the semistructured interview. As a hermeneutic phenomenological study, the interview process was at the heart of gathering information on the phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Participant journaling occurred first in the data collection process, which allowed both the participant and the researcher to examine points of curiosity and focus as a setup for the semi-structured interview. Similarly, participants were asked to submit OER artifacts for analysis before the interview process. Between the journal prompts and the artifacts, the semi-structured interviews had more options to discuss specifics of the phenomenon. The interviews were conducted last, after the journal prompts and artifacts had been collected from the participants. Critical to the coding of this study, the prompt scheduling, recording, and transcribing of the semi-structured interview led to the conclusion on possible follow-up interviews or continuation straight to the final data collection piece. Triangulation, a technique used to check the integrity of the claims the researcher draws from one data point and method through the use of two other methods, was used to establish the validity of claims from data collection (Schwandt, 2007).

#### **Journal Prompts**

The purpose of the journal prompts, found in Appendix C, was to allow participants the ability to reflect and write as close to prereflective experiences as possible (van Manen, 2014). These prompts were given as a data point in triangulation that allowed for fuller preparation, reflection, and answering, compared to interview questions. Although writing without commentary was difficult, the ability to give adequate time for participants to reflect upon their experiences and articulate them is valuable to further explore the phenomenon both as a setup and beyond the interview (van Manen, 2014). Journal prompts were sent digitally to participants with the consent form so that participants could immediately engage in the prompts. These prompts were designed to target usage of OER and OEP along with reflection of use over a two-week time period. Once completed, the participants sent their digital copies of the journal prompts to the researcher via email. These journal prompts were designed similar to the open-ended nature of qualitative semi-structured interview questions to maximize user experience commentary with as little bias and steering as possible (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

### Journal Prompts Data Analysis Plan

The researcher analyzed the journal prompts (Appendix C) by using van Manen's (1990, 2014) data analysis framework for hermeneutical phenomenology and through the qualitative research software MAXQDA. Before analyzing the journal entries, the researcher engaged in epoché and bracketing (van Manen, 2014). The suspension of assumptions allowed reflection of the reported experience by the participant. This purposeful reflection isolated thematic statements through holistic, selective, and detailed approaches (van Manen, 1990, 2014). The four aspects of the participant's *lifeworld* were taken into consideration when themes were analyzed and clustered (van Manen, 1990). Essential and incidental themes were categorized and supported the ability to describe the phenomenon (van Manen, 1990, 2014). These aspects were

categorized and analyzed through the MAXQDA software to ensure an expedient and efficient analysis process of journal entry data.

### **Artifact Analysis**

The second data collection point for this study was artifact analysis. The heart of this study is the phenomenon of the lived experiences of the use of OER and OEP, and participants were asked to produce participant-generated materials at the same time as they received the consent form and journal prompts. I requested that participants provide participant-generated OER digital materials via email to be submitted either before or at the same time as completion of the journal prompts. These materials included course reference materials, course notes, course content aids (e.g., checklists, organizers), course presentation materials, course guiding documents (e.g., web quests, instructional guides to activities), course assessments (e.g., rubrics), and other materials that related to OER generated materials. This phenomenon was not simply the lived experiences of the participants, but, as van Manen (2014) contended, there are several different aspects and mediums to investigate to further pursue phenomenological research. These artifacts provided another aspect to investigate participant perception.

The collection and analysis of these digital documents demonstrated the perception of the participants through how they produced these digital documents. This data collection and analysis were framed through the major frameworks for the anticipated approaches of OER material: (a) adopted materials, (b) participant-created works, and (c) learner-centered instructional guidance works. These three frameworks were used to determine how to best examine artifacts that may or may not pertain to any of the three frameworks. These artifacts were examined for document history (e.g., collaborative edits), direct use, evolution over time,

and the content decisions for creation. Documents were requested, collected, and sorted in the digital space through ongoing communication with the participants.

### Artifact Analysis Data Analysis Plan

The artifacts were analyzed by using van Manen's (1990, 2014) data analysis framework for hermeneutical phenomenology alongside OER research frameworks. Specifically, I used Cox and Trotter's (2017) OER adoption pyramid to examine adopted aspects of the artifacts and Vygotsky's (1978) ZPD for the level of learner-centered instructional guidance for the artifacts. Cox and Trotter's OER adoption pyramid presented six levels of OER adoption and included the possibility of the individual or the institution to be an agent of OER adoption. These six levels framed the adoption sophistication of the artifacts submitted. Vygotsky's ZPD included elements of learning theory related to collaborative learning and growth. The artifacts were analyzed using these combined approaches to further examine how these artifacts lent themselves to OEP best practices.

Similar to analyzing the journal prompts, the researcher must engage in epoché and bracketing before analyzing the artifacts (van Manen, 2014). Where necessary, the qualitative research software MAXQDA was used to analyze qualitative works more efficiently and effectively. The suspension of assumptions allowed reflection of the reported experiences by the participants (van Manen, 1990, 2014). This purposeful reflection isolated thematic statements through the holistic, selective, and detailed approaches (van Manen, 1990, 2014). The four aspects of the participant's *lifeworld* were taken into consideration when themes were analyzed and clustered (van Manen, 1990). Essential and incidental themes were categorized supporting the ability to describe the phenomenon (van Manen, 1990, 2014).

### **Semi-Structured Interviews**

74

The interview is the key data collection method of phenomenology (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Moustakas, 1994). The semi-structured interview for this study included 12 open-ended questions in order to allow the phenomenon to reveal itself (Moustakas, 1994; van Manen, 2014). Both Creswell and Poth and van Manen emphasized the importance of recording and transcribing the interview for proper analysis and coding to get to the heart of the phenomenon through the lived experiences of the interviewees. Interviews are appropriate in the hermeneutic approach because they seek the lived experience of the individual experiencing the phenomenon, providing the opportunity to dynamically explore the interviewee's experience.

Microsoft Teams interviews were conducted with participants due to their scattered geographic locations throughout the U.S. Part of the phenomenological interview process includes gaining rapport with the interviewee, developing a relationship of friendliness and comfort to allow for the full extent of the phenomenon to be explored and become accessible (van Manen, 2014). The semi-structured interviews were given a timeframe of 30-60 minutes to properly plan and respect the time of the participants, especially those in different time zones compared to my own. The Microsoft Teams platform has a recording function that I used during the semi-structured interviews; however, to ensure accuracy and allow for further analysis after transcription (Creswell & Poth, 2018), I also recorded the interviews with a physical audio recorder (with permission from the interviewees). Pseudonyms for participants and their organization(s) were used.

### Semi-Structured Interview Questions

The interview is a defining feature of qualitative research (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Van Manen (2014) commented that the point of the phenomenological interview is to gather prereflective experiential accounts necessary to formulate a description of the essence of the

phenomenon. However, experiential accounts from participants in phenomenological interviews typically come with lived meanings or interpretations, creating challenges for participants to describe the experience without commentary. Van Manen asserted that reflecting on the meanings of the phenomenon is a necessary goal of the phenomenological interview. The collection of the account of the human experience was a critical element to this goal.

Van Manen (2014) commented that the interview should take place in a comfortable environment that builds rapport, does not rush, is driven by wonder, and allows the conversation to come back to the research questions. This comfortable interview environment is best planned by proper preparation on the part of the interviewer; a well-managed interview is more likely to produce data related to the research questions and avoids speculation, overinterpretation, or overreliance on personal opinions (van Manen, 2014, 2017). In pursuit of proper preparation, a list of interview questions, their appropriate links to the research questions, and their justifications of use are detailed as follows.

- 1. Please introduce yourself, your current role, your expertise in [content/subject] and how you came to use OER and OEP. (CRQ)
- 2. Please describe your experience in using open educational resources (OER). (CRQ)
- Please describe your experience in implementing open educational practices (OEP).
   (CRQ)
- 4. Please describe how you view your expertise in [content/subject]. (CRQ)
- 5. Please describe what challenges/benefits you view from the use of OER (SQ1)
- 6. Please describe your decision-making process in creating OER. (SQ3)
- How have different factors [e.g., people, ideas, or events] affected your perception of your created OER? (SQ3)

- 8. Please describe what challenges/benefits you view from the use of OEP. (SQ2)
- 9. Please describe your decision-making process in implementing OEP. (SQ4)
- 10. How have different factors [e.g., people, ideas, or events] affected your perception of the value of your implemented OEP? (**SQ4**)
- 11. How has your experience as an expert in [content/subject] changed due to OER and OEP, if at all? (CRQ)
- 12. We have covered a lot of ground in our conversation, and I appreciate the time you have given to this. One final question: What else do you think would be important for me to know about your views on the use of OER and OEP? (**CRQ**)

Question 1 served as a mechanism to build rapport with the participant (Creswell & Poth, 2018) and it also began the examination of the phenomenon (van Manen, 2014). Gadamer, (1960, 1975) commented that participants' experiential stories come with meaning and perspective, which enhance the novelty of the participant's *lifeworld* and subjectivity. This subjectivity was important to note as part of the full experience being explored in this study. Spilovoy et al. (2020) commented that awareness of OER is the most important factor for the probability of OER adoption, and the participant's background serves as a concrete understanding of the inspiration for engagement in OER.

Questions 2 and 3 further examined the lived experiences of the participant as they relate to the phenomenon (van Manen, 2014). Belikov and Bodily (2016) reported that higher education faculty needed more information to comfortably adopt and use OER, and the experiences of the participant examined their perceptions of using OER despite other colleagues' hesitations. Although OER and OEP have been reported to be viewed favorably with students and faculty (Clinton-Lisell, 2021; Hilton, 2020; Hilton et al., 2019), there continues to be a lack of diffusion into practice in higher education (Kimmons, 2021). The experiences of the participants in the current study provided an important understanding of how OER and OEP implementation in higher education took place.

Questions 4 and 5 aligned with the first sub-question, which explored the topic of expertise and countered with challenges/benefits. Expertise and value may be investigated in a variety of ways, and the open nature of questions 4 and 5 provided opportunities for participants to describe their experience without being led (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Lincoln and Guba (1980) commented that value may be evaluated through merit, which is context-free, or it may be evaluated through worth, which is determined in an actual context. the exploration of value, as perceived by the participants, explored these different aspects of value. Beyond these general aspects of value, Fischer et al. (2020) reported that the primary factors for OER adoption included (a) cost savings, (b) pedagogical benefit and customization, (c) easy access for students and faculty, and (d) up-to-date materials. Each of these factors had a different aspect of value to them: financial value, pedagogical value, ease of use value, and time value. Kivunja (2014) reported the value of 21st century productive learners, further exploring which aspect of pedagogical value was placed on OER and OEP. The lived experience of the value of expertise and the value of OER creation had the potential to provide insightful data into how educators are experiencing this phenomenon.

Question 6 explored the process of OER creation. Guba and Lincoln (1982) commented that a needs assessment must be rooted in the following values: (a) identification and operation of the target state of ideals and norms, (b) the identification between target and actual states, (c) benefits of the process of intervention, and (d) standards for evaluation of the intervention. This needs assessment was the beginning of instructional design cycles that took into consideration

78

which interventions should be applied to an identified need or gap (Brown & Green, 2020). However, instructional design creation of interventions through OER can be viewed as an advanced step for higher education (Martin, 2019). OER creation can be seen as the fourth step of OER use: first is OER awareness (Seaman & Seaman, 2020), next is OER acceptance (Kaatrakoski et al., 2016; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019), third is OER use (Hilton, 2020), and finally OER creation (Martin & Kimmons, 2019). Higher education faculty reported favorable perceptions (Jung et al., 2017), and noted the benefits of engaging in OER, both through the creation and engagment in a community(Littlejohn & Hood, 2017; Martin & Kimmons, 2019). However, Martin and Kimmons reported that although higher education faculty were willing to engage in OER creation, the actual engagement of OER creation was difficult, as noted by the authors: "When they actually engaged in the process of finding, remixing, and creating OER, they met with a variety of unexpected technical barriers that slowed, discouraged, or altogether stopped them" (p. 141). While perceptions may be favorable, this question sought to understand if expertise and value played a factor in the participants' decisions regarding what to create and to what depth to create OER.

Question 7 explored the specific experiences and perceptions of the participants regarding the use of OER and how different factors affected their perceptions of use. Despite the advocated advantages of OER, there continues to be a lack of diffusion of the use of OER in higher education (Kimmons, 2021). Cultural and institutional challenges regarding perception, rigor, and value to OER adoption and use, as well as concerns dealing with both financial and time sustainability, have been identified as major barriers to OER adoption and use (Baas et al., 2019; Kaatrokoski et al., 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019; Ren, 2019; Seaman & Seaman, 2022; Tlili et al., 2020). Reports of OER initiatives, professional learning network supports, and OER awareness have all been reported in the encouragement and adoption of OER and OEP (Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018; Littlejohn & Pegler, 2014; Seaman & Seaman, 2022; Spilovoy, 2021). The exploration of interviewee responses regarding how identified factors affect the content and scope of OER creation was valuable in understanding how what is of value transfers from belief to the product (i.e., the OER created resource).

Questions 8, 9, and 10 had a similar aim as question 7 but applied to OEP. Students have favorable perceptions of some types of OEP in higher education (Hilton et al., 2020), but the lack of a unified definition of OEP creates confusion in research (Wiley & Hilton, 2018; Witt, 2020). This lack of a unified definition has compelled some researchers to put forth their own frameworks of OEP (Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). Regardless of a standard definition, the assertion that in order for educators to maximize the opportunities that OER presents, they should not only adopt OEP (Hood & Littlejohn, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2016; Wiley & Hilton, 2018), but also acknowledge that they would face challenges in adoption from individuals, groups, and/or institutions (Kaatrakoski et al., 2016; Littlejohn & Hood, 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019). This exploration sought to understand how different factors and perceptions of value have affected the use of OEP by participants.

Questions 11 and 12 were wrap-up questions. Hermeneutic phenomenology engages unique experiences, influenced by both the participant and researcher. Although preparation more likely led to favorable outcomes in the phenomenological interview (van Manen, 2014), the unknown of the exploration was what gives phenomenology its purpose as a qualitative research design (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The mindset of wonder (van Manen, 2014), along with openness to allow the interview to guide the exploration as a matter of trusting the process (Smythe & Spence, 2020), are important parts of epoché and bracketing necessary for a successful phenomenological study. Specifically, in these two questions, the unstructured part of the semi-structured interview allowed the participant and researcher to explore the phenomenon beyond the scope of the prepared questions.

# Semi-Structured Interview Data Analysis Plan

The semi-structured interviews were recorded and transcribed by a transcription service. After being transcribed, the semi-structured interview transcripts were analyzed by van Manen's (1990, 2014) data analysis framework for hermeneutical phenomenology. Before engaging in the semi-structured interview, the researcher engaged in epoché, what Husserl described as the suspension of natural attitudes and the attitude of science (van Manen, 2014). Epoché was paired with bracketing, where the researcher had put various assumptions into "brackets" as in mathematics, which keeps bracketed operations separate from those outside of the brackets (van Manen, 2014). The suspension of assumptions allowed reflection of the reported experience by the participant: the goal of phenomenology is not to solve the experience, but instead, try to reduce the essence of the phenomenon reported (van Manen, 1990, 2014). This reflection was part of conducting thematic analysis on the transcribed semi-structured interviews, where themes of reported experiences can be understood as "structures of experience" (van Manen, 1990, p. 79). The isolation of thematic statements found in the transcribed interviews were uncovered through three approaches: (a) the holistic approach, (b) the selective approach, or (c) the detailed approach (van Manen, 1990). For the analysis of the transcribed interviews, each approach was to be taken in a serial manner. First, a holistic approach was used, followed by selective, and, finally, a detailed approach was the third and final approach. In reflecting upon the transcripts for themes, four guides for reflection were considered: (a) lived space, (b) lived body, (c) lived time,

and (d) lived other (van Manen, 1990). These four existences form the *lifeworld* through which participants experience the phenomenon (van Manen, 1990).

Highlighted themes were organized around the broad categories of incidental and essential themes. In determining essential themes, van Manen (1990) commented "In determining the universal or essential quality of a theme our concern is to discover aspects or qualities that make a phenomenon what it is and without which the phenomenon could not be what it is" (p. 107). The reflection of data yielded themes with consideration for the participant's *lifeworld*. These structures were categorized, analyzed, and scrutinized under the guiding question "What is this an example of" (van Manen, 1990, p. 86). The ability to reflect upon or to describe the essence of the phenomenon helped support these structures (van Manen, 2014). These themes yielded data to support the description of the structure of meaning of the lived experience of the phenomenon (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

#### **Data Synthesis**

This hermeneutic phenomenological study used open coding (van Manen, 2014), reading and memoing emergent ideas (Creswell & Poth, 2018), and data triangulation (Schwandt, 2007) to analyze and validate the journal prompts, artifact analysis, and semi-structured interviews. Instead of having predetermined codes, this technique allowed for analysis of the data points and group like-items, creating themes and codes that could be further refined, changed, or eliminated. Several readings of the data were required to continually narrow and refine the themes and coding (van Manen, 2014). The process of open coding included developing a list of significant statements from the data sources (including non-repetitive, non-overlapping statements), broadly organizing these statements into themes, creating a description of *what* (the phenomenon and information about it), creating a description of *how* the experience happened, and writing a composite description of the phenomenon after studying these previous elements (Moustakas, 1994). This process allows the researcher to track the information to see where it is going, with the information leading the researcher to themes with regard to the perspectives of the researcher and the participants (Bynum & Varpio, 2018).

The second technique of data analysis included reading and memoing emergent ideas. This technique is a series of notes and memos that inform about the general characteristics and inspirations of possible ways to frame codes and information gathered from qualitative data points (Creswell & Poth, 2018; van Manen, 2014). This process includes the researcher taking notes while interviewing, reading, and analyzing documents to sketch reflective thinking, and summarizes field notes to capture thoughts, visualizations, and general thinking and feeling from research (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This technique follows van Manen's idea of phenomenological reflection, where the researcher is trying to capture the essential meaning of something. This notetaking and reflection are practices that enable the researcher to ask the critical question: "What is this an example of?" (van Manen, 2014). This critical reflective piece is a way for the researcher to keep the study's essential questions and essence of the phenomenon at heart to be able to better frame and code the study.

To validate the consistency of the codes and findings of the phenomenon, data triangulation was used to compare the codes from the interviews, surveys, and document analysis (Schwandt, 2007). This comparison follows phenomenological best practice, where the researcher bracketed his preconceived notions to allow the phenomenon to present itself (Moustakas, 1994; van Manen, 2014). Although the hermeneutic approach of phenomenology leaned on the researcher's own interpretation (Guignon, 2012), the data collection of the human experience was analyzed as it was told first (van Manen, 2014). Open coding, memoing and journaling, and consistency checks through data triangulation allowed for the composite of this study to be compiled and written. Van Manen (2014) commented that phenomenology as the process of writing and the codifying of the human experiences expressed through these three data collection methods will show the phenomenon as lived by the participants.

### Trustworthiness

The design of the phenomenological study was rooted in the interview, of which van Manen (2014) commented that trustworthiness was paramount to the study. The trustworthiness of this study was ensured by employing the use of pseudonyms, memoing, creating a codebook, and completing a digital audit trail for reliability, validation, credibility, and transferability. The following sections detail the procedures and methods for ensuring trustworthiness.

### Credibility

Credibility has been defined by Lincoln and Guba (1985) as the truth of the findings. To enhance the credibility of the findings, presenting evidence of memorization and keeping a codebook allows for transparency, providing a clear representation of both the participant's and the researcher's experience (Bynum & Varpio, 2018; van Manen, 2014). Memoing was a way to synthesize the data points in summary. While there was no standardized procedure for memoing, using an approach that met individual needs seemed the best way to proceed (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Synthesizing the information allowed comparison, correlation, and emergent ideas to present themselves through concept and data synthesis; whether taking points within a set timeframe or over the entirety of the research.

Creating a Word document codebook developed a list of codes such as those identified in the six levels of Cox and Trotter's (2017) OER adoption pyramid. These codes included the six levels that may contain sub-level codes to provide for more categorization. These codes provided descriptions for guardrails and boundaries of the definitions of each code (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This standard of definitions allowed for inter-rater reliability among multiple coders as well as a check on individual coders to meet specific criteria or parameters (Creswell & Poth, 2018). A codebook is a technique that can help keep researchers on track and organized when coding. Both instances provided an insight into the thinking and decision-making of this study.

# Transferability

Transparency in data collection and analysis allows for scrutiny and replicability for future studies. It is important to note that Crowther and Thomson (2020) commented that no two hermeneutic phenomenological studies are the same, creating challenges of standardized measure and rigor for repeatable processes. Gadamer (1968, 2008) commented that hermeneutical phenomenology is always a product of its specific time, place, and people, and the essence is never finalized or concluded causing an evolving understanding of the phenomenon. Additionally, Creswell and Poth (2018) commented that since the focus of this type of qualitative study is on a particular phenomenon, it may also be studied in other qualitative forms as well. However, the coding, memoing, and detail provided for this study will allow others to compare and scrutinize this study using the transferability principles described by Lincoln and Guba (1985). The descriptions and details also provides other researchers with various avenues to explore for future research, whether in higher education in the U.S. or otherwise.

# Dependability

Lincoln and Guba (1985) commented that dependability may be defined as the consistency of findings across both the researcher and over the course of time. To ensure the dependability of this study, a digital audit trail created a catalog of memos that can be retrieved as a database on-demand (Silver & Lewins, 2014). Creswell and Poth (2018) suggested memoing as a validation strategy for the researcher to document their thought process while analyzing the materials over time. Creating memos included writing notes and definitions of the analysis process – journal prompt analysis, artifact analysis, and semi-structured interview transcript analysis – throughout the duration of the analysis process. Seeing the transformation of memos and thinking over time allows the researcher to confirm their decisions and review important information as the investigation continues. The audit worked both as a means to ensure that consistent notes, definitions, and terms were used throughout the entire analysis process, as well as why changes were made when they were made. Memoing was undertaken each day the analysis occurred and used summaries and checks every three sessions to ensure consistency of thought, process, and use of terms and categories. Whether new perspectives or categories better suited the analysis, there was an error made on the part of the researcher, or whether a new way of approaching the analysis would be undertaken, memoing allowed the researcher to ensure a chain of thought and analysis. This was useful for memo coding comparatives and notes as well as a summation of the research over time.

#### Confirmability

Lincoln and Guba (1985) commented that confirmability may be defined as the confidence to which the research can report the perceptions of the participants. To ensure the confirmability of the study, tape recordings of the interviews were created, transcribed, and checked by the researcher to ensure their accuracy and meaning (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This process can be further supported by cross-referencing researcher memos and notes (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

### **Ethical Considerations**

Several ethical considerations were considered and implemented during this study. First and foremost, IRB approval was sought and confirmed before proceeding into any participant search and data collection to ensure ethical practices of the study. Permission from each participant was explained and obtained before data collection commenced. Paramount to any study is the ethical consideration of protecting participants from harm (Creswell & Poth, 2018). This study included avoiding disclosing information that would harm participants and avoiding situations where personally identifiable information (PII) could be exposed. Solutions for these issues included assigning pseudonyms to participants and creating composite participant profiles, avoiding specified clues instances (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Another ethical issue includes the possibility of disclosure of comprehensive findings (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Limited access to analysis procedures and lack of agreement about how findings are presented, as well as siding with participants and disclosure of only positive results are possible ethical considerations. Solutions included using member-checking strategies, opportunities for sharing procedures and results, and presenting multiple perspectives reflective of a complex picture (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Important to mention in this study was the nature of open education and open licensing. Although the spirit of free and open material generation was at the heart of this study, it was my intention to pursue the protection of individual PII and confidentiality as a means of rapport and protection of the participants. The participants were not asked to have their personal data published due to the professional nature of this study. Phenomenological research aims to explain that which is difficult to quantify, especially difficult to express through one medium or in standard prose (van Manen, 2014). This study was about the phenomenon, not the personal information, attributions, or citations of the individuals involved, despite the content and nature of open education and its current movement.

### Summary

This hermeneutic phenomenological study aimed to explore the phenomenon of educators' lived experiences in creation of OER and implementation of OEP in U.S. higher education. In this chapter, I discussed the phenomenological research design, which was specifically chosen as hermeneutic phenomenology to interpretively frame the description of the essence of this phenomenon. The setting was chosen as the digital space, where technology and the internet create an environment for this phenomenon to take shape. The target participants were all experienced educators with experience in the creation of OER and the use of OEP. As the researcher, I took an active role in the administration of journal entries, artifact analysis, semi-structured interviews, and used memo writing and open coding in order to better understand this phenomenon. This chapter concluded with the pursuit of ensuring trustworthiness and ethical considerations; several steps have been taken to replicate, prove accuracy, confirm dependability, and protect those involved in the study.

### **CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS**

#### **Overview**

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of open educational resources (OER) and open educational practice (OEP) in U.S. higher education institutions. This chapter examines the findings of the research, from participant descriptions to the data. First, the participants and their descriptions are expressed, inclusive of their background, their introduction and use of open education, including participant information pertinent to this study. Next, the results of the data collection were categorized into themes and expressed with some sub-themes to best communicate the gathered qualitative data. Third, the research question responses from the participants are examined and summarized. Lastly, the chapter concludes with a summary of the findings.

#### **Participants**

The 11 participants for this study were recruited via popular social media platforms and snowball recruiting methods. Recruiting proved challenging to find the correct participant prospects on social media from initial estimates. Akin to the multiple terms used in the OER and OEP literature, many prospects were reached in groups or profiles by varying the key term phrase such as open educational resources, OER, #OER, open education, open ed, and other variations due to a lack of a cohesively used hashtag, label, or common phrase. Many prospects made themselves known and were able to be reached through various searches and groups. Some participants had a small or no presence on social media and were recruited via snowballing professional connections volunteered by other prospects. Compounding this issue was the presence of non-instructors in the form of librarians, media specialists, instructional designers, advocates who were adjacent but not directly involved in higher education, as well as individuals with profiles that had yet to be updated to reflect their current roles.

All participants were asked to complete an online screening survey to view the basic requirements and time commitment estimates, and then an assessment of the prospect's initial eligibility for the study was completed. All participants were at least 18 years old, employed by a university or college in the United State at the time of this study, taught at least one academic term at an institution of higher education in the U.S., created at least one artifact that could be described as OER, and had used that created OER as a supplemental or required material for at least one academic term. Participants were asked to be currently employed by an institution of higher education so that their lived experience could include current benefits and challenges in 2023.

Participant geographic locations ranged from the eastern to the western coast of the U.S., including a mix of those who worked at universities and colleges, degrees earned, years of experience using OER, and the content they taught. Three participants had been teaching in higher education for more than a decade, and all participants had at least three years of higher education instructional experience. Nine of the 11 participants had earned a doctoral degree from a mix of content areas, from the sciences to business to the humanities. The participants' institutions ranged from small community colleges with less than 1,000 students on campus to large state universities with over 20,000 students on campus. Five of the participants were instructors at small institutions, defined as less than 5,000 to 15,000 students on campus. The final two participants instructed at large institutions, defined as more than 15,000 students on campus. Not all participants had been using OER when the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted

national education during the lockdowns that began in March 2020. However, all participants commented that the COVID-19 lockdown had affected the way that students consumed digital information and materials, creating less friction in implementing OER materials, such as textbooks or supplemental materials. Participants' demographic information relevant to this study is summarized through pseudonyms in Table 1.

# Table 1

Participant	Institution Type	Degree	OER Exp.	Subject
Isaac	University	Doctorate	10+	STEM
Caroline	University	Doctorate	8-10	Education
Kelly	University	Masters	3-5	Information
Tony	University	Doctorate	5-7	Foreign Language
John	College	Doctorate	10+	Humanities
Robin	Community College	Masters	5-7	Foreign Language
Patricia	College	Doctorate	10+	Communications
Claire	University	Doctorate	10+	Literature
Anne	University	Doctorate	5-7	Business
Vaughn	University	Doctorate	3-5	Science
Alexander	University	Doctorate	5-7	Social Sciences

# Creator-Practitioner Participants

# **Participant Profiles**

The profiles of the participants in this section are presented to communicate the various backgrounds and experiences brought together for this study. These descriptions are part of the introduction to open education that began the participants' lived experiences with the phenomenon of creating and using OER and OEP in their instruction in higher education in the U.S. The protection of each participant's identity was carefully handled as part of the ethical considerations of this study, including removing any identifiable markers, projects, locations, or unique indicators. These items were taken into consideration beyond using pseudonyms for the participants and their institutions. Below is a concise summary of critical background information and in vivo quotes from the participants to describe their lived experiences.

#### Isaac - Eastern State University

At the time of the study, Isaac was a science, technology, engineering, and math (STEM) instructor at Eastern State University, a small-sized regional campus that is part of a large state university system. He had been teaching for 10+ years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 10+ years. Isaac came to use OER as a graduate student, collaborating with other graduate students who were teaching assistants at the time, creating a concept map:

I was looking at using concept maps as an interface for a textbook, and so I had to generate some of the content to go to make a concept map explorer or content concept map-based kind of navigation system for all that. All of the concept map-based navigation stuff is kind of fallen by the wayside, but I did end up keeping the content kind of expanded it out by like 2014 I had a full open textbook.

This collaboration grew into his teaching career, culminating in two OER textbooks and a library of activities, videos, assessments, and other materials. He continued to develop materials

over time, but commented on the restrictions of creating large and small changes: "So the big stuff is more grant driven, the smaller stuff I guess is more writing stuff down, just finding the time. Usually, over the summer to kind of fix it." All of this is in support of finding what is best for students: "what is the best thing to do and I'm constantly trying to implement and like build the best classroom."

### Caroline - Northern State University

At the time of the study, Caroline was an education instructor at Northern State University, a medium-sized state university. She had been teaching for between 8-10 years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 5-7 years. Caroline came to use OER by getting involved in a state-wide initiative that was funding open-source textbooks:

What the students are experiencing, and that was a big complaint, was that textbooks are too expensive and I got in, you know, I looked into it briefly, but I was like, whoa, this is overwhelming. I don't know. But then a little bit after that I got an e-mail from my chair saying that there was a statewide initiative that had been funded by the legislature and that there'd be, you know, this meeting. We were welcome to attend, where they would explain all of the useful things.

After attending and getting involved in this state-wide initiative, she compared a semester of the commercial textbook against a semester of the open-source textbook and found that student achievement was just as effective with the open-source textbook, including more students having access to it. Since then, she had found ways to bring OER and open texts into her course load, as well as expand her students' experiences by engaging in authentic activities: "My students produced usually two or three times more than they were required to because they were, yeah, they were so motivated. Because and then we tell me, you know, there'd be whatever issue that they cared about."

### Kelly - Mountain State University

At the time of the study, Kelly was a librarian and a general education instructor at Mountain State University, a small-sized university. She had been teaching for 5-7 years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 5-7 years through support for others and instruction. Kelly had come to use OER through exploration in a fellowship program that supported her journey of learning and developing instruments to support the adoption of OER:

I did a faculty fellowship a couple of years ago on open educational resources, which is where my love of OER started from. It is not actually in my job description. It's just something I do because I love it.

Kelly has had an interesting role. One of her official roles as a librarian was as a support person, but also another role was as a teacher. In this dual role, she had leveraged the instructor support she helps others with in her own courses. Kelly described herself as, "I'm a Jack of all trades" in different subject areas. Her "main focus over the last couple of years for subject focus has been open educational resources." She continued to push for the use of OER in her use and others' use because, "I think really, one of the biggest things for me was open educational resources is not the cost barrier. It's the accessibility." A strong advocate of OER as an accessibility and equity tool, Kelly continued to advocate for OER and OEP to serve all students with the ability to adapt, modify, and overcome accessibility and equity barriers.

### Tony - Central State University

At the time of the study, Tony was a foreign language instructor at Central State University, a large-sized university. He had been teaching for between 5-7 years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 5-7 years. Tony came to use OER through collaborating in a cross-institutional foreign language initiative to create OER resources:

There was this group and ... a bunch of other universities creating this content. Kind of like an assessment tool to be shared between instructors. And I was part of the project. I think it was the third time they were doing it and I was part of the [foreign language] group at the same time, there was a microeconomics group and other people working on this. I think the project failed and they didn't go through, but that was, like, my first kind of actually hearing the word, OER.

He commented that the initiative failed to gain momentum, but inspired colleagues at his institution and geographically neighboring institutions to secure a grant to build resources for their foreign language students that were both age-appropriate and affordable. Tony's experience from this cross-institutional group brought forth efforts at his university to develop an OER textbook used in the foreign language department with the support of a state-sponsored grant:

So, the first time we actually use [OER] was we, I mean, except maybe like using, you know, like one activity from somewhere or things like various minor or the first time, we actually used OER was after we wrote an OER textbook for [foreign language] for educators. That was the first time we actually started working a lot on the OER we were able to win a grant to create this textbook this resource. And so it was the first semester, we copied it and we were testing the book, it was not available for everyone else, but we were testing it. And that was my first experience of actually using and teaching a full-year class using OER resources.

Tony had been collaboratively developing OER textbooks and materials for the foreign language department at his university since this first exposure. Tony commented that although he considered himself an expert in foreign language, "I never wrote anything by myself, like, all the resources we're creating, they're all collaborative effort." He believed that teamwork was a major part of any successful OER initiative for the start, resiliency, and ongoing success: "Don't do it by yourself, because it's gonna be a lot of work, but if you have someone that will support you and help you in the process, you're gonna be better off."

### John - Coastal Technical Community College

At the time of the study, John was a humanities instructor at Coastal Technical Community College, a small-sized technical community college. He had been teaching for 10+ years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 10+ years. John had come to use OER as he continued to build supplemental supports for his diverse student demographic. The supplemental support over time became more valuable to the course and students than the commercial text, creating a large handbook for students to use in the course. John had Google searched what he had done and found more about OER, eventually crafting more materials for his English courses. Although the textbooks and materials for other English courses were able to be curated, adapted, remixed, and added to over time, the introductory religion course was a different challenge altogether:

It took so much work just trying to find a textbook at an introductory level, a textbook for religion. And then I finally got to the point where I just basically said to heck with it, man, I'm just gonna write my own and then that's what I did.

At the time of this study, John was using OER in all five of the courses he taught throughout the academic year, and while not all five may appear on the semester course load, all five had been designed, developed, and continuously improved over several years. In speaking about the motivation for his leap of faith to engage in OER for the betterment of his growth and his students, he stated:

I reached a point. Where I was like I, you know, kind of talking to myself and I was like, you know what? I really don't care about my fear anymore. The only way I'm gonna realize if I am doing this right or not is to put myself out there.

The opening up of criticism had allowed John to connect with others across the nation, which brought the "Gospel of OER" to others through conferences and "evangelizing" the benefits of OER. John also commented that his librarian played a major role in this evangelism, co-presenting and being a great teammate in OER improvement.

# Robin - Western State Community College

At the time of the study, Robin was a foreign language instructor at Western State Community College, a medium-sized community college. She had been teaching for 10+ years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 5-7 years. Robin came to use OER when a colleague invited her to review and edit an OER textbook for a foreign language course:

She had told me: "Hey, I'm working on writing a textbook for my students for lower cost." I said, 'how awesome! Let me take a look at it.' So I was one of her peer reviewers at the textbook, and then I came [to Western State Community College] and actually taught out of that textbook.

Robin became a co-author of this text and even modeled her own textbook for another foreign language based on the original one. She also touched on the need to be tech-savvy and need relationships with others for "full richness." Reflecting on beginning the process again, she commented, "I would have probably approached [OER creation] differently because being a subject matter expert is not enough." Robin commented that the learning process possible with OER and OEP gives perspectives and growth not otherwise achieved:

It's the ability to model true intellectual building with students rather than saying I'm the boss and I wrote this and it's all correct and you're just gonna do it this way. It's encouraging the students to actually be intellectuals and question and ponder and draw connections, and test their hypothesis, which is what I'm always asking them to do in a foreign language anyways. But now I'm modeling that for them and the relationship, that connection coming out of it is so much richer.

### Patricia - Southern State College

At the time of the study, Patricia was a communications instructor at Southern State College, a small-sized state college. She had been teaching for 10+ years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 8-10 years. Patricia came to use OER when she partnered with her chair to secure a grant to produce an OER textbook:

My chair, the person who was chair at the time, well, we got a \$30,000 grant to create a textbook for the basic public speaking class that we taught and part of that was that it had to be Creative Commons licensed and it had to be accessible, available for everyone who wanted to use it.

That textbook had been successfully shared and updated, producing multiple versions over several years. The accessibility and access of this project led Patricia to secure more grants to produce ancillary support and resources for the textbook. Now as the chair of her department, Patricia commented that, "In general there is not, in most universities, going to be an incentive to create [OER] unless it somehow gets incorporated into the tenure and promotion standards." Patricia continued to seek current information and skills for her students to engage in, commenting that scrutinizing content and finding the right content is extremely important: "It's finding the best. It's finding the most relevant. It's not trying to overdo. And it has to be credible. You know, just because it's timely doesn't mean that it's really been well-researched." Patricia made an impactful comment about OER when she stated, "So it's if it was just saving money, it wouldn't be worth it. But then it's quality. You know that matters more, so I don't regret adding to it, even though it's been a lot of work."

#### Claire - Middle State University

At the time of the study, Claire was both a librarian and instructor at Middle State University, a large university. She had been teaching for 1-2 years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 10+ years. Claire had a unique response when discussing her involvement with OER, commenting, "I found open educational resources because I was already engaged in those practices." Claire noted that when she found the name of open educational practices, it was not a surprise, but rather a way to communicate and be able to get grants centered around the definition and name. For Claire, education and openness were not only intertwined but engrained as a family affair:

I'm a fourth-generation teacher and so as far as engaging with open educational resources my whole life sitting around the table Thanksgiving dinner is about what are you using to teach this? Oh yeah, hey can I borrow that? Yeah, here you go. I'm going to change it a little bit because I've got kids that need this.

Claire had the opportunity to engage in OER as an instructor, and also described the collaborative team effort that entails the support of OER adoption for other staff. She also brought some perspective on multiple departments at Middle State University. Claire recounted an experience of an instructor who was frustrated with the commercial publisher for her courses.

She and Claire collaborated on OER as a solution, and also leveraged her department teammates and her own expertise: "Now that entire department at every level, they're all using OER that they've modified or created." Claire also commented that engaging at a global level has created a better sensitivity to accessibility and technology barriers. International colleagues commented on her work, stating, "She finally had a discussion where can you stop making [high-resolution OER]? I don't have a good internet connection and I can't interact with a lot of the stuff you're creating." She has continued to be an advocate of OER and OEP, supporting others to adopt, adapt, remix, and build their own OER.

### Anne - Sunbelt State University

At the time of the study, Anne was a business instructor at Sunbelt State University, a medium-sized university. She had been teaching for 5-7 years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 5-7 years. Anne came to use OER when she transitioned from an experienced career in business to the classroom:

I started teaching project management particularly, I found that the textbooks that the publishers were providing were kind of out of date, and they were also not structured in a way that is more natural to how projects are being done. So from the beginning, I started looking for free materials I could share with my students to help them learn more about how project management actually progresses in an organization.

After adopting OER materials early on, Anne continued to focus on keeping up to date for her students. She designed projects and pulled information from current governing associations to provide real-world applications. During a previous academic year, Anne continued her journey in OER by being awarded a grant to create her own textbook. However, it was a major challenge: "I realized how time-consuming it is to try to create your own materials, even if you're remixing from existing sources, you still have to read everything and make sure it's up to date." Despite the challenge, Anne noted that the students were more responsive and engaged knowing that Anne took a personal stake in their education by building her own OER and their success through the use of OEP, authentic application projects.

#### Vaughn - Southeastern State University

At the time of the study, Vaughn was a science instructor at Southern State University, a medium-sized university. He had been teaching for between 8-10 years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 3-5 years. Vaughn came to use OER due to being thrown into a teaching assignment a week before a science course started without available resources:

So this was a very kind of strange situation. It was the middle of the pandemic. So it's all this. 2020. I'm sitting here, the classes start in about a week. I'm trying to find the textbook I'm trying to get a teacher's copy from the publishers. While I got promises from a few of them and I did get them in December of that year. I had clearly [gotten it] late, so again I went OpenStax and I fully created kind of the online version of the course which did not actually go all that well because, well, you don't make a good class in one week.

OpenStax, the open textbook repository run by Rice University, had been founded in 2018, two years prior to his ordeal in 2020 in a similar situation: "In my Googling, right? I found OpenStax as one of the possibilities." That situation worked for the remainder of the academic year, but after the 2020 pandemic course build, Vaughn had begun to take to OER creation and long-term use. Vaughn and colleagues at Southeastern State University secured a grant to "formally, fully develop the materials and switch the core textbook to OER." He commented that, "There is always this process of self-improvement. I think self-education, that's constant,"

believing that expertise is driven by life-long learning and engagement, whether involved in OER or not.

### Alexander - Atlantic State University

At the time of the study, Alexander was a social sciences instructor at Atlantic State University, a small university. He had been teaching for 10+ years at the higher education level and had been using OER for 5-7 years. Alexander came to use OER a decade after trying to deliver a class that had its full materials available online and available in a printed version. Alexander lamented, "Students didn't bother reading the material, so, it was, I would like to say a failure...so I was not happy about it." However, in 2017, Alexander was encouraged to try digital materials that included a print copy again:

A librarian was a friend of mine at Atlantic State University and encouraged me to use open educational resources to use for the [course] from OpenStax. So we talked about it in 2017 and every time I was seeing her, she was encouraging me to usually, yeah, and I was concerned because I was afraid that the students will not have access to a paper version. But using an OpenStax, students were able to buy it. So...it was good. It was...a huge success. The students were really appreciative.

Alexander's successful adoption of this OpenStax textbook led to securing grant money for "an opportunity to create the supplemental material that I didn't have for OpenStax." Alexander would leverage students and colleagues to help build supplemental materials with this and other grants that continued the work over multiple semesters. He credited part of his success in engaging students to explaining the use of OER and because he cares about them. That explicit explanation, according to Alexander, had made a big difference in student success and engagement with OER and OEP.

102

#### Results

This phenomenological study used the triangulation of the analysis of participant journaling, analysis of submitted artifacts, and the conducting and analysis of semi-structured interviews per the methodology outlined in Chapter Three. In this section, these qualitative data points were analyzed and organized into three major themes that describe the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of open educational resources and practices in institutions of higher education in the U.S. These three themes include improvement of the student experience, improvement of the creator-practitioner craft, and community and contributions. Each theme also has corresponding sub-themes that further describe the lived experiences of the participants.

#### **Improvement of the Student Experience**

The theme of improving the student experience through the use of OER and OEP appeared multiple times in each of the participant interviews and is supported by participants' journal entries. The student experience was a combination of students' ability to engage in the course and their feedback about how they felt about the course. As the target audience of the creator-practitioner, the student experience has been described as a critical piece of the decision-making and factors for driving OER creation and OEP implementation. Alexander explicitly states this sentiment to students in his courses. He explained during the interview, "I really spend 10 to 15 minutes to say hey, I'm using OER because I care about you kids and I want to do everything I can to help you with your education." This theme is divided into two sub-themes that will be further analyzed: student affordability and student accessibility.

#### Student Affordability

The student experience is affected by student affordability of materials. In this context, affordability indicates the ability of students to purchase course materials at a reasonable price.

Although reasonable price is a subjective measure, the consensus among the participants in this study was that materials that cost hundreds of dollars for a single course on top of student tuition were too expensive. Tony described course material cost in this way:

I don't feel comfortable or happy when I have to ask my students to pay \$200, \$300 when all the universities are talking about equity, diversity, inclusion, but then we still ask the students to pay \$300 or we still charge \$20,000 in tuition. So, it's mostly like a what can we do as professors to reduce this gap?

Many participants agreed with Tony's concept of wanting to support student affordability. Many participants interestingly discussed how they did not understand how costly some of the course materials were until they investigated them themselves. Caroline stated, "What the students are experiencing, and that was a big complaint, was that textbooks are too expensive and I got in, you know, I looked into it briefly, but I was like, whoa, this is overwhelming."

Participants discussed the concept of affordability in two variants: (a) an absolute cost issue, such as the one Tony described previously, and (b) a marketplace value issue. Participants expressed the desire for their students to receive value from course resources. In terms of affordability, the participants described the comparative value of what was found in commercial resources against the no-cost or low-cost OER resources. Although comparisons to commercial resources were stated in dollars, the participants also expressed the value of resources in different ways. Some participants described not using the full resources or having to bring in supplemental materials to enhance the student experience. Robin described this valuation and how it led her to OER:

I thought it sounded like a great idea to save students money. And yeah, if I know all this stuff, I don't need a textbook, I can write it. I can use a marker board. Why should students have to pay \$300.00 for [a foreign language textbook] when I have the information here, and we have things like an online dictionary? It's like that was the idea: it was cost-saving to students first and foremost and then also it was a frustration with getting a big fat textbook and you only use a third of it.

Although other participants did not describe the dramatically small portion of commercial textbook use that Robin described, others, such as John and Anne, relayed their frustrations about not being able to find a textbook that accurately encompasses their entire course's materials. Anne described her realization of needing materials that were up to date, high quality, and tailored to her students when she commented, "So kind of in light of not finding good suitable materials that were up to date, I realized I needed to start creating materials." After securing a grant, Anne was able to produce the OER textbook that she used in class a year later. In John's case, his OER textbook was ready about 18 months after his frustration with not finding a suitable textbook for his course. Both John and Anne commented that their students find much more value and utility in the OER created textbooks compared with the previous materials that were purchased at high cost with only portions of the text used.

Beyond the textbook, ancillary support, such as workbooks, assessment banks, and supplemental activities and materials also add value to the cost of course materials. Vaughn commented that commercial publishers have an advantage over OERs as a whole because of their ancillary supports, but Patricia commented that ancillary supports have been a value-add for her Creative Commons licensed textbook. Patricia secured grant money to "create the test banks and slides and stuff like that" that add value to her use and her students' use, as well as other instructors and students who have adopted her free Creative Commons licensed OER textbook and course materials.

#### Student Accessibility

The student experience is also affected by student accessibility to materials. The student experience with OER and OEP is improved when students can afford and access the materialswhether printed or digital - on the first day of the course. Both John and Patricia commented that students may not be able to access the course materials until they purchase the course materials. John stated that before he used OERs, students "literally couldn't afford to buy the book until they got paid, which would be at the end of the month, or, you know, every two weeks." Accessing the materials allows students to fully engage through the entire duration of the course.

Tony, Caroline, Robin, Kelly, and Claire commented specifically on the value of having an affordable resource with voices that represented their student populations. This measure of quality was described by Caroline in scrutinizing sources from different perspectives, stating, "So, like, how are they presenting different cultures? How are they presenting different viewpoints, that sort of thing? That's a big thing I look for in any material." Tony described this sentiment in improving his OER text, noting that during revisions they could "change the examples in the textbook and make them examples that relate to our current population." Kelly and Alexander also noted accessibility as a means for all students to engage in the materials. Kelly stated that OER provides accessibility for "the student who, you know, has visual impairment and needs to use a screen reader, or the student who you know is neurodivergent and needs something that is organized in a certain way." Alexander provides visual, audio, and Braille expressions of content for different learners. He also shared that, beyond his course materials that are housed in the learning management system, his "YouTube videos have closed captions. So, it's best practice in terms of accessibility and I am flirting with universal design," as he continues to evolve his practices.

### **Improvement of the Creator-Practitioner Craft**

The theme of improving the creator-practitioner craft also appeared multiple times in each of the participant interviews and is supported by participants' journal entries. In the analysis of participant artifacts using Cox and Trotter's (2017) OER Adoption Pyramid, a common trend emerged: all artifacts, in conjunction with explanations during the interview or descriptions in the journal entries, were found at the top of the pyramid and encompassed all six elements of the pyramid: access, permission, awareness, capacity, availability, and volition. In the improvement of their craft, creator-practitioners worked within the OER Adoption Pyramid for the delivery of resources, engaged students at higher levels of the Revised Bloom's Taxonomy (i.e. analyze, evaluate, create), and worked to improve their own expertise. As the individual who is in control of the course setup and delivery, the creator-practitioner is a critical aspect of the decisionmaking and a factor in driving OER creation and OEP implementation in conjunction with the students. This theme is divided into three sub-themes that will be further analyzed: control and improvement of content, higher-level engagement and application, and improvement of expertise.

#### Control and Improvement of the Content

Control and improvement of the content was described as a major element of the lived experiences of the creator-practitioners in this study. When discussing the ability to have control over the content, John stated, "So that's one of the things that I love about OERs is that they're dynamic and so pliable." Isaac echoed this sentiment when discussing the improvement process of content when he commented, "I'm continually just like playing around with the class and trying to make it better, kind of gathering informal feedback here and there. Occasionally I do a more formal sort of assessment." By involving students in the process, the creator-practitioner is able to create a more authentic text for students as the intended audience. One of the things that Robin touched on was that the control of content through OER also allows a different, more authentic relationship between the creator-practitioners and the students when she commented, "And I have found so much beautiful interaction with my students through that vulnerability."

The control of content ultimately makes content more accurate for the learner and allows the ability to correct mistakes while improving the quality of the text. When speaking about keeping materials relevant, Patricia stated, "So I find that [commercial materials] have limited utility for me because they're not updated and I have to keep my material updated." Caroline stated the need for control to fix errors and keep the content useable when she stated, "I've had issues where there were some just egregious mistakes in the publisher materials and I can now, you know, I can edit those, or I can delete them." Some participants involved their students with the correction of mistakes in their own OER. Isaac described a "bug bounty" to find and report issues with content, and Robin had a similar system that included extra credit for mistakes reported in her foreign language materials.

# Higher-Level Engagement and Application

Higher-level engagement and application of learning objectives appeared through the participants' reporting of their lived experiences. Tony described OER and OEP as more "individualized instruction, or at least individualized, personalized based on the professor and students' needs." Higher-level engagements, which can be framed through the Revised Bloom's Taxonomy or through the principles of the learner-centered environment that is rooted in the constructivist approach, were described by the participants, noted in journals, and became readily

apparent in their artifacts. Artifacts included websites, dashboards, textbooks, and workbooks, of which their design and development included learner-centered design and feasible interaction. In conjunction with these artifacts, Table 2 summarizes an explicit example of higher-level engagements that participants had described in current use for their courses.

# Table 2

Participant	Description
Isaac	Groups students to solve authentic challenges as they would in a team setting in an authentic job setting.
Caroline	Uses renewable assignments to grow student skills and knowledge.
Kelly	Engages students in 21 <sup>st</sup> -century skills to create projects of voice and choice using the course's research and communication skills.
Tony	Engages students in immersion and drives accurate speech and writing accuracy.
John	Experiments with different project-based learning and experiential learning techniques each semester to improve student learning experiences.
Robin	Uses authentic speakers and culture to drive differentiated understanding, immersion, and understanding.
Patricia	Engages students in current issues to discuss how the field is changing and how to strategically think about these issues through the course objectives.
Claire	Engages students in authentic voice creation and exposure to other authentic voices to grow their expression toolkit.
Anne	Brings in real-world case studies to develop authentic strategic thinking and practice of course principles.
Vaughn	Uses authentic scientific calculations and scenarios to drive engagement and application of course objectives.
Alexander	Facilitates a cooperative learning process in which students create assessment questions and engage in authentic community projects.

Creator-Practitioner Use of Higher-Level Engagement Examples

Ultimately, the learning approach from creator-practitioners was one that was driven to give students meaning. Whether this meaning came from interaction with course materials, interaction with the instructor, or, in some cases, the facilitation of interaction between students, each participant has been and continues to work towards a more meaningful experience for their students. Caroline provided a succinct statement on the meaningful student experience as a drive for learner-centered pedagogy when she stated:

Well, I think the big thing is just at the center is meaning for the assignment. And on pedagogy, so you know, if students can have meaning in their assignments, and what they do, they're going to care about it more. They're going to learn better. And they're more likely to use it in some way when the course is over. So, I think that's the big thing I conceptualize when I think about renewable assignments is just how can I make what they're doing meaningful.

### Improvement of Expertise

The role of how the creator-practitioners viewed their own expertise described a wide range of each participant's professional development. Some described themselves as content or subject area experts having backgrounds with terminal degrees and a wealth of experience. Tony described this perspective on expertise when he stated, "My position plus my background - I have a background in language pedagogy - gives me some sort of expertise to at least give me some confidence to be like, hey, I can do this." Isaac had an interesting perspective in that his collaboration with others pushed him to advance his expertise to better answer the more complex questions from other instructors and develop the depth of content. Isaac stated, "I have to reconcile and be able to like, basically, have a back and forth with other experts that are teaching this subject," which led Isaac to improve the scrutiny of his materials to "definitively come up with a solution to, you know, I don't wanna have something out there that's wrong, because then it can kind of amplify the situation" of incorrect problem sets, assessment questions, or course instruction. Robin described how cooperative interactions support her own professional growth and are a benefit when she stated, "I get this like web of what my learners are experiencing, which then makes me understand the language and pedagogy on a deeper level." Others believed that expertise was a way to describe their credentials but preferred to continue to push their professional development further and further. Anne described her decades of experience, terminal degree, publications, OER materials, and experience teaching as, "I feel like I probably have a 9 out of 10 skill level and knowledge level" to describe how there is room to continue to improve and strive to obtain more knowledge. In all viewpoints, participants were eager to continue to engage in their growth, whether in their instructional practices, in learning more about OER and OEP, or to gain more knowledge about their content or subject area.

An interesting perspective about expertise was raised by Tony, Robin, Kelly, John, Claire, and Alexander, where each commented that they have encouraged their peers to view their expertise positively as a persuasive argument to engage in OER and OEP. John, who described himself as spreading the "Gospel of OER" with colleagues across the nation through webinars and conferences, recounted a conversation he had with a colleague. He commented, "And everybody realizes why are we knuckling under and kowtowing to a select few when we have the same credentials that they have? We're just as good as them. You know, so why should we be using their stuff?" However, participants continue to report a lack of confidence in expertise as a barrier for others engaging in OER and OEP.

# **Community and Contributions**

The theme of community and contributions appeared throughout this research study. The community aspect described here as part of the participants' lived experiences encompasses the interactions of all parties involved in the OER and OEP learning process. This includes the creator-practitioners, their students, colleagues at and outside of their institution, outside learners (i.e., learners at other institutions), and stakeholders such as university leadership, OER organizations, and government entities that support grants, policies, and legislation related to open education. Claire described the importance of one's internal motivation to engage OER and OEP paired with a teammate when she stated, "Embrace your own curiosity and your own strengths and also find a friend. Find someone to do it with." The contributions aspect of this theme includes the direct action that interacts with OER, OEP, or both to advance the overall experience of open education. Contributions were reported by participants to include student feedback, colleague collaboration, tenure and promotion considerations, academic freedom support, grants, resource support, and connections. Kelly interjected this point in her librarian role when she stated, "Ask for help. Don't be afraid to ask your librarian for help. Your librarians are more than happy to help you. That is literally our job!" In tandem, community and contributions have had an impact on the success of all creator-practitioners and can be further examined in the sub-themes of willingness to seek and professional support.

#### Willingness to Seek

The participants shared two general experiences when beginning their journey with OER and OEP. The first general experience noted was that they stumbled into OER or OEP without the intention of doing so. This describes the entry backgrounds of Isaac, John, Claire, and Anne, which were described in the Participants section earlier in this chapter. The second general experience described was that they were looking for a solution to challenges in their courses and either secured or built - usually through grant money - OER. This background generalization included Tony, Caroline, Vaughn, Robin, Kelly, Alexander, and Patricia. These backgrounds were also previously discussed in the Participants section earlier in this chapter.

Participants also reported the concept of seeking information to propel them to conferences and develop partnerships to support their use of OER and OEP. Claire described the impact that the connections she made at one of the Global OER-Graduate Network (GO-GN) conferences was "pivotal in how I am able to share out and come alongside people with open pedagogy," as well as transformative in perspective." She continued, "That was one of the events that really helped me see the intentionality with which we need to leave our own circles to hear new voices." Robin, Alexander, and Anne all commented on the benefit of engaging in conferences for professional connections, to exchange ideas, and to keep up with current practices. From a different perspective, John described how he and his colleague had been "spreading the OER gospel" as they have "presented probably close to two dozen times with conferences and workshops" across the U.S. in the past two years.

# **Professional Support**

Participants reported the importance of support mechanisms in support of their work in OER and OEP. Internal support mechanisms included librarians, information technology support, instructional designers, other instructors, and leadership. Participants reported having experiences where they sought out internal support to partner in their creation of OER and implementation of OEP, while others reported being approached or connected to internal support and forming partnerships. Caroline reiterated the importance of using professional support when she commented, "I would definitely contact your librarian, your campus librarian. They are the OER masters, and they're the ones to know, to check in about with, and to develop the

materials." In both instances, internal support mechanisms diversify and spread the workload, a key ingredient of avoiding burnout in work that is continually ongoing.

External support mechanisms include grant programs, OER organizations, and state institutions. Similar to internal support mechanisms, participants reported experiencing seeking out these supports, while others reported instances of these supports coming to them or partnering with them. These external supports had mostly dealt with compensation for the time spent on creating or improving materials. Participants commented on the essential nature of grants to support their use of OER and OEP. Many stated that if grant money was not available, they would not engage in some of the work. Robin commented that during the current study she was in the midst of writing a grant in pursuit of getting her foreign language materials and it was "more accessible because when I was starting five years ago, accessibility was not my big concern." She noted that accessibility is now a bigger concern and a major time barrier to converting to a product that is technologically accessible. Robin also noted, "PDFs are not friendly. They will not read in the target language and in English, and so if a student has a learning disability or it needs additional support for simply universal design for learning principles." Patricia discussed her multiple grant awards for her OER materials and humorously commented, "If I went now and I asked for one, I wouldn't be able to get it because I've already, well, I think I've maxed out on what they're gonna give me for this book!"

### **Outlier Data and Findings**

In this section, one outlier finding was discovered through the data collection process that did not align with the questions or themes. Although the importance of grant money in the remedy of the challenge of time was expressed by all 11 Participants, the remedy of securing tenure and promotion while using OER and OEP was an exceptional finding. The lived

114

experience of some participants describing how they secured tenure using OER was sharply contrasted by others who did not have the same opportunity. This outlier finding is detailed in the sub-section below.

# **Outlier** Finding

While most participants reported that OER and OEP are not supported or seen as valued academic engagement by institutional review committees, both Isaac and Alexander explained how they successfully used their OER and OEP to secure tenure. Isaac was able to show how his securing of grant money was in service of building resources that were used by multiple campuses and students. It is important to note that Isaac was an instructor at a regional campus that was teaching-focused as opposed to research-focused. Alexander was able to accomplish a similar goal, showing how his work with grant programs was in service of students across the university system of his state. In both instances, the OER work itself was not the consideration, but rather the impact on multiple populations through grant opportunities. Although this may seem like a technical loophole, it is important to note that the securing of grants and consideration of OER and OEP for tenure and promotion was reported by each of the 11 Participants. As a description of the lived experiences of creator-practitioners, it is important to note that using grant money, which is already being done, could possibly be used in tenure and promotion reviews to support the professional advancement of creator-practitioners.

### **Research Question Responses**

This phenomenological study was guided by five questions: one central research question and four sub-questions. Participants responded to these questions through journal entries, artifact analysis, and semi-structured interviews. These questions were posed to pursue the essence of the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of OER and OEP in institutions of higher education in the U.S. Participant data are provided to enrich the responses to these questions.

### **Central Research Question**

The central research question for this study was how do creator-practitioners in higher education in the United States perceive their use of OER and OEP? The expressed lived experiences of the creator-practitioners was that they view their use of OER and OEP as positively impactful. Engaging in work that challenges creator-practitioners' expertise, time, and capacity creates a positive experience for both the students and the instructor, expressed as a higher-level engagement and voice and choice within the course for students and continued professional growth of the instructor. These descriptions were supported by artifact analysis, which found OER artifacts operating through all six levels of Cox and Trotter's (2017) OER Adoption Pyramid and continuously driven by the volition stage of instructors to embody learner-centered approaches that were described in instances as OEP. Alexander had a profound statement relating to the perception of using OER and OEP when he stated, "It's giving back what is OER. It's a gift to humanity. What is open pedagogy? Open pedagogy is giving back the gift we receive." Patricia offered a philosophy that summarized her perception of OER and OEP, stating that OER and OEP are "creating accessible education and I do believe in accessible education. I believe in a meritocracy, that if you can work and you shouldn't have to be held back in your education by finances."

#### **Sub-Question One**

The first sub-question for this study was what challenges/benefits do creator-practitioners encounter from OER creation? Participants commented that the challenges and benefits were connected, pairing the difficult task of OER creation with the beneficial solutions it can bring. Vaughn summarized the concept of challenges and benefits being linked when he commented, "It's hard to separate them in that probably there is always a part of the benefit, part of the challenge in each issue that we encounter." Further, there was optimism expressed about engagement and how worthwhile engaging in the creation of OER is. Kelly summarized this concept when she commented, "I think that the good outweighs the bad when it comes to open educational resources."

The participants communicated that the challenges included a variety of elements with respect to time and capacity, availability, and technology. In discussing the time commitment challenges in creating and updating OER, Isaac commented, "At least on the authoring side, it takes a ton of time. It's not necessarily always highly rewarding." Tony touched on the creation and engagement of supplemental materials, commenting, "We try to do our best. I think it requires that - so this is another problem of OER - that it requires more time from the instructors." Robin brought up the idea of lacking ancillary support for OERs compared to a commercial publisher and commented, "There is not a bank of questions that I can go to and say, oh, ok, I'm running late. We've got a writing assignment due. Here's a prompt. No, that prompt is all me." Patricia touched on the time and capacity issue needing to be supported by grants when she stated, "There's absolutely no incentive for me to update [my OER textbook]. You know, this time there's no money involved." Others, such as Caroline and Anne, commented on the lack of available OER to begin with for certain courses. Kelly commented that the quality of OER is increasing, and peer reviews are becoming more prevalent from community-based reviews of the resources, but other participants, such as Vaughn and Patricia, advocated for a higher quality of available OER, regardless of community input. Claire's view on quality was that OER can begin as a working draft, and its live nature allows for input, editing, and improvement over time just

like the release of various editions of textbooks. Student accessibility and technological issues, such as Isaac's gripe about the difficulty he experienced with updating his website, continue to be barriers to engagement and high-quality materials.

Participants noted that the benefits of OER creation are student affordability and accessibility, instructor control, and the notion of cooperation ownership. Alexander described the value that affordable OER resources can be for the student experience when he commented, "It's not just free. It's that some people care enough about you that they decided to put together this material, and sometimes it's good and sometimes it's bad, but it doesn't matter." Many participants described the ability to manipulate content, organize how they wanted the content, take out or add content as needed, and push updates of materials quickly. Robin captured this sentiment in a succinct description when she stated, "The ability to make content very relevant and very current and to modify that easily without having to wait for a new addition published." Creator-practitioners can also make decisions based on their students' needs, expand or clarify sections, and write in a way that meets students at their level. Anne noted this student clarity concept when she described the clarity editing process that she engaged in with her student assistant. Anne relayed, "so I would create the chapter from existing resources and modify it, and she would read it and make sure it made sense from her perspective." Anne's proactive approach to student clarity contrasted with how John fell into revisions for student clarity. John described the benefit of OER for student clarity when he commented that students would approach him after class and say, "I really didn't understand it in the textbook and you explained it better [in class]...so then I realized that the level of the textbook was above some of our students." John was able to change the language and add clarifications during that semester to help support student understanding. Both Anne and John described cooperative ownership of the OER, but

cooperative ownership extends beyond the instructor-student relationship. Others, such as Tony, described the utility of having a group of people working on OER. Tony added, "Now we're working on like we're working on a book now that we have 10 faculty working at the same time. So I use my expertise, but I cannot do it by myself."

### **Sub-Question Two**

The second sub-question for this study was what challenges/benefits do creatorpractitioners encounter from OEP usage? The participants described the challenges as student engagement and availability of ancillary support. Anne described the difficulty of getting students to engage in cooperative learning: "It's very threatening to them because they've not been given a framework to create knowledge. Really. They've just been given a framework to regurgitate it." Kelly echoed this sentiment, touching on how students need skills to find and scrutinize materials. She discussed this importance when she stated, "Not only is it teaching students to be lifelong learners and how to access materials outside of a library resource, that's gonna have a paywall when they graduate, they can actually become lifelong learners." However, when there is a lack of ancillary support to engage students in skill sets, the creation of engagement materials becomes a challenge. Being granted compensation for the creation of ancillary materials is difficult, and Alexander summed up the need for pay for time spent on creation when he stated, "Time is very precious. I only have 24 hours in a day and I need to sleep, and I need to keep my job, so everything I do needs to pay. Pay...nothing in terms of money but needs to fulfill different functions."

The participants described the benefits of OEP usage to be higher level learning engagement and flexibility to evolve and adapt instruction. Table 2 from the Results section describes examples of higher levels of learning fully. Isaac commented on the success of using a flipped classroom approach, allowing students to engage with the OER materials at their pace outside of class, and work collaboratively in class to apply their learning. Isaac described this approach as a support mechanism when he stated, "We do the homework problems in class. Um, and so they've got time and I encourage them to kind of work in groups of two or three. I'm there to answer questions." This flexibility allows students to engage in the course, investigate the course material, and cooperatively work together to apply their learning as opposed to consuming it. Alexander commented, "When we consume something we don't produce it. We need to produce, not consume and consume. To produce we cannot just be in a position of consuming." He went on to explain that resources that are not interacted with and activities that do not engage students simply create consumers of low-level learning. With OEP, Alexander believes we can more fully engage as producers when we adapt instruction to the learners. These are instructional assignments, such as Caroline's renewable assignments that strive to be meaningful, or instructional approaches, such as Isaac's flipped classroom or Anne's projectbased approach, that add value to the student experience.

# **Sub-Question Three**

The third sub-question for this study was how do creator-practitioners make decisions on what OER to create? The most common answers were the need for resources that more accurately represented the needs of the course and the needs of the students. However, the general needs assessments mentioned by the participants can be accomplished by either scrutinizing OER to remix or by creating an OER from scratch. Kelly described the challenge of assessing resources for quality when she commented, "So when you're looking for stuff, you always have to go through and trying to kind of like see ohh is this good? Is this bad? Is this OK?" Anne made an interesting observation when she noted that some OER continued to copy

off of original sources that contained errors and mistakes. She commented, "And the problem was is they kept copying and pasting grammatical errors, incorrect statements, outdated statements, and the like without a lot of quality review." She added, "I found that there were just some incorrect statements, unclear comments. Poor grammar. You know, just things like that, that they had been carrying forward in the different books." Regardless of scrutinizing the quality of the text, understanding the needs of the course and students is as important as knowing what one already has. Understanding what is already available to build on is a time and capacity-saving strategy. Claire cautions those frustrated with their textbook to take a pragmatic approach when making decisions on material creation. She asked some thought-provoking questions:

What's your course build like? What are you using and are you in? Are you under the impression your students read the textbook? How important is that actual textbook to this experience? Is a textbook central to your course, or is it something that you bring in alongside what you're doing to kind of support it?

#### **Sub-Question Four**

The final sub-question for this study was how do creator-practitioners make decisions on how to incorporate OEP? Participants described the need to be aligned to student or course needs, similar to the responses about OER creation. However, instead of alignment to the material build, Caroline provided insight on OEP decision-making when she stated, "I try to think of something that would be suitable for the course objectives is the big thing. And also something that would be engaging for the students." The common response to this question was based on the availability of materials and how to engage the students in meaningful activities.

### **Summary**

This chapter included the description of the participants, the results, and the responses to the research questions. The 11 participants expressed their lived experiences through the themes of improvement of the student experience, improvement of the creator-practitioner craft, and community and contributions. These themes helped frame the answers to the central research question and the corresponding four sub-questions. A good deal of crossover occurred between the participants in their expression of the compiled themes through the description of their lived experiences. Although the participants described a positive overall experience, they also explained the associated challenges, which included the time, capacity, and commitment it takes to be a creator-practitioner.

# **CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION**

#### Overview

The purpose of this phenomenological study was to describe the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of open educational resources (OER) and open educational practices (OEP) in United States (U.S.) higher education institutions. Eleven participants expressed their lived experiences through journal entries, artifacts, and the semi-structured interview. In this discussion, an interpretation of the findings of this study are examined, implications for policy and practice are explored, theoretical and methodological implications are considered, limitations and delimitations are reviewed, and recommendations for future research are investigated.

#### Discussion

This phenomenological study produced three distinct themes: improvement of the student experience, improvement of the creator-practitioner craft, and community and contributions. Through the description of the participants' lived experiences, the findings from the creatorpractitioners describe factors that include internal, external, target audience, and community elements that either supported or hindered their execution of creating OER and implementing OEP. This final chapter discusses my interpretation of the qualitative data findings, implications for practice, theoretical and empirical implications, limitations and delimitations, and recommendations for future research.

# **Interpretation of Findings**

The overall use of OER and OEP was reported as a positive experience, enriched by the drive to enhance both the experience of the learners and the instructor. This positive experience was expressed as the reward of engaging in challenging decision-making and time commitment. In this section, the findings of this study are developed. First, this section presents a summary of

123

the thematic findings of this phenomenological study. Next, interpretations of the study's findings are presented.

# Summary of Thematic Findings

The 11 creator-practitioner participants of this study described their lived experiences of creating OER and implementing OEP in higher education institutions in the U.S. The description of their lived experiences revealed the three themes of improvement of the student experience, improvement of the creator-practitioner craft, and community and contributions. These lived experiences were expressed through journal entries, artifact submissions, and semi-structured interviews. In the following sections, specific interpretations of the findings of this study are presented.

Learner-Centered Approach. The descriptions expressed by the creator-practitioners in this study aligned with the principles of the learner-centered environment. These elements incorporate the instructor as a guide to facilitate the learner's creation of knowledge and skills (Reigeluth et al., 2017). A key element noted was the use of technology to support the instructional practice that is both learner-centered and close to personalized learning. Personalized learning, the approach that individualizes instruction to focus on each learner's gaps and growth, is pragmatic in higher education only with technology due to management of multiple learner pathways (Alamri et al., 2021). Using instructional technology makes sense with OER, bringing together technology platforms for management and interaction as a key element to effectively interacting with the OER materials for instructors and learners. The technology element brings a double-edged implication to creator-practitioners. First, the need for proficient technology will fall either on the instructor themselves or with a teammate, such as a librarian. Regardless of technology proficiency, it was insightful to note the role of support staff in helping support the technological delivery of OER. Second, the way in which OER is delivered makes a difference. Without Isaac's website, a learning management system (LMS) to deliver OER materials for many, or without a platform such as pressbooks to publish and easily edit OER text, these courses would have accessibility challenges. These accessibility challenges would act as gatekeepers, a stark contrast to the positive accessibility that was reported by the participants. In pursuit of focusing the course on the learner, technology must be accessible and there must be a level of technology proficiency to allow user accessibility and interaction.

The participants expressed positive experiences for students in the learning environments where OER is available and OEP is being implemented across the board. This was not a surprise. Best practices in education have been advocated for student engagement for decades, and the interaction between instructors, learners, OER, and OEP aligns with those best practices, especially after the COVID-19 shutdowns (Heidari et al., 2021). Student engagement with OER and OEP was highlighted in environments such as Isaac's flipped classroom, Caroline's renewable assignments, and Alexander's student ownership of material creation. Each example shows how instructors are designing their courses to engage students in an active manner across multiple disciplines. This engagement may be expressed as the application of learned knowledge and skills that have been purposefully designed through a constructivist approach that both scaffolds and allows for learner proficiency. These engagements are authentic and contextual for the learners, engaging students in readily transferrable skills for additional coursework and for their career path. Two excellent examples of this concept were Isaac's flipped classroom, where students engaged in collaborative problem solving, and Anne's case studies, where students cooperatively engaged strategic thinking and application of knowledge to real-world scenarios. The engagement approach of collaborative learning, cooperative environments, and renewable

assignments is supported in the OER literature as best practice for optimal student engagement (Baran & AlZoubi, 2020; Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018; Wiley & Hilton, 2018). Further, engagement in OER as an agent of instructional change has been recently identified, corroborating the descriptions of expertise and craft engagement, and growth of the creatorpractitioners (McBride & Abramovich, 2022).

Although OER can be an instructional change agent, the measured effect on students is less clear. Positive student appreciation of OER, reported by the creator-practitioners, is corroborated in the literature but is mostly attributed to affordability (Fischer et al., 2020; Hilton, 2020). However, as previously discussed, affordability and accessibility allow students to fully engage in the course. This ability to participate in the learner-centered environment has the possibility to be transformative in the student learning experience with its emphasis on skill building and 21st-century skills, such as critical thinking (Partnership for 21st Century Learning, 2019). The participation of all students in these environments enhances the richness of the course through varied student outcomes in Caroline's renewable assignment, Claire's student voices as part of the OER textbook, and Alexander's student-generated assessment questions. A critical finding that emerged from this study was that when students fully engage, both in manipulation of the material and immersion in the learner-centered environment, there is a positive outcome for the learners and instructor in addition to the qualitative reporting of fuller student knowledge and skill application.

**Power and Control.** Another critical finding for the study was who has the power and control over the content, focus, and philosophy of the course. Power and control was expressed in a number of different ways by the participants, but in the analysis of the qualitative data four elements of power and control were revealed: (a) how and when content was delivered to

students, (b) how the content was represented, (c) the focal shift of the course, and (d) the living versus static expression of the content. Each of these represents a paradigm shift from the traditional behaviorist model of the lecturer-receiver model of education. This paradigm shift aligns with the learner-centered environment that was previously described as well as a philosophical approach that values the individual building knowledge in a community versus the tradition of knowledge transference.

The finding of power and control related to how and when content was delivered to students and how the content was represented are closely related, yet two impactful expressions that did not necessarily coincide with each other. The delivery of content was less about the transference of knowledge and more about turning control over and the expression of the content in a form that students could engage and use. Several creator-practitioner participants described the ongoing improvement of their OER, a vulnerability that has been reported by other OEP implementers (Werth & Williams, 2021). The process of co-creation with students is a vital part of Wiley and Hilton's (2018) OER-Enabled Pedagogy approach and is further supported in other OEP research (Cronin, 2017; Cronin & MacLaren, 2018; Kaatrakoski et al., 2017; Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018). Some creator-practitioners have chosen to be conscious of which voices are represented in their controlled content. OER can be a useful tool in diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) considerations (Richardson & Roebuck Sakho, 2022), and Tony, Caroline, Robin, and Claire explicitly mentioned how they were using their control of content to better represent their student populations in authentic contexts. This representation allows for dynamic customization for the audience, a flexibility described by all participants as a benefit to OER. Ultimately, the instructor can choose to what degree they will spend their time and capacity to

represent the content, whether creating it themselves, developing it collaboratively, or scrutinizing curated resources created by others when adopting.

The learner-centered environment places the emphasis on the learner, shifting the focus of the course from knowledge transference from the instructor to the growth of the learner. This aspect of power and control creates a vulnerability of the instructor and allows for an immense expansion of knowledge generation through unique creation. Aligning with Vygotsky's (1978) social constructivist principles of knowledge generation through social and individual factors, this approach uses scaffolding to support the learner's growth as an agent of productive change. The continual growth of instructors was noted by the participants, a reflection of their philosophy of continual learning. This continual learning was expressed as living versus static, with OER as a continuous process that grows in information, evolves with new information, and expands with improvements in communication, depth and breadth of content, and differentiation. This approach disbands the traditional hierarchy of content dictation and diffusion from course instructor to course receiver in favor of a cooperative approach that supports the building of knowledge and skills for the learner. It is less about receiving knowledge and more about building knowledge, or a focus shift from instructor to student. What this represents is the living nature of OER, which beckons its community to continue to improve and evolve the content.

The paradigm shift of philosophy that OER and OEP can facilitate between knowledge transference and knowledge building is an exciting one. This paradigm shift has been expressed through open education (Brons, 2017) and instructional design best practices (Brown & Green, 2020; Martin, 2019). Paired with the live nature of OER and the engagement of OEP, this shift is not only feasible, but compelling in higher education.

128

**Cooperation.** The findings of this study revealed that the creator-practitioner participants have chosen to engage in the OER and OEP community. This choice to engage in creation and practice is one that is challenging, takes a great deal of capacity and time, and requires support to sustain. Although the details of these choices are unique to the participants, the consensus was that the outcome of these choices was positive, and each participant encouraged others to create and practice.

The challenge of engaging in the OER and OEP community includes sacrifice, vulnerability, and the choice for self-improvement. Despite the growing number of educators who are aware of OER in higher education, there continues to be a very small group who adopt it (Marin et al., 2022; Seaman & Seaman, 2022). The creator-practitioners in this study made the choice to grow through sacrificing their comfort and making themselves vulnerable. Many participants described how a commercial textbook with an online learning platform would be out-of-the-box ready, able to implement and support the course. However, in choosing to sacrifice that comfort, they decided to make themselves vulnerable to mistakes and errors, a point emphasized and embraced by Isaac, Robin, and Alexander. The literature has identified time and social barriers as challenges to OER adoption (Kaatrakoski et al., 2016; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019), but the creator-practitioners in the current study have navigated those challenges to persist in their creation of OER and use of OEP. Beyond the affordability and accessibility already described as benefits of OER, the choice to sacrifice their comfort, time, and capacity has paid off for these creator-practitioners in positive student experiences, a greater depth and breadth of learning experiences, the ability to edit content, the ability to bring in multiple voices, and the ability to connect with students in a more intimate learning relationship where students understand the content is the creator-practitioner's and not a commercial publisher's.

This study revealed the surprising finding of the critical impact that support plays in the decision-making process and the sustainability of OER. This support came in the form of individual and group collaboration, delegated tasks, and funding through sources such as grants. The creator-practitioner participants have chosen to apply for grants, spend their time and capacity to create, and engage their students in the learner-centered environment approach through OEP. They have also cooperated with their support staff such as librarians, instructional designers, technology support, and administrators. The impactful role of support staff and external colleagues as a community of OER supporters as creator, support, and sustainability has been viewed as a critical element of resiliency to OER sustainability (Braddlee & VanScoy, 2019; Essmiller & Asino, 2021; Fischer et al., 2020; Kimball et al., 2022). The community of OER is a two-way street, and many of the creator-practitioners in this study are actively engaging the community and supporting others in OER adoption. Kelly and Claire double as instructors and librarians in support of others in OER adoption. Tony, Caroline, Kelly, John, Alexander, and Patricia all belong to various OER advocacy groups, and some hold leadership positions in these groups. The findings suggest that the community is contributory, and to fully reap the benefits of the shared expertise and support of the community, one must also give back to the community. Regardless of when the creator-practitioner participants were able to obtain support from the community, their prevailing desire to contribute and encourage the larger OER community was noted as a positive benefit of the process.

### **Implications for Practice and Policy**

The descriptions of the lived experiences of creator-practitioners generated from the results of this phenomenological study have implications for the practice and policy for those in U.S. higher education. Although institutional and governmental policies have supported the

creator-practitioner participants through grants and academic freedom policies, commentary on policy at the institutional or governmental levels from a technical standpoint is beyond the scope of this study. However, both the implications for practice and policy as gathered from this study may be implemented by other instructors and institutions.

# **Implications for Practice**

The implications for practice may be expressed for OER, OEP, or the combination thereof. OER and OEP may be beneficial for blended learning (Sandanayake, 2019), align with learner-centered approaches (Reigeluth et al., 2017), support 21st-century learning (Partnership for 21st Century Learning, 2019), and show the benefit of ownership and renewable assignments for student growth (Wiley & Hilton, 2018; Werth & Williams, 2021). OER creation may be effective in courses in which the instructor has the proper confidence and experience to fully engage. Tillinghast et al. (2020) found that although there were not quantitative differences between two compared courses that implemented OER only and OER and open practices, the course that used OER and open practices may show a qualitative difference in student engagement through OER-Enabled Pedagogy. The current study suggests that creatorpractitioners who use a variety of OEP, and not just OER-Enabled Pedagogy, as defined by Wiley and Hilton (2018), may experience a qualitative positive experience. This is both insightful and encouraging, considering the differences in geography, course subject and level, instructor experience, and OER experience. The implication is that OER and OEP create positive, engaging courses that may be applied with success to multiple subjects across different sized institutions.

In addition to the sentiment of positive experience, the OER Adoption Pyramid provides the context for OER creation, which can optimally take place when enough time and community networking are provided (Cox & Trotter, 2017; Marin et al., 2022). The concept of sharing an imperfect product is a challenge, but the co-creation and collaborative improvement have been reported by participants of this study to be a positive aspect of the process. OEP implementation may begin at various levels and novice users may not be ready to engage in full OER-Enabled Pedagogy (Wiley & Hilton, 2018); however, open is a process. OEP is both developed within the instructor (learner-centered approach) and through the materials to be created (OER-Enabled).

# Implications for Policy

The implications for policy surround the institutional policies for adopting OER, institutional and governmental policies dealing with grant availability, and institutional policy dealing with tenure. First, Cox and Trotter's (2017) OER Adoption Pyramid provides the environmental and motivational elements necessary to adopt OER. Institutions of higher education should consider using this pyramid to provide the elements necessary for their instructors to adopt OER as an affordability and accessibility initiative. Next, policies dealing with grant availability should consider not just the creation of OER, but the ongoing support of creator-practitioners to develop ancillary materials and assessments. Some participants commented on the need for a larger library and availability of ancillary support as a barrier to adopting OER. The positive responses from participants in the use of grant money to develop OER materials revealed an opportunity for grant funding to be structured around ongoing support. SPARC (2021) reported millions of dollars available across the U.S. for OER grants, and the intentional availability of more grants that target ancillary and assessment support could help support the resiliency of improving OER. Lastly, institutions could adopt policies that support tenure and promotional activities that include OER and OEP. The obstacle of tenure and promotion not accepting OER as an academic activity has been researched and identified (Hood

& Littlejohn, 2017; Martin & Kimmons, 2020), and the challenges that faced participants in achieving tenure and promotion in how to continue using OER could benefit the ongoing professional development of the creator and improve the quality of the OER with time to edit and improve.

# **Theoretical and Empirical Implications**

This section discusses the theoretical and empirical implications of this hermeneutic phenomenological study. Addressing an identified gap in the literature, this study looked to investigate the lived experience of creator-practitioners in institutions of higher education in the U.S. This study revealed both theoretical and empirical implications that will be further discussed in the subsections below.

### **Theoretical Implications**

Social constructivism guided this study in its theoretical framework. Vygostky's (1978) zone of proximal development (ZPD) may be transferred to the description of higher-level learning experiences described by the participants. ZPD describes the social construction of knowledge in an interactive environment, and with creator-practitioners, this social collaboration can look like a flipped classroom, can be present in student group projects, developed through renewable assignments (e.g. Wiley & Hilton, 2018), or the interactions between the instructor and learner as co-creators of knowledge as described by the learner-centered approach (Reigeluth et al., 2017). OER and OEP are not separate from best instructional practices but rather complement them by creating an open, shared community of learners. Social constructivism, paired with 21st-century learning, relates to best OER and OEP practices from a community and active/authentic learning perspective (Cronin, 2017; Werth & Williams 2021). The theoretical implications of the pairing of social constructivism and OER/OEP best practices are OER and

OEP best practices, which can be viewed as rooted in social constructivism as an application to enhance and enrich the learning experience through collaborative learning.

# **Empirical Implications**

This phenomenological study corroborated previous research relating to OER textbooks, OEP implications for the learner-centered environment, and the challenges of social and institutional barriers. Research on OER textbook research revealed the positive elements of student affordability (Fischer et al., 2020). Participants in the current study commented on the positive aspect of students being able to afford the course materials, especially for underserved student populations, an element reflected in OER textbook affordability research (Bazeley et al., 2019; Fischer et al., 2017; Lantrip & Ray, 2020; Spilovoy et al., 2020). OEP implications for the positive effects of aligning to the learner-centered environment were reflected in the literature (Koseoglu & Bozkurt, 2018; Reigeluth et al., 2017; Tur et al., 2020; Werth & Williams, 2021). OEP reported in the current study also pointed to the implications of the positive effects of student skill building expressed as 21<sup>st</sup>-century learning (Kivunja, 2014). Lastly, the challenges of social and institutional barriers, such as time, tenure, and support, were reflected in the participants' lived experiences, as well as in the literature (Kaatakoski et al., 2017; Nascimbeni & Burgos, 2019). These corroborations add to the growing research descriptions of the positive and negative aspects of OER creation and OEP implementation in U.S. higher education. The implication of these aspects is to continue to build upon these descriptions to better understand the greater impact on students, learning, and tenure and promotion for those in higher education.

This study diverges from previous research with its focus on creators and practitioners as the people instead of the products, (i.e., OER textbooks or how OEP might be used). This study also extends the implications and anecdotes of OER and OEP use as part of the description of the lived experiences of creator-practitioners. The novel contribution that this study adds to the research on this topic is the descriptions as a reflection of improvement and growth over time for creator-practitioners. This improvement and growth concept is valuable to view as a process versus simply a destination that one achieves. The descriptions of multiple users from multiple content areas corroborated the same reoccurring thread: to choose to engage. This engagement is partly for underserved as well as the typical student populations; however, engagement also includes colleagues and the greater community. Although the literature has stated that OER textbooks may be viewed as an equity measure (Fischer et al., 2020), the current study investigated questions that are scant in the literature. The choice of qualitative methods as a means to search the unknown and ask further questions was intentionally chosen as part of best practices for situations where the literature is light (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Interesting happenstances regarding the use of methods and design of this study included the difficulties of recruiting on social media, and that the participants were conversational like a long-form podcast. Some information in this study could be used as diffusive questions for future research threads or supportive elements to larger questions on pedagogy and approach.

# **Limitations and Delimitations**

The limitations of this phenomenological study include the large range of participant demographic qualities, the deadline window, and participant resignations. The participant demographic qualities, such as age group, years of experience teaching, and the environment of creator-practitioner (e.g. institution size), all varied across the participant sample. Although the sample resulted in strong support of common themes, the sample itself may have been better recruited to compare different categories in pursuit of providing more data in understanding the lived experiences of creator-practitioners. Participants were recruited based on a small window of opportunity in January and February 2023 due to the need to meet dissertation deadlines. From participation refusal feedback during recruitment, many participants declined to participate during the recruitment period due to timeline restrictions or due to their spring semester workload. Limitations also include two participants who were unable to continue the study due to various reasons and had to resign before the semi-structured interview.

Delimitations of this phenomenological study include current instructors using OER and OEP, U.S. institutions of higher education, instructors who have at least one academic term of experience with OER, purposeful selection of a hermeneutic phenomenology study, and purposeful recruitment strategy of social media. The decision to include only current instructors was made in order to best examine the current lived experiences as a stable variable. Selecting U.S. institutions of higher education provided a similar culture to frame the context of OER and OEP as compared to different historical, cultural, and policy-driven elements from different nations (e.g., copyright policy, intellectual property history, university system history, and current environment). Selecting institutions of higher education over K-12 schools was purposeful due to the availability and amount of literature that addressed OER and OEP in higher education compared to the relatively smaller amount of K-12 literature. Familiarity and experience with OER and OEP were critical to fully investigate the lived experiences of creatorpractitioners so that the participant could provide a rich description of the phenomenon. The hermeneutic approach was chosen over the transcendental due to the investigatory nature of this study. The phenomenon of open education requires familiarity with multiple principles and practices to fully explore the richness of the lived description. As someone who has used and researched OER and OEP, I made the decision to insert some of my contextual understanding to identify interesting strands of the phenomenon during the semi-structured interviews. I believe

this was the best approach in order to uncover the essence of the participants' lived descriptions. This contrasts with the transcendental approach, which extracts the essence above any context of the researcher. Lastly, as a means of purposeful recruiting, the purpose of using social media was to identify those who were engaging in the open community, displaying that they were using and were familiar with OER, and exhibiting familiarity with OER.

# **Recommendations for Future Research**

This study was intentionally designed as a hermeneutic phenomenological study due to its emergent nature in the literature. Due to its emergent nature, the choice to design a study to openly explore the lived experiences of those currently engaging in creation and practice has led to suggestions for future research. OEP implementation should be further studied to discuss best practices for instructional approaches and decision-making. OEP implementation should be studied specifically for grant awardee cohorts to compare cultural situations, grant parameters and goals, and similar support networks to keep more variables constant. Echoing the recent findings of Marin et al. (2022) on the disappointment of general OER and OEP adoption in higher education, future research may require more targeted case studies of proper OER and OEP launch programs and grant funding for all aspects of OER creation and ongoing improvement. It is important to note that Crowther and Thompson (2020) commented that no two hermeneutic phenomenological studies are the same, and future research may have the conclusion of a difference essence of the lived experiences of creator-practitioners in institutions of higher education in the U.S. This concept should be taken as encouragement to others to build on the larger description to add to and better understand the larger description of the phenomenon of creator-practitioners in the U.S.

The lived experience of creator-practitioners may be explored further to add to the larger description of this phenomenon by exploring further metrics, more homogeneous populations, and learning impact. Complementing the Bayview Analytics survey (Seaman & Seaman, 2022), quantitative metrics may be used to explore how much of the instructor population are comprised of OER adopters, OER remixers, OER creators, OEP implementors, and creator-practitioners. These categories and definitions will need further development and parameters but are used here to express the desire to further explore the depth to which others are engaging in OER and OEP as an evolution from the more binary awareness versus use questions. Demographics, such as those involved in state-wide OER Association network grants, may also be a candidate to further explore the lived experiences of those who share a larger set of similar elements compared to this study. The true learning outcomes comparing OEP and non-OEP courses may be too challenging at this point without a set definition of OEP and the associative learning pedagogy that encompasses OEP. Not only would there be a standardization of OEP, but also instructors who would be familiar and experienced with this pedagogy to fully express the application of the learning approach for students. For now, a fuller description of the transition from awareness to the adoption of OER and OEP would provide a guide for those in higher education who, like the 11 creator-practitioners in this study, have the desire to enhance their students' learning experiences, enhance their own practitioner craft, and belong to and contribute to a collaborative community.

# Conclusion

This qualitative study aimed to describe the lived experiences of 11 creator-practitioners in U.S. higher education. The central research question for this study was how do creatorpractitioners in higher education in the United States perceive their use of OER and OEP? Through journal entries, artifact submissions, and semi-structured interviews, memoing and thematic clustering were used to describe and report thematic and specific findings of the described lived experiences of these creator-practitioners. The lived experiences of the participants revealed three themes: improvement of the student experience, improvement of the creator-practitioner craft, and community and contributions. These themes drove the implications of findings of the learner-centered approach, power and control, and community. The key takeaway from these findings is that a paradigm shift in education is happening. Creatorpractitioners are shifting the focus of education to the guidance of learners in their own learning journey as a way to prepare the learner for the unknown by equipping them with knowledge and skills to critically think and problem solve. OER and OEP are effective tools to conduct this paradigm shift, along with a strong instructor desire to enhance the student experience and their own professional craft. The essence of this lived experience is the choice to engage in challenging conditions and work as a sacrifice to produce an environment where students, instructors, and the community benefit from higher-level learning experiences, enriched expertise, and collaborative teamwork.

#### References

- Alamri, H. A., Watson, S., & Watson, W. (2021). Learning technology models that support personalization within blended learning environments in higher education. *TechTrends*, 65(1), 62-78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-020-00530-3
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2003). Sizing the opportunity: The quality and extent of online education in the United States, 2002 and 2003. The Sloan Consortium. https://www.bayviewanalytics.com/reports/sizing-the-opportunity.pdf
- Allen, I. E., Seaman, J., Lederman, D., & Jaschik, S. (2012). *Digital faculty: Professors, teaching and technology, 2012.* Inside Higher Ed and BABSON Survey Research Group. <a href="https://www.bayviewanalytics.com/reports/digitalfaculty.pdf">https://www.bayviewanalytics.com/reports/digitalfaculty.pdf</a>
- Allen, J. V., & Katz, S. (2019). Developing open practices in teacher education: An example of integrating OER and developing renewable assignments. *Open Praxis*, 11(3), 311–319. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.11.3.972</u>
- Annand, D., & Jensen, T. (2017). Incentivizing the production and use of open educational resources in higher education institutions. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18(4), 1-15. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i4.3009</u>
- Atenas, J., Havemann, L., Nascimbeni, F., Villar-Onrubia, D., & Orlic, D. (2019). Fostering openness in education: Considerations for sustainable policy-making. *Open Praxis*, 11(2), 167-183. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.11.2.947</u>
- Atenas, J., Havemann, L., & Priego, E. (2015). Open data as open educational resources: Towards transversal skills and global citizenship. *Open Praxis*, 7(4), 377–389. https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.7.4.233

Baas, M., Admiraal, W., & van den Berg, E. (2019). Teachers' adoption of open educational

resources in higher education. *Journal of Interactive Media in Education*, 2019(1), 9. https://doi.org/10.5334/jime.510

Baran, E., & AlZoubi, D. (2020). Affordances, challenges, and impact of open pedagogy: Examining students' voices. *Distance Education*, 41(2), 230-244.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2020.1757409

Bazeley, J., Haynes, C., Myers, C. S., & Resnis, E. (2019). Avoiding the "axe":

Advancing affordable and open education resources at a midsize university. *Journal of Librarianship and Scholarly Communication*, 7, 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.7710/2162-</u>3309.2259

- Belikov, O. M., & Bodily, R. (2016). Incentives and barriers to OER adoption: A qualitative analysis of faculty perspectives. *Open Praxis*, 8(3), 235-246. https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.8.3.308
- Bessette, L. S. (2020). Digital learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *The National Teaching & Learning Forum*, 29(4), 7-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ntlf.30241</u>
- Bliss, T. J., Robinson, T. J., Hilton, J., III, & Wiley, D. A. (2013). An OER COUP: College teacher and student perceptions of open educational resources. *Journal of Interactive Media in Education*, 2013(1), Art. 4. <u>http://doi.org/10.5334/2013-04</u>
- Bliss, T. J., & Smith, M. (2017). A brief history of open educational resources. In R. S.
  Jhangiani, & R. Biswas-Diener (Eds.), *Open: The philosophy and practices that are revolutionizing education and science* (pp. 9-27). Ubiquity Press.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.5334/bbc.b">https://doi.org/10.5334/bbc.b</a>

Blomgren, C. (2018). OER awareness and use: The affinity between higher education and K-12.

*The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *19*(2), 55-70. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i2.3431

- Bodily, R., Nyland, R., & Wiley, D. (2017). The RISE framework: Using learning analytics to automatically identify open educational resources for continuous improvement.
   *International Review of Research on Distance and Open Learning*, 18(2), 103-122.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i2.2952">https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i2.2952</a>
- Braddlee, D., & VanScoy, A. (2019). Bridging the chasm: Faculty support roles for academic librarians in the adoption of open educational resources. *College & Research Libraries*, 80(4), 426-449. <u>https://doi.org/10.5860/crl.80.4.426</u>
- Brons, M. (2017). The Open Education Movement: Is this the future of education? *Knowledge Cultures*, 5(1), 68–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.22381/kc5120176</u>
- Brown, A. H., & Green, T. D. (2020). *The essentials of instruction design: Connecting fundamental principles with process and practice* (4th ed.). Routledge.

Bruner, J. S. (1960). The process of education. ProQuest Ebook Central.

Bruner, J. S. (1961). The act of discovery. Harvard Educational Review, 31, 21-32.

- Bruner, J. S. (1964). The course of cognitive growth. American Psychologist, 19, 1-15.
- Bruner, J. S. (1966). Toward a theory of instruction. Norton.
- Bynum, W., & Varpio, L. (2018). When I say... hermeneutic phenomenology. *Medical Education*, 52(1), 252-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13414</u>

Catalano, A. J., Torff, B., & Anderson, K. S. (2021). Transitioning to online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic: Differences in access and participation among students in disadvantaged school districts. *International Journal of Information and Learning Technology*, 38(2), 258-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJILT-06-2020-0111</u>

- Cavanaugh, C., & DeWeese, A. (2020). Understanding the professional learning and support needs of educators during the initial weeks of pandemic school closures through search terms and content use. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 233-238.
- Clark, R. C., & Mayer, R. E. (2016). *e-Learning and the science of instruction: Proven guidelines for consumers and designers of multimedia learning* (4th ed.). Wiley.
- Clinton-Lisell, V. (2021). Open pedagogy: A systematic review of empirical findings. *Journal for Learning Development*, 8(2), 255-268.
- Coleman-Prisco, V. (2017). Factors influencing faculty innovation and adoption of open educational resources in United States higher education. *International Journal of Education and Human Developments*, 3(4), 1-12.

http://ijehd.cgrd.org/images/vol3no4/1.pdf

Cox, G., & Trotter H. (2017). An OER framework, heuristic and lens: Tools for understanding lecturers' adoption of OER. *Open Praxis*, 9(2), 151-171.

https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.9.2.571

Creative Commons (2019). Creative Commons for educators and librarians. ALA Editions.

- Creswell, J. W., & Guetterman, T. C. (2019). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research.* Pearson.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). Sage.
- Cronin, C. (2017). Openness and praxis: Exploring the use of open educational practices in higher education. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18(5), 1-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i5.3096</u>

Cronin, C., & MacLaren, I. (2018). Conceptualising OEP: A review of theoretical and empirical

literature in open educational practices. Open Praxis, 10(2), 127-143.

https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.10.2.825

Crowther, S., & Thomson, G. (2020). From description to interpretive leap: Using philosophical notions to unpack surface meaning in hermeneutic phenomenology research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 1-11.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920969264

- CTOED (2008). Read the declaration: Cape Town Open Education Declaration: Unlocking the promise of open educational resources. The Cape Town Open Education Declaration. https://www.capetowndeclaration.org/read-the-declaration
- Davidson, P. M., Lin, C. J., Beaman, A., Jackson, D., Reynolds, N. R., & Padula, W. V. (2021).
  Global digital social learning as a strategy to promote engagement in the era of COVID-19. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *30*(15-16), 2366-2372.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.15776

Derosa, R., & Jhangiani, R. (2017). *Open pedagogy*. In E. Mays (Ed.), A guide to making open textbooks with students (pp. 7-20). The Rebus Community for Open Textbook Creation.

Dirksen, J. (2016). Design for how people learn (2nd ed.). New Riders.

- Eddles-Hirsch, K. (2015). Phenomenology and educational research. *International Journal of Advanced Research*, *3*(8), 251-260.
- Ehlers, U.D. (2011). Extending the territory: From open educational resources to open educational practices. *Journal of Open, Flexible and Distance Learning, 15*(2), 1–10. <u>https://www.jofdl.nz/index.php/JOFDL/article/view/64/46</u>

Elder, A., Larson, A., Thornton, E., & Cross, W. (2020). Exploring faculty perceptions of OER

and impediments to their use: A multi-institutional study. *International Journal of Open Educational Resources*, 3(2), 129-155. <u>https://doi.org/10.18278/ijoer.3.2.8</u>

Essmiller, K., & Asino, T. (2021). Will academic library publishing break OER? A diffusion of innovations study. *Journal of Interactive Media in Education*, 1(24), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.5334/jime.673

Fischer, L., Hilton, J., Robinson, T. J., & Wiley, D. A. (2015). A multi-institutional study of the impact of open textbook adoption on the learning outcomes of post-secondary students. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 27(3), 159–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-015-9101-x

- Fischer, L., Ernst, D., & Mason, S. (2017). Rating the quality of open textbooks: How reviewer and text characteristics predict ratings. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18(4), 142-154. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i4.2985</u>
- Fischer, L., Belikov, O., Ikahihifo, T. K., Hilton III, J., Wiley, D., & Martin, M. T. (2020). Academic librarians' examination of university students' and faculty's perceptions of open education resources. *Open Praxis*, 12(3), 399-415.

https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.12.3.1081

- Gadamer, H. G. (1975). *Truth and method* (G. Barden & J. Cumming, Trans.). Seabury. (Original work published 1960).
- Gadamer, H. G. (2008). *Philosophical hermeneutics* (D. E. Linge, Trans.). University of California Press. (Original work published 1967).
- Gange, R. M. (1985). *Instructional Technology: Foundations*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315060248

Grimaldi, P. J., Mallick, D. B., Waters, A. E., & Baraniuk, R. G. (2019). Do open educational

resources improve student learning? Implications of the access hypothesis. *PLoS One*, *14*(3), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0212508

- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1982). The place of values in needs assessment. *Education Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 4(3), 311-320.
- Guignon, C. (2012). Becoming a person: Hermeneutic phenomenology's contribution. *New Ideas in Psychology*, *30*(1), 97-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.newideapsych.2009.11.005</u>
- Heck, T., Kullman, S., Hiebl, J., Schröder, Otto, D., & Sander, P. (2020). Designing open informational econosystems on the concept of open educational resources. *Open Education Studies*, 2(1), 252-264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/edu-2020-0130</u>
- Heidari, E., Mehrvarz, M., Marzooghi, R., & Stoyanov, S. (2021). The role of digital informal learning in relationship between students' digital competence and academic engagement during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, *37*(4), 1154-1166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12553</u>
- Hilton, J. (2016). Open education resources and college textbook choices: A review of research on efficacy and perceptions. *Education Technology Research Development 64*, 573-690. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-016-9434-9</u>
- Hilton, J. (2020). Open educational resources, student efficacy, and user perceptions: A synthesis of research published between 2015 and 2018. *Educational Technology, Research and Development, 68*(3), 853-876. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09700-4</u>
- Hilton, J., Hilton, B., Ikahihifo, T. K., Chaffee, R., Darrow, J., Guilmett, J., & Wiley, D.

(2020). Identifying student perceptions of different instantiations of open pedagogy. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *21*(4), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v21i4.4895</u>

- Hilton, J., Wiley, D., Chaffee, R., Darrow, J., Guilmett, J., Harper, S., & Hilton, B. (2019).
  Students' perceptions of open pedagogy: An exploratory study. *Open Praxis*, *11*(3), 275-288. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.11.3.973</u>
- Hodge, E. M., Salloum, S. J., & Benko, S. L. (2019). The changing ecology of the curriculum marketplace in the era of the Common Core State Standards. *Journal of Educational Change*, 20(4), 425–446. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-019-09347-1
- Hood, N., & Littlejohn, A. (2017). Knowledge typologies for professional learning: educators' (re)generation of knowledge when learning open educational practice. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 65(6), 1583–1604.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-017-9536-z

Jhangiani, R. S., & Green, A. (2018). An open athenaeum: Creating an institutional home for open pedagogy. In A. Wesolek, J. Lashley, & A. Langley (Eds.), OER: A field guide for academic librarians (pp. 141–161). Pacific University Press.

Johnstone, S. M., & Poulin, R. (2002). Technology: What is open course ware and why does it matter? *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 34(4), 48-50. https://doi.org/10.1080/00091380209604736

Jung, E., Bauer, C., & Heaps, A. (2017). Higher education faculty perceptions of open textbook adoption. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18(4), 123-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i4.3120</u>

Kaatrakoski, H., Littlejohn, A., & Hood, N. (2016). Learning challenges in higher education: An

analysis of contradictions within Open Educational Practice. *Higher Education*, 74(4), 599–615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-016-0067-z</u>

- Kim, D. (2018). A framework for implementing OER-based lesson design activities for pre-service teachers. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 19(4), 148-170. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i4.3394</u>
- Kimball, R., Halling, D., Neville, B., & Herbert, B. (2022). Motivations and barriers in the adoption of OERs: The role of subject librarians. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*, 48(2022), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acalib.2022.102542</u>
- Kimmons, R. (2015). OER quality and adaptation in K-12: Comparing teacher evaluations of copyright-restricted, open, and open/adapted textbooks. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 16(5), 39-57.

https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v16i5.2341

- Kimmons, R. (2016). Expansive openness in teacher practice. *Teachers College Record*, *118*(9). 1-34.
- Kimmons, R. (2021). Shifting to open education in our digital learning. *Education Technology Research and Development*, 69, 379-381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-021-09949-8
- Kivunja, C. (2014). Do you want your students to be job-ready with 21st century skills? Change pedagogies: A pedagogical paradigm shift from Vygotskian social constructivism to critical thinking, problem solving and Siemens' digital connectivism. *International Journal of Higher Education*, 3(3), 82-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v3n3p81</u>
- Ko, S. S., & Rossen, S. (2017). *Teaching online: A practical guide*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203427354

Koseoglu, S., & Bozkurt, A. (2018). An exploratory literature review on open educational

practices. Distance Education, 39(4), 441-461.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2018.1520042

Koseoglu, S., Bozkurt, A., & Haverman, L. (2020). Critical questions for open educational practices. *Distance Education*, *41*(2), 153-155.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2020.1775341

- Lantrip, J., & Ray, J. (2020). Faculty perceptions and usage of OER at Oregon community colleges. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 45(12), 896-910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2020.1838967</u>
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1980). The distinction between merit and worth in evaluation. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 2(4), 61-71.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. SAGE.

- Littlejohn, A., & Hood, N. (2017). How educators build knowledge and expand their practice:
  The case of open education resources. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 48(2),
  499–510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12438</u>
- Littlejohn, A., & Pegler, C. (2014). Reusing resources: Open for learning. *Journal of Interactive Media in Education, 1*, Art. 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/2014-02</u>
- Luo, T., Hostetler, K., Freeman, C., & Stefaniak, J. (2020). The power of open: Benefits, barriers, and strategies for integration of open educational resources. *Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and e-Learning, 35*(2), 140-158. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680513.2019.1677222
- Marín, V., Bond, M., Zawacki-Richter, O., Aydin, C., Bedenlier, S., Bozkurt, A., Conrad, D., Jung, I., Kondakci, Y., Prinsloo, P., Qayyum, A., Roberts, J., Sangrà, A., Slagter van Tryon, P., Veletsianos, G., & Xiao, J. (2020). A comparative study of national

infrastructures for digital (open) educational resources in higher education. *Open Praxis, 12*(2), 241-256. <u>https://openpraxis.org/articles/10.5944/openpraxis.12.2.1071/</u>

Marin, V.,I., Zawacki-Richter, O., Aydin, C.H., Bedenlier, S., Bond, M., Bozkurt, A., Conrad, D., Jung, I., Kondacki, Y., Prinsloo, P., Roberts, J., Veletsianos, G., Xiao, J., & Zhang, J. (2022). Faculty perceptions, awareness and use of open educational resources for teaching and learning in higher education: A cross-comparative analysis. *Research and Practice in Technology Enhanced Learning*, *17*(11), 1-23.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s41039-022-00185-z

- Martin, T. (2019). Instructional designers and open education practices: Negotiating the gap between intentional and operation agency. *Open Praxis*, 11(4), 369-380. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.11.4.1011</u>
- Martin, T., & Kimmons, R. (2019). Faculty members' lived experience with choosing open educational resources. *Open Praxis, 12*(1), 131-144.

https://openpraxis.org/articles/10.5944/openpraxis.12.1.987/

- Mattar, J. (2018). Constructivism and connectivism in education technology: Active, situated, authentic, experiential and anchored learning. *Revista Iberoamericana de Educación a Distancia*, 21(2), 201-217. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/ried.21.2.20055</u>
- Mayer, R. E. (1997). Multimedia learning: Are we asking the right questions? *Educational Psychologist*, *32*(1), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3201\_1</u>
- Mays, T. (2017). Mainstreaming use of open educational resources (OER) in an African context. *Open Praxis*, 9(4), 387–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.9.4.714</u>
- McBride, M., & Abramovich, S. (2022). Crossing the boundaries through OER adoption:

Considering open educational resources (OER) as boundary objects in higher education. *Library and Information Science Research*, 44, 1-8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2022.101154

- McGreal, R. (2017). Special report on the role of open educational resources in supporting the sustainable development goal 4: Quality education challenges and opportunities. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *18*(7), 294-305. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i7.3541</u>
- Meyer, J., Ramirez, F., Rubinson, R., & Boli-Bennett, J. (1977). The world educational revolution, 1950-1970. *Sociology of Education*, *50*(4), 242-258.

https://doi.org/10.2307/2112498

MIT (2020). 2020 OCW impact report. Massachusetts Institute of Technology

OpenCourseWare. https://ocw.mit.edu/about/site-statistics/2020-

<u>19\_OCW\_supporters\_impact\_report.pdf</u>

Morgan, T. (2019). Instructional designer and open education practices: Negotiating the gap between intentional and operational agency. *Open Praxis*, *11*(4), 369-380.

http://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.11.4.1011

- Moustakas, C. E. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. SAGE.
- Nascimbeni, F., & Burgos, D. (2016). In search for the open educator: Proposal of a definition and a framework to increase openness adoption among university educators. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, *17*(6), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v17i6.2736

Nascimbeni, F., & Burgos, D. (2019). Unveiling the relationship between the use of open

educational resources and the adoption of open teaching practices in higher education. *Sustainability*, *11*(20), 5637. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11205637</u>

Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8(2), 90-97.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2

- OECD (2007). *Giving knowledge for free: The emergence of open educational resources*. Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development. https://www.oecd.org/education/ceri/38654317.pdf
- OPAL. (2011). Beyond OER: Shifting focus to open educational practices (OPAL report). Open Education Quality Initiative (OPAL).

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/259597164\_Beyond\_OER\_-

Shifting Focus\_to\_Open\_Educational\_Practices\_OPAL\_Report\_2011

- Otto, D. (2019). Adoption and diffusion of open educational resources (OER) in education: A meta-analysis of 25 OER-projects. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 20(5), 122-140. <u>http://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v20i5.4472</u>
- Partnership for 21st Century Learning (2019). *Framework for 21st century learning definitions*. http://static.battelleforkids.org/documents/p21/P21\_Framework\_DefinitionsBFK.pdf
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). SAGE.
- Pomerantz, J., & Peek, R. (2016). Fifty shades of open. *First Monday*, 21(5). https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v21i5.6360

Reeves, T. C., & Oh, E. G. (2017). The goals and methods of educational technology research

over a quarter century (1989–2014). *Education Technology Research Development*, 65, 325–339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-016-9474-1</u>

- Reigeluth, C. M., Myers, R. D., & Lee, D. (2017). The learner-centered paradigm of education.
  In C. M. Reigeluth, B. J. Beatty, & R. D. Myers (Eds.), *Instructional-Design theories and models: The learner-centered paradigm of education* (Vol. IV). (pp. 5-32). Routledge.
- Reiser, R. A. (2001a). A history of instructional design and technology: Part I: A history of instructional media. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 49(1), 53–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02504506</u>
- Reiser, R. A. (2001b). A history of instructional design and technology: Part II: A history of instructional design. *Educational Technology, Research and Development, 49*(2), 57-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02504928</u>
- Ren, X. (2019). The undefined figure: Instructional designers in the open educational resources (OER) movement in higher education. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24, 3483-3500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-019-09940-0</u>
- Richardson, S., & Roebuck Sakho, J. (2022). Creating equitable access: Using OER for socially just educational leaders. *Journal for Multicultural Education*, 16(5), 443-455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JME-12-2021-0224</u>
- Sandanayake, T. C. (2019). Promoting open educational resources-based blended learning. International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 16(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-019-0133-6</u>
- Schrum, L., & Sumerfield, S. (2018). *Learning supercharged: Digital age strategies and insights from the edtech frontier*. International Society for Technology in Education.
- Schunk, D. H. (2020). Learning theories: An educational perspective (8th ed.). Pearson.

Schwandt, T. A. (2007). *The SAGE dictionary of qualitative inquiry* (3rd ed.). SAGE. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412986281

Seaman, J. E., & Seaman, J. (2020). Inflection point: Educational resources in U.S. higher education, 2019. Bay View Analytics.

https://www.bayviewanalytics.com/reports/2019inflectionpoint.pdf

Seaman, J. E., & Seaman, J. (2021). Digital texts in the time of COVID: Educational resources in U.S. higher education, 2020. Bay View Analytics. https://www.bayviewanalytics.com/reports/digitaltextsinthetimeofcovid.pdf

Seaman, J. E., & Seaman, J. (2022). Turning point for digital curricula: Educational resources in U.S. higher education, 2022. Bay View Analytics. <u>https://www.bayviewanalytics.com/reports/turningpointdigitalcurricula.pdf</u>

- Silver, C., & Lewins, A. (2014). Using software in qualitative research (2nd ed.). SAGE.
- Smythe, E., & Spence, D. (2020). Heideggerian phenomenological hermeneutics: Working with the data. *Nursing Philosophy*, *21*, e12308.
- SPARC (2021). *OER state policy playbook*.

https://sparcopen.org/our-work/oer-state-policy-playbook/

Spilovoy, T., Seaman, J., & Ralph, N. (2020). *The impact of OER initiatives on faculty selection of classroom materials*. WCET and Bay View Analytics.

https://www.bayviewanalytics.com/reports/impactofoerinitiatives.pdf

Stapleton, L., & Stefaniak, J. (2019). Cognitive constructivism: Revisiting Jerome Bruner's influence on instructional design practices. *TechTrends*, 63, 4–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-018-0356-8</u>

Stracke, C. M., Burgos, D., Santos-Hermosa, G., Bozkurt, A., Ramesh, C. S., Cécile, S. C.,

Andreia Inamorato, d. S., Mason, J., Ossiannilsson, E., Shon, J. G., Wan, M., JaneFrances, O., Farrow, R., Karakaya, Ö., Nerantzi, C., Ramírez-Montoya, M. S., Conole,
G., Cox, G., & Truong, V. (2022). Responding to the initial challenge of the COVID-19
Pandemic: Analysis of international responses and impact in school and higher education. *Sustainability*, *14*(3), 1876. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14031876

- Stracke, C. M., Downes, S., Conole, G., Burgos, D., & Nascimbeni, F. (2019). Are MOOCs open educational resources? A literature review on history, definitions and typologies of OER and MOOCs. *Open Praxis*, 11(4), 331-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.11.4.1010</u>
- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive load during problem solving: Effects on learning. *Cognitive Science*, *12*(2), 257–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0364-0213(88)90023-7</u>
- Tillinghast, B., Fialkowski, M., & Draper, J. (2020). Exploring aspects of open educational resources through OER-enabled pedagogy. *Frontiers in Education*, 5(76), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2020.00076</u>
- Tlili, A., Nascimbeni, F., Burgos, D., Zhang, X., Huang, R., & Chang, T. (2020). The evolution of sustainability models for open education resources: Insights from the literature and expert. *Interactive Learning Environments*.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1839507

- Tuomi, I. (2013). Open educational resources and the transformation of education. *European Journal of Education*, 48(1), 58-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12019</u>
- Tur, G., Havemann, L., Marsh, D., Keefer, J. M., & Nascimbeni, F. (2020). Becoming an open educator: Towards an open threshold framework. *Research in Learning Technology*, 28. <u>https://doi.org/10.25304/rlt.v28.2338</u>

UNESCO (2019a). Open educational resources. https://en.unesco.org/themes/ict-education/oer

UNESCO (2019b). Recommendations on open educational resources (OER).

https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373755/PDF/373755eng.pdf.multi.page=3

- Valentino, M., & Hopkins, G. (2020). No textbook cost general education pathway: An effort to increase retention at Central Washington University. *Reference Services Review*, 48(3), 503-522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/RSR-03-2020-0015</u>
- van Manen, M. (1990). *Researching lived experience: Human science for an action sensitive pedagogy*. State University of New York Press.
- van Manen, M. (2014). Phenomenology of practice: Meaning-giving methods in phenomenological research and writing. Routledge.
- van Manen, M. (2017). But is it phenomenology? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6), 775–779. https://doi.org/doi:10.1177/1049732317699570
- Vest, C. M. (2011). Pursuing the endless frontier: Essays on MIT and the role of research universities. ProQuest Ebook Central.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: Development of higher psychological processes*. Harvard University Press.
- Weller, M. (2014). *The battle for open: How openness won and why it doesn't feel like victory*.Ubiquity Press.

Werth, E., & Williams, K. (2021). Learning to be open: Instructor growth through open pedagogy. Open Learning: The Journal of Open and Distance Learning. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02680513.2021.1970520</u>

Wiley, D. (2010). My TEDxNYED talk. *Open Content*. https://opencontent.org/blog/archives/1270

Wiley, D., Bliss, T. J., & McEwen, M. (2014). Open educational resources: A review of the

literature. In J. M. Spector, M. D. Merrill, J. Elen, & M. J. Bishop (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Educational Communications and Technology* (pp. 781-789). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3185-5\_63

- Wiley, D., & Hilton, J. (2018). Defining OER-Enabled Pedagogy. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 19(4), 133–147. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i4.3601
- Wiley, D. A. (2021). Open educational resources: Undertheorized research and untapped potential. *Education Technology Research Development*, 69, 411–414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09907-w</u>
- Williams, K., & Werth, E. (2021). Student selection of content licenses in OER-enabled pedagogy: An exploratory study. *Journal of Copyright in Education and Librarianship*, 5(1), 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.17161/jcel.v5i1.13881</u>
- Wilson, D. K., Alaniz, K., & Sikora, J. (2017). *Digital media in today's classrooms: The potential for meaningful teaching, learning, and assessment*. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Winn, J. (2012). Open education: From the freedom of things to the freedom of people. In H. Stevenson, L. Bell, & M. Neary (Eds.), *Towards teaching in public: Reshaping the modern university*. Continuum.
- Winn, J. (2015). Open education and the emancipation of academic labour. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 40(3), 385-404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2015.1015546</u>

Witt, A. N. (2020). Toward a working definition of open pedagogy. International Journal of Open Educational Resources, 3(2), 57-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.18278/ijoer.3.2.5</u>

Zawacki-Richter, O., Conrad, D., Bozkurt, A., Aydin, C. H., Bedenlier, S., Jung, I., Stöter, J.,

Veletsianos, G., Blaschke, L. M., Bond, M., Broens, A., Bruhn, E., Dolch, C., Kalz, M.,
Kondacki, Y., Marin, V., Mayrberger, K., Müskens, W., Naidu, S., Qayyum, A., Roberts,
J., Sangrá, A., Loglo, F. S., Slagter van Tryon, P., Xiao, J., & Kerres, M. (2020).
Elements of open education: An invitation to future research. *International Review of Open and Distance Learning*, 21(3), 319-334. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v21i3.4659

Zhao, F., Fu, Y., Zhang, Q., Zhou, Y., Ge, P., Huang, H., & He, Y. (2018). The comparison of teaching efficiency between massive open online courses and traditional courses in medicine education: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 6(23), 458. <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2018.11.32</u>.

# Appendix A

# Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval

# LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

December 15, 2022

Alex Wanstrath Susan Stanley

Re: IRB Exemption – IRB-FY22-23-503 A Phenomenological Study on the Lived Experiences of Creator-Practitioners of Open Educational Resources and Practices in the United States

Dear Alex Wanstrath, Susan Stanley,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(iii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording) if at least one of the following criteria is met:

The information obtained is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that the identity of the human subjects can readily be ascertained, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects, and an IRB conducts a limited IRB review to make the determination required by §46.111(a)(7).

Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found under the Attachments tab within the Submission Details section of your study on Cayuse IRB. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available without alteration.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us

at irb@liberty.edu.

Sincerely, **G. Michele Baker, MA, CIP** *Administrative Chair of Institutional Research* **Research Ethics Office** 

# Appendix B Consent Form

**Title of the Project:** A Phenomenological Study on the Lived Experiences of Creator-Practitioners of Open Educational Resources and Practices in the United States **Principal Investigator:** Alex Wanstrath, Doctoral Candidate, School of Education, Liberty University

#### **Invitation to be Part of a Research Study**

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate, you must be 18 years of age or older, have created your own OER, and have been the teacher of record for at least one term (e.g. semester) where OER supplemental or required materials were used. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research.

#### What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of the study is to examine the lived experiences of creator-practitioners of open educational resources (OER) and open educational practices (OEP) in institutions of higher education in the United States.

#### What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following:

- 1. The first task will include responses to journal prompts that should take approximately 1 hour 30 minutes to 2 hours over a four-week period.
- 2. The second task will include submitting at least one original OER artifact, which will take 30 minutes or less between instructions, curation, and response.
- 3. The third and final task will be a scheduled semi-structured interview that will last 30-60 minutes with the possibility of a single follow-up interview of 30 minutes or less (60-90 minutes total).

#### How could you or others benefit from this study?

Participants should not expect to receive a direct benefit from taking part in this study.

Benefits to society include building a knowledge base that is an identified gap in the research for the lived experiences that creator-practitioners. These lived experiences will provide insight to researchers who are curious about the growing awareness of OER and OEP, yet the lack of adoption by faculty.

# What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The expected risks from participating in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

# How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Published reports will not include any information that will make it possible to identify a subject. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records.

- Participant responses will be kept confidential by replacing names with pseudonyms.
- Interviews will be conducted in a location where others will not easily overhear the conversation.
- Data will be stored on a password-locked computer. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted.
- Recordings will be stored on a password-locked computer for three years and then deleted. Only the researcher will have access to these recordings

# How will you be compensated for being part of the study?

Participants will not be compensated for participating in this study.

#### Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision on whether to participate will not affect your current or future relations with Liberty University. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any questions or withdraw at any time.

# What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address/phone number included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study.

#### Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Alex Wanstrath. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, **you are encouraged** to contact him at You may also contact the researcher's faculty sponsor, Susan Stanley, at Stanley,

# Whom do you contact if you have questions about your rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, **you are encouraged** to contact the IRB. Our physical address is Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA, 24515; our phone number is 434-592-5530, and our email address is <u>irb@liberty.edu</u>.

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University.

## **Your Consent**

By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy of the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.

I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to participate in the study.

 $\Box$  The researcher has my permission to audio- and video-record me as part of my participation in this study.

Printed Subject Name

Signature & Date

# Appendix C Journal Prompts

**Overview:** Participants will be asked to complete the following journal prompts to gain insight into the perceived use in the practice of the participants.

# **Section 1 Prompts**

- 1. Please describe your experience first interacting with open education resources (OER).
- **2.** Please describe how your view of OER has changed, if at all, from your first interactive experience with OER.
- 3. Please describe your experience first interacting with open education practices (OEP).
- **4.** Please describe how your view of OER has changed, if at all, from your first interactive experience with OER.
- **5.** Please give an example of an OER that you are currently using in the course(s) that you created. What led you to create this specific OER and how has this OER been augmented, if at all, over the time of its use?
- **6.** Please give an example of how your use OEP in your current course(s).

# **Section 2 Prompts**

- 7. Please describe in your own words how you view/perceive your use of OER in your current course(s).
- **8.** Please describe in your own words how you view/perceive your use of OEP in your current course(s).
- **9.** Please give an example of an OER that you are currently using in the course(s) that you created. What led you to create this specific OER and how has this OER been augmented, if at all, over the time of its use?
- **10.** Please give an example of how your use OEP in your current course(s).

# **Section 3 Prompts**

- **11.** Please describe in your own words how you view/perceive your use of OER in your current course(s).
- **12.** Please describe in your own words how you view/perceive your use of OEP in your current course(s).
- **13.** Please give an example of an OER that you are currently using in the course(s) that you created. What led you to create this specific OER and how has this OER been augmented, if at all, over the time of its use?
- **14.** Please give an example of how your use OEP in your current course(s).

# **Section 4 Prompts**

- **15.** Please reflect on your use of OER and how you perceive the use of OER in your course(s) over these past few weeks.
- **16.** Please reflect on your use of OEP and how you perceive the use of OEP in your course(s) over these past few weeks.